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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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ABEHNKFFRFE

BRANCH OFFICE
Unit 3305-9, 33/F,

41 Heung Yip Road,
Wong Chuk Hang,
Hong Kong

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Half year results
Announced on 30 August 2023

Full year results
Announced on 10 April 2024

REGISTER OF MEMBERS
To be closed from Wednesday, 19 June 2024 to
Monday, 24 June 2024

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
To be held on Monday, 24 June 2024

DIVIDENDS
Interim : Nil
Final : Nil

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.renco.com.hk
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BUSINESS PROFILE
EHEN

Renco Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its BIRIZEREBARAT ((AAF ) REKWE
subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”) are AT CERAAT#BIEER)) TEHWHE()
principally engaged in (a) the manufacture and sales of a broad — #3& K& RNEFEE 2 ENR 4R B8 A (TED R 4R B&
range of printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), (b) the carrying out #rJ) * (D) FRE > BIEKREHH K E AR
of treasury investments, including investment in securities and JE® KR(Q)RESRRF  QiFEEEE &
other related activities, and (c) the rendering of financial services & & E {thEERIHERAARTS o

including asset management, investment and other consultancy

related services.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREKS

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the consolidated annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The performance of the PCBs segment during 2023 overall
has been lackluster due to the reasons disclosed in our interim
report. For the PCBs segment its business from long time
customers showed the same signs because they were also
having the same problem (i.e. an unstable business environment
with forecast difficult to tell).

For treasury investments segment and financial services segment
of the Group, the financial results of which unfortunately
continued to suffer a significant loss during the Period mainly
due to (i) the provision for impairment losses on several overdue
receivables arising from the financial assistances provided by the
Group (the “Overdue Financial Assistances”) and additional
provision for impairment losses on certain overdue receivables
under the litigation proceedings on the Overdue Financial
Assistances caused by the current worldwide capital market
fluctuations; and (ii) the substantial fair value losses arising from
the adverse market price movements in the listed securities held
by the Group at the fair value through its profit and loss.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Moving into the second quarter of year 2024, whilst problems
in production and chips supplies being resolved, some of our
customers have shown signs of recovery in their business. It
is hoped that new geographical events such as the Red Sea
situation would not cause problems to the PCBs segment for
their uninterrupted supplies of products to their customers in
Europe. In a longer-term outlook, it is unclear now whether the
latest decision by the European Union to forgo electric vehicles
development after some time will curtail the production of the
number of the electric vehicles and consequently the demand of
PCBs from the automotive industry.

Facing the unstable investment environment and financial
market, the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
and the management of the Company considered that the
Group should continue to concentrate more on improving the
risk management and control and compliance management in
relation to the inflow of sustainable returns while exploring the
opportunities in assets management and other financial services
related businesses, and also on enhancing the recoverability of
the transactions and maintaining sufficient level of cashflow.

Considering the strategic upgrade and the implementation of
new strategic plan, the Group has been actively diversifying its
business and will continue to better utilise its available resources
to develop and upgrade the traditional manufacturing business
in PCBs, to maintain the treasury investments and financial
services, and to explore the scope of business for identifying
new investment and business development opportunities,
including but not limited to, the broad application of artificial
intelligence technology in telecommunications, the construction
of intelligent cities and financial technology.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

As at the date of this report, the Group has acknowledged
the material impact on the financial results of the Group
caused by the current worldwide capital market fluctuations
which may continue to hinder the repayment of the debts
from the borrowers of the loans and issuers of the bonds
to the Group in the coming years, resulting in additional
provision for impairment loss for the loan receivables and note
receivables. The Group will actively take actions to recover
these investments, including but not limited to initiating legal
proceedings, debt restructuring and disposal after evaluating the
cost and benefit of such actions, and exploring the option of
ceasing the business.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
appreciation to the management team and all staff for their
dedication and commitment to make valuable contributions to
the Group during the Year and to thank all of our shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”), business partners and
customers for their continuous support. With our combined
efforts, we are looking forward to overcoming all those
challenges and to achieving the Group’s success in the coming
year.

Li Yongjun
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 10 April 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$257.69 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 27.55% as compared with the total revenue of
approximately HK$355.68 million for the corresponding year
in 2022. Such a decrease in revenue was mainly due to the
decrease in sales volume from manufacturing segment of the
Group. The revenue generated by the manufacturing segment
during the Year amounted to approximately HK$263.12 million
(2022: HK$368.83 million). The loss for the Year generated by
the treasury investments segment was approximately HK$5.44
million (2022: HK$13.15 million).

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss before tax of
approximately HK$375.11 million (2022: HK$464.22 million),
which was mainly attributable to (i) the unrealised fair value
losses on financial investments held for trading through profit
or loss of approximately HK$17.98 million (2022: HK$41.48
million) and (ii) the impairment losses on trade receivables,
other receivables, loan receivables and note receivables of
approximately HK$218.16 million in total in respect of the
Group (2022: HK$355.02 million).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$376.29 million, as compared
with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$466.14 million for the corresponding year
in 2022. Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the
Company for the Year was approximately 14.21 HK cents, as
compared with that of 19.08 HK cents for the corresponding
year in 2022.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend any declaration of
final dividend for the Year (2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FE'EE D—J DFH]EZ *Fl'

BUSINESS REVIEW

Manufacturing Business

During the Year, the principal business of the Group's
manufacturing segment remained unchanged and was engaged
in the manufacture and sale of a wide range of PCBs.

Compared to the revenue for the corresponding year of 2022,
the sales of goods in the Group’s manufacturing segment
decreased by approximately 28.67% from approximately
HK$368.83 million in the corresponding year in 2022 to
approximately HK$263.12 million for the Year whereas its gross
profit margin decreased from 12.31% in the corresponding year
in 2022 to 8.99% for the Year.

Treasury Investments
During the Year,
continued to endeavor making effective use of its available
financial resources in monitoring and making investment/
disposal on a wide variety of financial assets including

the Group’s treasury investments team

investments in listed equity securities, investments in funds, and
the provision of financial assistance to independent third parties.

For the Year, the Group's treasury investments segment recorded
a loss of approximately HK$281.73 million (2022: HK$460.05
million) in the form of unrealised fair value losses and interest
income. The substantial fair value losses were arisen from
the adverse market price changes of listed securities held by
the Group caused by the downturn of the Hong Kong stock
market and the downward share price performance of the listed
securities held by the Group during the Year. The provision
for impairment losses was arisen as a result of the increase in
credit-impaired receivables of the treasury investments segment.
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Financial Services

As at the date of this report, the Group is exploring the option
of ceasing the regulated activities of financial services by
way of disposal of its remaining 34% of the shareholdings of
immediate holding company holding Renco Investments Limited
("Renco Investments”) during the first half of 2024 after
evaluating the cost and benefit of such actions. As at the date
of this report, Renco Investments carried out Type 4 (Advising on
Securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Offshore Private Funds Management

As several significant amounts of investments and loans made
by some offshore private funds were not repaid as scheduled,
the general partners of these offshore private funds have
continued operating in difficulty. All of 12 offshore private funds
together with 15 of their general partners were struck off by the
registrar of companies in the Cayman Islands.

The Group is exploring the option of ceasing the business of
Offshore Private Funds Management. Meanwhile, the Group
may take actions to recover these investments, including but
not limited to initiate legal proceedings, debt restructuring and
disposal (after evaluating the cost and benefit of such actions).

Investment, Consultancy and Corporation Solution
Services

For investment, consultancy and corporation solution services,
the Group had built up a professional investment team with
investment banking and corporate finance experience and
exposure in order to improve the efficiency and quality of
services.

During the Year, the Group did not provide any consultancy
and corporate solution services due to the capital market
fluctuations.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FE'EE D—J DFH]EZ *Fl'

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group generally finances its operations through a
combination of internally generated cash flows, shareholders’
equity and borrowings from banks and the independent third
parties.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total equity of
approximately HK$104.59 million (31 December 2022:
HK$301.97 million) and net debts (trade payables,
payables and accruals, loan from a Director, and borrowings
less bank balances and deposits) of approximately HK$1,483.39
million (31 December 2022: HK$1,393.98 million), representing
a gearing ratio, defined as net debts over total equity plus net
debts, of 107.59% (31 December 2022: 82.19%).

other

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's net current liabilities
of approximately HK$916.41 million (31 December 2022: net
current liabilities of approximately HK$348.02 million) consisted
of current assets of approximately HK$868.39 million (31
December 2022: HK$1,194.09 million) and current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,784.80 million (31 December 2022:
HK$1,542.12 million), representing a current ratio of 0.49 (31
December 2022: 0.77).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's current assets consisted
of approximately HK$23.88 million (31 December 2022:
HK$46.94 million) held as bank balances and deposits, which
were mainly denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s manufacturing segment’s
current assets also consisted of approximately HK$56.77
million (31 December 2022: HK$86.55 million) held as trade
receivables. As at 31 December 2023, the debtors turnover days
was approximately 80 days (31 December 2022: 86 days).
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The Group’'s inventories decreased from approximately
HK$44.04 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$31.08 million as at 31 December 2023. Inventory turnover
days in the Group’s manufacturing segment was approximately
47 days as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 50
days). Trade payables decreased from approximately HK$89.07
million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$60.46
million as at 31 December 2023. Creditors turnover days was
approximately 92 days as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: 101 days).

Interest-bearing Borrowings

The bank loans were secured by certain buildings and right-
of-use assets related to leasehold land, corporate guarantee of
the Company and personal guarantee of a Director during the
Year. As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of approximately
HK$116.78 million (31 December 2022: HK$130.78 million)
carried fixed interest rates ranging from 3.65 % to 6.07 % per
annum (31 December 2022: 3.70% to 5.55% per annum).

As at 31 December 2023, other loan obtained from an associate
amounting to approximately HK$166.42 million (31 December
2022: HK$177.94 million) was unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable in 2024. On 21 December 2023, the Company
entered into a deed of assignment with Mr. Cheok Ho Fung
(“Mr. Cheok”) and a special purpose vehicle (“Assignee”).
Mr. Cheok has agreed to assign and transfer the unsecured
loan of approximately HK$100,192,000 (“Indebtedness”) to
the Assignee. The Indebtedness is unsecured,
at the rate of 7% per annum and repayment on demand. The
Assignee is an independent third party. The remaining balance
of other loans was secured by equity interests in certain
subsidiaries and an associate of the Group, other trade and loan
receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL"), bearing interest at a rate for the range of 3%
to 8% per annum (31 December 2022: 3% to 8% per annum),
of which approximately HK$812.08 million (31 December 2022:
HK$770.63 million) were repayable within the next 12 months.

interest-bearing

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FE'EE D—J DFH]EZ *Fl'

Apart from the secured borrowings described above,
there were loans advanced by Mr. Cheok of approximately
HK$16.96 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: HK$111.14 million) at an effective interest rate of 7%
per annum (31 December 2022: 7% per annum) which are
repayable on demand. The financial assistance provided by
Mr. Cheok was connected transaction under Chapter 14A of
the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of the
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). However, this transaction is fully exempted
from the reporting, announcement, and approval from
independent Shareholders requirements pursuant to the Listing
Rules because it is conducted on normal commercial terms or
better and is not secured by the assets of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the total issued share capital of
the Company was HK$264,800,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$264,800,000), comprising 2,648,000,000 (31 December
2022: 2,648,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Subscription and/or Holding of Listed Securities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held financial assets
at FVTPL of approximately HK$58.80 million (31 December
2022: HK$76.77 million) of which the club debenture of
approximately HK$2.40 million (31 December 2022: HK$2.40
million) was classified as non-current assets and the listed equity
investments of approximately HK$56.39 million (31 December
2022: HK$74.38 million) was classified as current assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group.

Listed below are the particulars of the Group’s major listed
securities investments:
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZSZZE+IR=t-ALER

Approximate
percentage of
investments
attributable
to the
Cost/ Group's total
Approximate fair value Market assets
percentage asat prices as at as at
Number of of interest 1 January Additions/ 31 December 31 December Dividend Disposal Fair value
Name of investment targets Notes shares held 2023 (transfer) 2023 Market value 2023 received gain/(loss) gain/(loss)
®
i k- k3 %%
%z= +28 RER
itcz1 v -A-B2 =t+-8 BESEZ HEkE/ AT
RREARAE lir:3 B BOERL  BE/ATE 53 L] it 7 BhikE (B8 W&/ (B8
(HK$ 000) (HK$ 000) (HKS) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$ 000) (HK$000)
(F#7) (Fi7) (#7) (Fi#7) (F#7) (F7) (F#7)
SuperRobotics Holdings Limited (“SuperRobotics”)

(HKSE Stock Code: 8176)

(the "SuperRobotics Shares Batch 1") @ 41,666,666 8.23% 9,167 N/A 0.250 10417 0.61% N/A N/A 1,250
BABEERERLE (BABR)

(EEBLHRARE 8176)

(E-HEARRERR) @ 41,666,666 8.3% 9,167 TEh 0250 10417 061% RER TER 1,250
SuperRobotics (the “SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2") ) 64,148,063 12.67% 14,113 N/A 0250 16,037 0.94% N/A N/A 1,924
BABE (E_HBARERR) ) 64,148,063 12.67% TER 0250 16,037 0.94% TER TER 1,924
SuperKobot\cs (the "SuperRobotics Shares Batch 3") 4] 24,397,946 4.82% 5,368 NA 0.250 6,099 0.36% NA N/A 731

ABE ((B=HEABERR) (© 24,397,946 4.82% 5,368 TER 0250 6,099 0.36% TEE TER 73
SuperRoboch (the "SuperRobotics Shares Batch 4") (@ 13,533,333 267% 2971 N/A 0.250 3383 0.20% NA NA 406

BA5E (FOHBARRRSR)) @ 13533333 267% 2971 TER 0250 3383 0.20% TER TER 406
Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited

(HKSE Stock Code: 993) (the “Huarong Financial”) Gl 237,359,400 2.73% 28,483 N/A 0.052 14,4 0.83% NA N/A (14,241)
EREARSRIRARAT EARERARAAR  993)

(Emes) © 237,359,400 273% 28483 18R 0052 14202 083% TER TER (14.241)
Bank of Gansu Co., Ltd. (HKSE Stock Code: 2139)

(the "Bank of Gansu") U 11,506,000 030% 12,081 N/A 0.800 4,027 0.24% N/A N/A (8,054)
HERORAERAT EARRMRAAE 2139)

("HERm) ) 11,506,000 0.30% 12,081 TER 0.800 4,007 0.24% TER TEE (8,054)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

(a) SuperRobotics Shares Batch 1

16

On 23 November 2016, the Group entered into a placing
letter with a placing agent, pursuant to which, among
others, the Group agreed to (i) subscribe for a total
number of 35,416,666 shares (the “SuperRobotics
Shares”) in SuperRobotics at a subscription price of
HK$4.80 per share, whose shares are listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 8176); and (ii)
acquire 6,250,000 SuperRobotics Shares from New Cove
Limited (a then substantial shareholder of SuperRobotics)
at a purchase price of HK$4.80 per share. On 5 December
and 14 December 2016, the above two transactions
were completed respectively, and a total consideration of
approximately HK$200.00 million (exclusive of stamp duty,
trading fees, transaction levies and brokerage) was paid
out by the Group. Further details of the subscription and
acquisition of SuperRobotics Shares Batch 1 were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 23 November 2016.

The principal activities of SuperRobotics are the provision
of engineering products and related services and the sales
of beauty products and provision of therapy services.

The Board noted that the robust development of the
robotic industry in the PRC represents an enormous
potential for market expansion for SuperRobotics in the
future. The construction of intelligent cities had been in
full swing based upon the artificial intelligence technology.
The wide application of intelligent robotics covered from
police use to various aspects such as services and security.
The investment team of the Group considered that
the investment in SuperRobotics would be expected to
generate returns to the Group after the realisation and the
large-scale expansion of the use of relevant technologies in
the future.
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(b) SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2

On 6 December 2019, the Group entered into a deed of
adherence and assignment, pursuant to which the Group
acquired the interest of 75% in the HKBridge Absolute
Return Fund LP (the “Absolute Return Fund”) at the
consideration of approximately HK$160.00 million to
become one of the limited partners, while the Group
also acted as the general partner and manager of the
Absolute Return Fund. The fair value of SuperRobotics
Shares Batch 2, being the asset/portfolio investment under
the Absolute Return Fund, as at the date of acquisition
amounted to approximately HK$186.03 million. Further
details of the Absolute Return Fund were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 6 December 2019. The
Absolute Return Fund has become an indirect subsidiary
of the Group since 6 December 2019 according to the
Group’s accounting policy. Pursuant to the OBOR Funds
Restructuring, the Group further acquired 25% interest
of the Absolute Return Fund during the year of 2020 and
became the only limited partner of the Absolute Return
Fund.

The Absolute Return Fund’s investment objective was to
generate returns by investing all or substantially all of its
assets in the equity securities of the portfolio companies
in the industry of in-flight wireless network engineering
and services as their main business in Hong Kong (the
“Portfolio Investment 1”). The Absolute Return Fund
might choose to invest all or substantially all of its assets
in a single investment. It was therefore possible that the
underlying investments of the Portfolio Investment | would
be concentrated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FE'EE D—J DFH]EZ *Fl'

(c)

18

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Absolute Return Fund, the Absolute Return Fund held the
Portfolio Investment | in relation to the broad application
of artificial intelligence technology in telecommunications
and the construction of intelligent cities. The general
partner and manager continued to research on the industry
of high and new technology to expand the fund investing
activities. The Board considered that the subscription of
interests in the Absolute Return Fund was beneficial to
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole, by generating
the returns from the investments and to enhance the
experience of assets management in the coming years.

During the Year, all the shares of SuperRobotics Shares
Batch 2 have been fully distributed to its sole limited
partner of the Absolute Return Fund.

SuperRobotics Shares Batch 3

On 29 May 2020, the Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One
Road Natural Resource Fund LP (the “Natural Resource
Fund”), the Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road Fixed
Income Fund LP (the “Fixed Income Fund”) and the
two limited partners of the Hong Kong Bridge High-Tech
Investment Fund LP (the “High-Tech Investment Fund”)
entered into the OBOR Funds Restructuring, pursuant to
which each of the Natural Resource Fund and the Fixed
Income Fund acquired the interest of 50% of the High-
Tech Investment Fund by assigning their note receivables
to the previous limited partners respectively to become the
new limited partners, while the Group also acted as the
general partner and manager of the High-Tech Investment
Fund. The series of restructuring and debt assignment
agreements took retrospective effect on 1 January 2020.
The fair value of SuperRobotics Shares Batch 3, being the
asset/portfolio investment under the High-Tech Investment
Fund, as at the date of acquisitions amounted to
approximately HK$70.75 million as at 1 January 2020. The
High-Tech Investment Fund had become an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company since 1 January 2020
according to the Group's accounting policy.
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(d)

The High-Tech Investment Fund’s investment objective is to
generate high risk-adjusted returns by primarily investing
in equity, equity-related investments, fixed income
securities, debt securities and loans or convertible bonds
in connection with high-tech industries in Hong Kong (the
“Portfolio Investment Il").

With reference to the investment objectives of the
High-Tech Investment Fund, the High-Tech Investment
Fund currently invests in the debt equity and holds the
Portfolio Investment Il in relation to the broad application
of artificial intelligence technology in the industry of
telecommunications and the construction of intelligent
cities. The general partner and manager of the High-Tech
Investment Fund continued to research on the industry of
high and new technology to expand the fund investing
activities. The Board considered that the subscription
of interests in the High-Tech Investment Fund was
beneficial to the Group and the Shareholders as a whole,
by generating the returns from the investments and to
enhance the experience of assets management in the
coming years.

During the Year, all the shares of SuperRobotics Shares
Batch 3 have been fully distributed to the sole limited
partner of the High-Tech Investment Fund.

SuperRobotics Shares Batch 4

During the Year, the Group received 5,200,000 shares and
8,333,333 shares from each of the two independent third
parties pursuant to the debt restructuring respectively,
totaling 13,533,333 shares of the SuperRobotics Shares.

As at the date of this report, the Group held approximately
28.4% shareholding in SuperRobotics after the aforesaid
reconstruction and the market value of all SuperRobotics
Shares was approximately HK$57.50 million.

(d)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

(e) Huarong Financial Shares

20

On 8 December 2017, the Group acquired a total of
88,000,000 shares (the “Huarong Investment Shares”)
in Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited
("Huarong Investment”) (whose shares were then listed
on the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 2277)) through
a broker from an independent third party at the price of
HK$0.90 per share. The total consideration of HK$79.20
million for the acquisition of Huarong Investment Shares
was financed by the Group's net proceeds received from
the exercise of the put option by the Group during 2017.
On 5 February 2018 and 6 February 2018, the Group
further acquired a total of 2,600,000 Huarong Investment
Shares at the average price of HK$1.32 per share through
a broker from an independent third party. Further details
of the acquisition of Huarong Investment Shares in 2017
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 8
December 2017.

The principal activities of Huarong Investment are direct
investments, foundation and substructure construction
services, financial services and others.

Due to the unexpected continuing downturn in the share
price performance of Huarong Investment, the Group's
investment team decided to minimise the continuing
unrealised losses by completing the disposal of a total of
6,430,000 Huarong Investment Shares through a broker at
the total consideration of approximately HK$3.35 million
during the year of 2018.

Huarong Investment together with Huarong Financial
published a joint announcement dated 11 November
2020 to disclose that the privatisation scheme of Huarong
Investment became effective on 10 November 2020 and
the withdrawal of the listing of Huarong Investment
Shares on the Stock Exchange became effective on 12
November 2020 after the trading hours. Upon completion
of the privatisation scheme, the balance of 84,170,000
Huarong Investment Shares were converted into a total of
237,359,400 shares (the “Huarong Financial Shares”) in
Huarong Financial on 13 November 2020.
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(f)

The principal activities of Huarong Financial are (i)
engaging in the broking and dealing of securities, futures
and options contracts, as well as the provision of margin
financing services, (ii) engaging in the provision of
underwriting, sponsoring and financial advisory services
of securities to institutional clients, (iii) engaging in the
provision of asset management services, as well as the
direct investments in equities, bonds, funds, derivative
instruments and other financial products, and (iv) involving
in money lending, the provision of pawn loan services
and the provision of financial lease services through its
subsidiaries.

As at the date of this report, all of the Huarong Financial
Shares have been pledged as security for a long-term
borrowing of approximately HK$675.90 million of the
Group and the fair value of the Huarong Financial was
approximately HK$12.82 million.

Bank of Gansu Shares

After the OBOR Funds Restructuring initiated by the
general partner and manager of the Fixed Income Fund
and Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road Growth Income
Fund, L.P. (the “Growth Fund”) of which a subsidiary of
the Group acted as the limited partner, the Fixed Income
Fund and the Growth Fund held a total of 3,336,740
shares in Bank of Gansu (the “Bank of Gansu Shares”)
upon completion of the OBOR Funds Restructuring. The
initial cost of such shares was approximately HK$4.97
million at the date of the execution of the OBOR Funds
Restructuring. During the year 2020, the Group also
acquired 8,169,260 Bank of Gansu Shares at an initial cost
of approximately HK$24.34 million.

(f)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

22

Bank of Gansu mainly operates its businesses through
three segments: (i) the corporate banking segment, which
offers financial products and services, including loans,
discounted bills, deposits, and fee-and commission-based
products and services; (i) the financial market operation
segment, which issues debit cards denominated in
Renminbi to retail customers holding deposit accounts with
the Bank of Gansu; and (iii) the retail banking segment,
which offers retail customers financial products and
services including loans, discounted bills, deposits, and fee-
and commission-based products and services.

During the Year, the investment in the Bank of Gansu
Shares recorded an unrealised fair value loss of
approximately HK$8.05 million (2022: HK$5.18 million)
due to the unexpected downturn in the share price
performance of Bank of Gansu. With reference to the
investment objectives of the Fixed Income Fund and the
Growth Fund, the general partner and manager considered
that the investment in Bank of Gansu was beneficial to
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole, by generating
the returns from medium to long term investments and
by enhancing the experience of assets management in the
coming years.

As at the date of this report, all of the Bank of Gansu
Shares have been pledged as security for the long-term
borrowings of approximately HK$675.90 million in total
and the fair value of the Bank of Gansu Shares was
approximately HK$4.20 million.
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PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

During the Year, the Group also engaged in the provision of
financial assistance for debt investments to some independent
third parties. As at 31 December 2023, the total outstanding
receivables in relation to this activity amounted to approximately
HK$630.14 million (31 December 2022: HK$854.75 million) and
those transactions set out below were relatively significant to
the Group at the time of entering into the relevant agreements
between the Group and those relevant independent third parties
respectively.

The Group had provided additional impairment of approximately
HK$211.55 million (2022: HK$302.51 million) for those overdue
financial assistances during the Year. The Board was of the
opinion that such impairment provided by the Group were
made in accordance with the requirements of the accounting
standards.

In order to lower the investment risks and reduce the losses,
the Group puts its best efforts to maximise the recovery of the
relevant financial assistances by restructuring or conducting
The Board will keep on
assessing and ascertaining the recoverability of the following
transactions closely and may further increase the provisions for
impairment loss in the coming years.

lawsuits against several debtors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

(@) Zhanjiang Advance

24

On 22 March 2017, the Group entered into a loan
facility agreement with Zhanjiang Dingsheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.* CESIT R REMERZFREAR)
(the “Zhanjiang Borrower”) and the guarantors for the
provision of a loan facility of not more than RMB200.00
million (the “Zhanjiang Advance”). Details in relation
to Zhanjiang Advance were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 March 2017.

Due to the default in repayment and failure of negotiation
for settlement of the Zhanjiang Advance, the Group filed
a statement of claim (#&F4X) on 30 June 2019 at the
Shaoguan Intermediate People’s Court (BBRAT AR A
EAFD) (the “Shaoguan Court”) against the Zhanjiang
Borrower and the guarantors to claim for the principal
amount of the Zhanjiang Advance of RMB200.00 million
and the interest accrued which remained outstanding and
amounted to approximately RMB60.75 million as at 30
June 2019. Subsequent to such filing, the Group received
a notice of acceptance for litigation proceedings (3222
@A 2Z) issued by the Shaoguan Court on 16 July 2019.
On 24 July 2019, the Group paid the required litigation fee
to the Shaoguan Court to confirm the first hearing of the
said litigation proceedings which was originally scheduled
to be held on 20 August 2019, but was adjourned to
be held on 14 February 2020. Details in relation to the
aforesaid legal proceedings were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 July 2019.
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On 21 January 2021, the Group received the first
judgement issued by Shaoguan Court (the “First
Judgement”). It was held that the Zhanjiang Borrower
and the guarantors were liable to make payment to
the Group for (i) the total sum of about RMB178.36
million (the “New Principal”), including the outstanding
principal and interests accrued at the rate of 4.75% per
annum from the borrowing date to 16 May 2019, (ii) the
interest on the amount of the New Principal accrued from
16 May 2019 to 19 August 2019 at the rate of 4.75%
per annum, and (iii) the interest on any outstanding
amount commencing from 20 August 2019 until the final
settlement of the amount of the New Principal would
accrue at the one-year term of Loan Prime Rate (B
M B MEFIX) announced by the National Interbank
Funding Center (2EIRITRIEIZEIFRMESH L) in the PRC.
The Group subsequently filed an appeal against the First
Judgement on 9 February 2021 after having consulted
with its PRC legal advisors. Subsequent to such filing of
appeal, the Group received a notice of acceptance for
appeal proceedings issued by Shaoguan Court on 19
February 2021. However, in order to recover this financial
assistance as soon as possible by way of exercising its right
in the 55% equity interest in the Zhanjiang Borrower, the
Group withdrew the appeal and received the withdrawal
notice from the Shaoguan Court on 16 July 2021, and
received the final judgement dated 8 July 2021 (the “Final
Judgement”).
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Pursuant to the Final Judgement, the Group applied to
the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court CEIIH &
/AN E AP (the “Shenzhen Court”) on 10 August
2021 to exercise its right in the 55% equity interest in
the Zhanjiang Borrower. On 8 October 2021, the Group
received the judgement dated 29 September 2021 from
the Shenzhen Court which objected the Group to apply for
the exercise of such rights in the Shenzhen Court. After
consulting with its PRC legal advisors, the Group submitted
an objection to such judgement from the Shenzhen Court
to The High People’s Court of Guangdong Province (E&
E Bk AR AR (the “Guangdong High Court”) for the
final appeal on 15 October 2021.

Due to the failure of Zhanjiang Borrower to make
repayment and having regard to the lengthy legal
proceedings and enforcement process, the management
of the Group considered that the loan amount due from
the Zhanjiang Borrower would probably not be recovered
until the second half year of 2024. Having considered the
existing market value of the collaterals by the management
of the Group, no further impairment loss was provided for
the Year in respect of the loan receivables according to
the HKFRS 9 (2022: HKS$Nil). The carrying amount of the
amount due from the Zhanjiang Borrower (after deducting
the accumulated impairment loss of HK$76.96 million)
as at 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$192.05
million (31 December 2022: HK$197.88 million).

As at the date of this report, the Group has not yet
received any details on the hearing of the relevant legal
proceedings from the Guangdong High Court but will keep
on consulting with its PRC legal advisors for exploring
further legal actions. Further announcement(s) regarding
any significant developments on the above litigation will be
published as and when appropriate.
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(b) Zhonghong Advance

On 25 January 2018, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd.* (FF3A3%
IRREHEFR/AT) (the “Zhonghong Borrower”) for
the amount of RMB200.00 million (the “Zhonghong
Advance”). On 3 September 2018, the Group and the
Zhonghong Borrower further entered into a supplemental
agreement with each of Weifang Hengqgi Changsheng
Co., Ltd.* (#1HIEEHEREBRAE) (the "Weifang
Borrower”) and Grandcheer Limited (the “Grandcheer
Borrower"”) respectively, and a guarantee agreement
with the Weifang Borrower and the Grandcheer Borrower.
Pursuant to the said agreements, both amounts due from
Weifang Borrower of RMB90.00 million and Grandcheer
Borrower of HK$48.00 million (together with the
Zhonghong Advance totalling approximately HK$381.50
million, collectively the "New Zhonghong Advance”)
were to be repaid by Zhonghong Borrower on a joint basis,
with interest calculated for accrued amount at the rate of
24% per annum commencing from 12 May 2018 until the
final settlement of the loan principal has been received. In
addition, the New Zhonghong Advance under the aforesaid
supplemental agreements were guaranteed by the
Zhonghong Borrower and the relevant guarantors, which
are indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Zhonghong
Borrower with the Sea Area Use Certificate (13 (& F3 &
&) from State Ocean Administration (IS E¥/E) in
the PRC under the process of land reclamation for further
property development and tourism project.
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To secure the recovery of the principal amount of the New
Zhonghong Advance and to reduce the risk of impairment
loss, on 13 September 2018, the Group had filed an
application for arbitration proceedings at the Shenzhen
Court of International Arbitration (the “SCIA”) against
the Zhonghong Borrower and the relevant guarantors
for the breach of the aforesaid supplemental agreements
and guarantee agreement. On 18 September 2018, the
Group received the notice of acceptance for arbitration
proceedings issued by the SCIA. In January 2019, hearing
of the arbitration proceedings was conducted. At the
end of April 2019, the Group received the arbitral awards
(FRZE) (the "Arbitral Awards”) dated 25 April 2019
given by the SCIA in respect of the aforesaid arbitration
proceedings. Further details of the Zhonghong Advance
in relation to the provision of financial assistance and the
abovesaid developments on the arbitrations were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 13 February 2018,
19 March 2018, 25 May 2018, 6 September 2018, 20
September 2018 and 3 May 2019 respectively.

As at the date of this report, the disposal of the Sea
Area Use Certificate (B3 FA#58E) via public auction
approved by the Hainan Province Haikou Intermediate
People’s Court (the “Hainan Court”) (Bm&/EOMmH
R NRJABT), together with the relevant properties held
by the guarantors of Zhonghong Borrower as pledged
securities of the New Zhonghong Advance which had been
held by the Group had not yet been initiated. The Group
will continue to consult its PRC legal advisors for exploring
whether further legal actions could be made against
Zhonghong Borrower and the relevant guarantors. Further
announcement(s) regarding any significant developments
on the above arbitrations will be published as and when
appropriate.
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Meanwhile, in order to increase the recoverability of the
New Zhonghong Advance, the Group had been exploring
potential well-known buyers or property developers during
the past two years to set up a restructuring arrangement
between Zhonghong Borrower and the existing creditors of
Zhonghong Borrower.

Pursuant to the Arbitral Awards, the Group could apply to
the Hainan Court to dispose by way of auction the relevant
guarantor’s assets. However, the recovering process of
the New Zhonghong Advance would involve restructuring
discussion with other major creditors of the Zhonghong
Borrower. In the opinion of the management of the Group,
the outstanding amount of the New Zhonghong Advance
would likely to be recovered within three to four years.
Although the restructuring plan would be complicated
and time consuming, however, having considered the
existing market values of the collaterals, no further
impairment loss was provided during the Year for the New
Zhonghong Advance in the opinion of the management of
the Group according to the HKFRS 9 (2022: HK$Nil). The
carrying amount of the amount due from the Zhonghong
Borrower (after deducting the accumulated impairment
loss of HK$246.10 million) as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$205.53 million (31 December 2022:
HK$215.33 million).

As at the date of this report, the New Zhonghong Advance
has been pledged as security for a long-term borrowing of
approximately HK$675.90 million of the Group.
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The Group entered into a loan agreement dated 19
October 2017 with China Gem Enterprise Development
(Jiangsu) Limited* (FEtZEEE (L&) AR A A) (the
“China Gem lJiangsu Borrower”) for the provision of
a loan of RMB100.00 million (the “China Gem lJiangsu
Advance”) with the interest rate of 9% per annum
and extra undertaking of interest of 9% per annum of
the principal amount. The collaterals of the loan were
493,160,000 shares of China Gem Holdings Limited
("China Gem"), whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 1191)
(the “China Gem Shares”) and approximately HK$150.00
million equity interests in a fund owned by a related
company of China Gem Jiangsu Borrower. The transaction
of the China Gem Jiangsu Advance did not constitute a
disclosable transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules as all the applicable percentage ratios under Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the transaction
were less than 5% as at the date of the loan agreement.

On 28 August 2019, the Group and China Gem lJiangsu
Borrower entered into a supplemental agreement to
lower the interest rate to 12% per annum and extended
the expiry date of the loan to 30 June 2020 after
having obtained additional China Gem Shares, pre-sale
agreements in properties in the PRC and interest in a fund
held by China Gem Jiangsu Borrower as further securities.

Since the financial performance and the status of business
operations of China Gem Jiangsu Borrower as at 31
December 2023 were worse than before, no settlement
had been received during the Year. In addition, the market
value of the collaterals of the loan had been declining
enormously as the China Gem Shares on the Stock
Exchange had been suspended trading since 30 August
2021 and with effect on 5 May 2023, the listing of shares
of China Gem was canceled. As the default in repayment
by China Gem Jiangsu Borrower caused significant increase
in the credit risk on the Group’s loan receivables, credit-
impairment loss had previously been made for China Gem
Jiangsu Advance which had been fully impaired as at 31
December 2022. The carrying amount due from China
Gem Jiangsu Borrower as at 31 December 2023 (after
deducting the accumulated impairment loss of HK$151.01
million) was HK$Nil (31 December 2022: HK$Nil).
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DEBT INVESTMENTS

(a) Description of the Business Model

The Company engages in debt investments of (a)
the provision of financial assistance (the “Financial
Assistance”), (b) business in the asset and shareholding
restructuring business of the Group (the “Asset and
Shareholding Restructuring Business”) and (c) the
subscriptions of interest in offshore private funds (the
“Subscriptions in Funds”) (collectively, the “Debt
Investments”) during the Year.

The Financial Assistance is a kind of business activities
in the treasury investments segment. The investment
management team has been continuing to make effective
use of its available financial resources in monitoring
and making investment/disposal on a wide variety of
financial assets including investments in listed equity
securities, investment in fund and the Financial Assistance
to independent third parties. For details of the Financial
Assistance, please also refer to the paragraphs headed
“PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE"” above on
pages 23 to 30 in this report.

The Asset and Shareholding Restructuring Business and
the Subscriptions in Funds are kinds of business activities
in the financial services segment. The Group has been
actively participating in asset management, consultancy
services, corporate solution services and debt, asset and
shareholding restructuring business in Hong Kong and
PRC through the subscription and/or holding of interest in
funds. The carrying amount of the Subscriptions in Funds
after fully impaired during the Year was HK$Nil as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: HK$179.66 million).
For details of the Subscriptions in Funds, please also
refer to the paragraphs headed “(e) Hong Kong Bridge
One Belt One Road M&A Fund LP”, “(f) Hong Kong
Bridge High-Tech Investment Fund LP” and “(g) Hong
Kong Bridge Landmark Investment Fund LP” on pages
24 to 28 of Company’s interim report published on 26
September 2023 (the “2023 Interim Report”).
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(b)
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Save as discussed above, the Group did not hold any
licenses in relation to the Debt Investments during the
Year and as at the date of this report. The Group did not
target on a specific group of customers. The customers of
the Group, as at the date of this report, were mainly the
Group's business partners or companies referred by the
former and existing substantial shareholders and/or former
executive Directors of the Company.

Since 1 January 2021 and up to the publication date of
this report, the Group has not granted any new transaction
of the Debt Investments.

Number of borrowers of the Debt Investments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 16 borrowers of
the Debt Investments (31 December 2022: 17 borrowers).
The total carrying amount of the loan receivables and
note receivables (after deducting the impairments and
write-offs for the Year) was approximately HK$630.14
million (31 December 2022: HK$854.75 million) whereas
11 borrowers were related to the Financial Assistance,
4 borrowers were related to the Asset and Shareholding
Restructuring Business and 1 borrower was related to the
Subscriptions in Funds.
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(c) Breakdown of loan receivables and note (c)
receivables of the Debt Investments by categories W EHRBA 4
3
December
2022
ZECC
31 December 2023 +ZR
Z8-ZF+ZB=+-H =t+-8
Gross Net Net  Principal Interest ~ Grant Duration Extension
amount  Impairments amount amount amount rate  date Year(s) Terms granted
k2] i L] 2] L:+3 HE KR8 FE R 331
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS0O0  HKSOOO  HKST000
AT AT AT A7 &7 % #)
Secured Loan receivables
ERERER
() the Financial Assistance
0 HEEH
Borrower A 269,005 (76,955) 192,050 197,885 240,000 18.0%  23-Mar-2017 6.8 Expiry on 23 March 2019 with ~ N/A
one year extension option
(24 September 2020)
BHAA 269,005 (76,955 192,050 197,885 240,000 180% 2017% 68 2019F3FBRIE MEH- TER
3A3H F (2020895248)
Borrower B 151,009 (151,009) = = 120,000 120%  19-0ct-2017 6.2 18 October 2018 and then N/A
extended to 30 June 2020
fEZAB 151,009 (151,009) - - 120000 120%  2017F 62 2018E10718H ARERE TEE
108198 20204566308
Borrower C - - - - 50,000 50%  19-Dec-2018 4.5 18 June 2020 and 6 months Extended to 19 December
extension option 2020, 31 December 2021
(17 December 2020) and 31 December 2022
fERAC - - - 50,000 50%  2018F 45 2000E6F18R76EAH ERE20205128198
12A198 BB (2000F 21E12ENER
12B178) W0E128318
Borrower D 18933 (9,466) 9,466 9,466 25,000 50%  18-Aug-2020 34 31 December 2021 and NA
1 year extension option
(31 December 2022)
BHRAD 18,933 (9,466) 9,466 9,466 25,000 50%  200F 34 0NENBNAMELEEE FEE
82185 (2025125318
Borrower E 49729 (29,837) 19,892 24,864 35,000 120%  29-Mar-2018 5.8 29 June 2018 Extended to 31 December
2018, 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2021
BRAE 49,729 (29,837) 19,892 24,864 35,000 120%  2018% 58 2018565298 ERE0185128318
38298 WI9E12E31BR
WNE12A318
Borrower F 109,437 (55,905) 53,532 55,905 84,000 120%  09-Jan-2019 5.0 30June 2019 and 18 months  Extended to 31 December 2021
extension option
(31 December 2020)
BAAF 109,437 (55,905) 53,532 55,905 84,000 120%  2019F 50 201956F30B718ERH ERE201E128318
1898 EHEE (20205
12A318)
Borrower G 68,260 (34,130) 34,130 34,130 60,000 50%  23-Jan-2019 49 23 April 2019 Extended to 23 October
2019, 23 October 2020,
23 October 2021 and 31
December 2022
BHRAG 68,260 (34,130) 34,130 34,130 60,000 50%  2019F 49 201954B3R EEE201945108238 2020
1838 E10B238 20015108
BHR02F126318
Borrower H 69,077 (34,538) 34,538 34,538 69,600 50%  28-Jan-2019 49 27 April 2019 Extended to 24 July 2019,
24 October 2019, 31
December 2021 and 31
December 2022
fBFAH 69,077 (34,538) 34,538 34,538 69,600 50%  2019F 49 2019848278 ERZE2019F75240 20195
16288 10824820015 12831

—ECC-HEER MEZEREERRAE

AR20225128318

BEESmRDT

RENBDNEFREBBERME

Overdue Type of
Year(s) Security
aH ERER

#

5.8 55% Equity interest of Borrower
A
58 BRAAISS%RE

3.5 Hong Kong listed shares

35 EALTRE

0.5 Hong Kong listed shares

05 EALTRE

1.0 Hong Kong listed shares

10 EALTHRE

2.0 Corporate guarantee

20 BEER

2.0 Corporate guarantee and
personal quarantee from
director of the Borrower F

10 CEERREFAFESZEA

1.0 Personal guarantee from director
of the Borrower G

10 ERACEZZBAER

1.0 Corporate quarantee
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BB s RO
31
December
2022
ZECC
31 December 2023 +ZR
Z$ZZF+ZRZt-B =t+-8
Gross Net Net  Principal Interest ~ Grant Duration Extension Overdue Type of
amount  Impairments amount amount amount rate  date Year(s) Terms granted Year(s) Security
£8 AE #8 B8 .53 fl®  RIAH EE BR ERES a8 ERER
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS0O0  HKSO00  HKSO00
FET AT iz FEr FEr % #) #)
Borrower | [AWDE] (20,886) 20,836 32,164 40,000 10.0%  13-Sep-2019 4.4 18 November 2019 and Extended to 31 December 1.0 Personal guarantee from director
3 months extension option 2020, 31 December 2021 of the Borrower |
(17 February 2020) and 31 December 2022
&R N1 (20,886) 20,886 32,164 40,000 100%  2019F 44 019ENBIBEABEANE  EERE2020E128318 2021 10 BRNEZZEAER
98130 BB (2020525178) F12B318R02E1R
318
Borrower J 39,370 (19,685) 19,685 25,407 60,000 85%  29-Apr-2020 3.7 28 April 2021 Extended to 31 December 2021 1.0 Personal guarantee from director
and 31 December 2022 of the Borrower J
BN 39370 (19,685) 19,685 25,407 60,000 85%  200% 37 2021545288 ERE2001%126318/12022 10 BRNESZEALR
48298 F128318
Borrower K 44,863 (22431) 2431 28426 48,000 85%  28-May-2020 36 27 May 2021 Extended to 31 December 2021 1.0 Personal uarantee from director
and 31 December 2022 of the Borrower K
BRAK 44,863 (22,431) 2831 28,426 48,000 85%  2020% 36 2021%58278 ERZ2021£1283187202 10 BRAESZZEAER
5A28H E128318
Borrower L 26,038 (13,019 13,019 16,978 21,000 100%  25-Aug-2020 34 31 Decenber 2021 and 1year ~ N/A 1.0 Personal guarantee from director
extension option of the Borrower L
(31 December 2022)
BRAL 26,038 (13,019) 13,019 16,978 21,000 100% 20208 34 ANENRNBMIEEREE TER 10 BAAEZZBAER
8A25H (2000£12831R)
424,603 459,764
() the Asset and Shareholding Restructuring Business
() EERBREEEZH
Borrower M 274592 (168,324) 106,269 112,24 240,000 10.0%  25-Jan-2018 59 24 February 2018 and Extended to 8 August 2018 5.4 Right of the Sea Area Use
30 days extension option Certificate
(24 March 2018)
EFAM 274592 (168324) 106269 112224 240,000 100% 20185 59 0IBEIEURMNRLEEE ERZ2018E8F88 54 BHEREER
18258 (2018%35248)
Borrower N 123,567 (54,286) 69,281 71,961 108,000 10.0%  26-Jan-2018 5.9 25 February 2018 and Extended to 8 August 2018 5.4 Right of the Sea Area Use
30 days extension option Certificate
(25 March 2018)
BRAN 123,567 (54,286) 69,281 71,961 108,000 100% 20185 59 2018F2B5HM0KEREE EREL18E8H8H 54 BHERRR
18268 (2018538258)
Borrower 01 17132 (7,526) 9,605 9977 15,000 100%  23-Feb-2018 59 25 February 2018 and Extended to 8 August 2018 54 Right of the Sea Area Use
30 days extension option Certificate
(24 March 2018)
R0 17,132 (7,526) 9,605 9,977 15,000 100% 2018F 59 2018F285EMNKEREE ERE18EALH 54 BHPRESR
2838 (2018£35248)
Borrower 02 36,345 (15,967) 20378 21,166 33,000 10.0%  04-Apr-2018 57 2 June 2018 and Extended to 8 August 2018 5.4 Right of the Sea Area Use
60 days extension option Certificate
(1 August 2018)
A0 36,345 (15,967) 20,378 21,166 33,000 100% 20185 57 2018E6F2AM0KLERE ERE2018E8F88 54 BHEREER
4848 (2018%881H)
Borrower P 3,060 (3,060) - - 3,000 30%  07-Apr-2020 3.7 6July 2020 and Extended to 31 December 2020 3.0 Contractual interest of properties
3 months extension option
(5 October 2020)
ERAP 3,060 (3,060) - - 3,000 30%  2000% 37 00F7R6AMBEANES  ERE2000%128318 30 WEzabER
4578 B8 (20205£10858)
205,532 215,328
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| Gt EEEH BRI
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et
3
December
2022
ZECC
31 December 2023 +ZR
Z$-ZF+ZBZ+-H =t+-H
Gross Net Net  Principal Interest ~ Grant Duration Extension Overdue Type of
amount  Impairments amount amount amount rate  date Year(s) Terms granted Year(s) Security
2 AE B8 38 .53 flE  ®IAH EE B ERES o ERER
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKSO00
AT iz FHr FEr FEr % #) #)
() the Subscriptions in Funds
() E&2E
Borrower Q-1 251326 (251,326) - 75398 217,901 50%  30-Aug-2017 6.0 30 August 2018 and Extended to 31 December 1.0 Bonds issue by a Hong Kong
1 year extension option 2020, 31 December 2021 listed company
(30 August 2019) and 31 December 2022
BRAQ 251326 (251,326) o 75398 217,901 50% 2017F 6.0 2018FBANEMIEEEEE ERE0205128318 2001 10 BALHATEHES
84308 (2019%88308) 125318 R02E1A
318
Borrower Q-2 97,311 (97,377) - 29213 84,150 50%  12:Sep-2017 6.3 12 September 2018 and Extended to 31 December 1.0 Bonds issue by a Hong Kong
1 year extension option 2020, 31 December 2021 listed company
(12 September 2019) and 31 December 2022
BIAQ2 97317 (97,377) - 29,213 84,150 50%  2017F 63 2018FIRNBMIEEEEE ERE0205126318 201 10 BERLHATRTES
98128 (2019%98128) E1A31BR0NENA
318
Borrower Q-3 20,000 (20,000 - 6,000 20,000 0%  27-Dec-2017 6.0 27 December 2018 and Extended to 31 December 1.0 Bonds issue by a Hong Kong
1 year extension option 2020, 31 December 2021 listed company
(27 December 2019) and 31 December 2022
#RAQ3 20,000 20,000 - 6,000 20,000 0% 20175 6.0 2018F1AVAMIFEREE ERE020F128318 2021 10 FELHATEGES
128278 (2019%128278) E12831BR2022E128
318
- 110,611
630,135 785,703
Secured Note receivables
EREREE
() the Subscription in Funds
) E&38
Borrower Q-3 230,165 (230,165 - 69,049 200,000 50%  27-Dec-2017 6.0 27 December 2018 and Extended to 31 December 1.0 Bonds issue by a Hong Kong
1 year extension option (27 2020, 31 December 2021 listed company
December 2019) and 31 December 2022
fBRAQ3 230,165 (230,165) - 69,049 200,000 50% 2017F 6.0 2018F12BVAMELHEE ERE020£128318 2001 10 BELHATEHES
128278 (2019%128278) F12B31BR02E1R
318
- 69,049
630,135 854,752
Note (a): The loan from Borrower C was settled in 2022. Mi5E@E).  KREERACHERBELR20224F
4k
na /B

—ECCEFR MEEREEARAE



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN
(d) Aging analysis of loan receivables and note (d) EFRENEWRERKREWREERE
receivables of the Debt Investments BRGSO
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
—E_=F#+=-HR=+—H "+ "HB=+—H
Number of Number of
borrowers HKS$ borrowers HK$
AR He T HA BERAHUE AT ERANEE BT
0-1 year past due 8 154,156 9 360,770
BHAO- 14
1-3 years past due 3 78,396 4 80,770
AHR1-34F
Over 3 years past due 5 397,583 4 413,212
BHA3EE L b+
16 630,135 17 854,752
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N @A R D

(e) Top five largest borrowers of the Debt Investments (e) EBEHEREMN T AEKRERA

The total loan receivables of the Group as at 31 December N _E_=F+ A=+ —HEZE
2023 and 31 December 2022 were approximately T THE+ZB=+—H AEENEWR
HK$630.14 million and HK$785.70 million respectively. The ERBEEDNAA630.1488 BT
carrying amount of loan receivables due from the top five 785.70B BBt A KEWERABEU
borrowers together with the percentage to the total loan EMREEERGAEBRRINERESRE
receivables of the Group are set out below: HNBE2LEENOT :
As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
RZEZ=f+-H=+—H RZEZZ#+-“H=+—H

% to % to

Amount total loan Amount total loan

Borrower HK$'000 receivables HK$'000 receivables

3] %It EKRER &8 % i AR

fEmA AT 1EE BT B

The Zhanjiang Borrower 192,050 30.48% 197,885 25.19%

EIERA 192,050 30.48% 197,885 25.19%

The Zhonghong Borrower 106,269 16.86% 112,224 14.28%

FEAERA 106,269 16.86% 112,224 14.28%

The Weifang Borrower 69,281 10.99% 71,961 9.16%

I ERA 69,281 10.99% 71,961 9.16%

Shenzhen Zehua International Trade Co., Ltd.*

(the “Zehua Borrower") 53,532 8.50% 55,905 7.12%
FNTEERRESZERARD (MEEETAL 55,532 8.50% 55,905 7.12%
The Strait Borrower N/A N/A 110,611 14.07%
BIRERA TEA BB 110,611 14.07%
Great River Capital Limited 34,538 5.48% N/A N/A
Great River Capital Limited 34,538 5.48% A5 Nl
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EEENmADN
(f) Discussion on movements of impairments or write-

38

offs of loan receivables and note receivables of
the Debt Investments and the basis of impairment
assessments

Taking into account of the following factors, the Company
recognised the impairment induced on loan receivables and
note receivables of the Debt Investments, including but
not limited to (a) delay in settlement of the amounts of
loan interest or principal by the borrowers; (b) legal actions
and proceedings being taken by the Company against
the borrowers; (c) decrease in value of the collaterals on
pledged assets of loan receivables and note receivables due
to declining global economy and equity market in general,
(d) the decrease in demand for the properties development
industry in PRC; and (e) the borrowers’ increasing difficulty
in business operation and/or facing litigation or liquidation
process.

During the Year, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$211.55 million was recognised (2022: impairment
loss of HK$302.51 million), of which (i) approximately
HK$31.89 million was related to the Financial Assistance
(the “Impairment of Financial Assistance”); and
(ii) approximately HK$179.66 million was related
to the Subscriptions in Funds (the “Impairment of
Subscriptions in Funds”).

The main reason for the Impairment of Subscriptions in
Funds was caused by overdue repayment of borrowings
during the Year. Notwithstanding that the borrowing was
secured by the collaterals (the CRTG Bonds) provided
by the Strait Borrower, (i) the borrower is principally
engaged in expressway, petroleum and timber-related
businesses in the PRC. However, the borrower’s property
and infrastructure sector in the PRC had been thrust
into a severe debt crisis over the past two years; (ii) the
borrower’s failure in repaying the loan on its maturity date
to the Offshore Private Fund invested and managed by
the Group; (iii) the borrower was in process of winding up
petitioned by the Court of First Instance of the High Court
Hong Kong; and (iv) the borrower’s failure in publishing
its annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
was suspended from trading its securities on the Stock
Exchange since 3 July 2023.
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(g) Business Prospect for the Debt Investments

The Group acknowledged that the downturn of economic
might continue to hinder the repayment of the debts by
the borrowers of the loans and issuers of the bonds to the
Group in the coming years, resulting in additional provision
for impairment loss on the loan receivables and note
receivables and material impact on the financial results
of the Group. The Group will closely monitor the day-to-
day operations and management of its principal businesses
to reduce the adverse impacts on the Group’s operations
and financial performance. Considering the provision for
impairment losses on the Group’s business of financial
assistance and asset and shareholding restructuring, the
Group would endeavour to recover the investment loss
from the aforesaid business in the next three years and
would gradually cease for engaging significant amounts in
the transactions of the Financial Assistance, the Asset and
Shareholding Restructuring Business and Subscriptions in
Funds.

In the opinion of the Board and the management of
the Company, the Group was reforming its business of
the treasury investments and financial services to make
effective use of its available financial resources. The
Company intended to gradually transform its business from
debt investment into the portfolio investment and equity
investment for gaining the short-term return. Once the
funds from the Debt Investments had been collected by
way of conducting the debt restructuring, the Company
intended to obtain the money lender license in Hong Kong
for further improving the treasury investments segment
and the financial services segment of the Company in
future.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N @A R D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS IN CONNECTION
WITH DEBT INVESTMENTS
(a) Credit Approval Processes

40

For the purpose of dealing with loan receivables and note
receivables due from borrowers under the Company’s Debt
Investments, the credit risk management is used to identify
potential recoverability issues. It is the Group’s “Long-term
Equity Investment Business Management Policy” adopted
on 10 May 2023 that all potential borrowers who wish to
obtain financial assistance from the Group will be initially
reviewed by the Company’s investment management team.
In determining the potential loan size and credit limits,
the investment manager of the investment management
team will prepare a report that summarises all material
information including but not limited to the background
of the borrowers, credit search report, litigation search
report, the assessment on the collateral items provided
and occasionally by utilizing search engines in the internet,
and other publicly available information for each case. The
Board will then review the report on a case-by-case basis,
consider those factors that are specific to each borrower
or to make adjustments on the size, duration and interest
rate of the loans prior to granting the loans. These specific
factors may include the background information and
financial strength of the borrowers, the duration of the
lending Year and the presence and sufficiency of corporate
security interests and/or guarantees for each case which
would be considered as the most important parameters by
the Board.
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(b) Credit Risk Assessment

The Group has been engaging the Financial Assistance,
shareholdings restructuring services and the Subscriptions
in Funds for the corporate customers (i.e. non-individual
customers) in Hong Kong and China without any specific
targeted industry.

Prior to the Debt Investments or making other investments,
the management or the investment management team
of the Group will conduct due diligence on the potential
customers. The due diligence procedures included
conducting research on the customers’ background,
evaluating its current business operations and financial
conditions, market reputation and creditability, and
conducting financial analysis and recoverability analysis. To
minimise credit or investment risks, the Group will typically
require guarantees, including personal guarantees and
corporate guarantees, and/or collaterals with expected
realised value exceeding the principal amount of the loan
or investment. Furthermore, for the existing customers,
the Group will evaluate its past business relationships
with them and their track records as factors to extend
loan duration or otherwise continue to maintain business
relationship.

During the subsistence of the Debt Investments or the
other investment, the Group has implemented various
on-going monitoring and risk management procedures
which include conducting regular visits and interviews
with the customers, requesting the customers to furnish
periodic financial information, conducting public searches
and obtaining information on any legal disputes, negative
news and media reports on the business or affairs of the
customers to understand its latest business development
and management condition, in order to conduct
continuous assessment on the customers’ repayment
ability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB s RO
(c) Mechanism in Determining Loan Term

(d)

42

The Group generally provides short-term loans with a
repayment term of less than three years which carry higher
interest rate than the market rate generally charged by
financial institutions. The repayment terms and conditions
are determined from the factors including the liquidity
needs of the customers and the Group’s funding and
cash flows management strategies. The Group will also
make reference to the terms and conditions of loan
arrangements provided by the financial institutions in
China and Hong Kong to companies in the same industry
of the customers to ensure that the loan or investment
agreements between the Group and its customers are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and
beneficial to the Shareholders.

Monitoring Loan Repayment and Recovery

The management of the Group will regularly communicate
with and monitor and manage the recoverability of debts
and conditions of the customers. If a customer fails to
repay the loan or interest on time or fails to comply with
material term of the investment agreement on payment or
settlement of investment return, the management of the
Group will initially take steps to understand the reasons
for its default (for instance, whether the customer’s
business had experienced any operational difficulties, any
other major debt cross-defaults, any winding-up petitions
filed against the customer, etc.) and will take appropriate
steps in light of the situation and urgency of the matter.
Generally, the following procedures for debt recovery will
be taken:

Stage 1: Assess the possibility for the customer to repay
the loan or receivables within one year for the purpose of
determining whether a time extension for such repayment
will be granted or business relationship be otherwise
maintained.
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(e)

Stage 2: Assess the possibility of realising the collaterals
provided and methods for disposal to recoup the loss.

Stage 3: Engage its legal adviser to commence necessary
legal actions against the customer and/or the guarantor(s)
including the obtaining of court or arbitrary order for
seizure, private sale or public auction of assets of the
borrowers.

Impairment Loss and Write-off Treatment

In general, where the management of the Group has
noticed the following circumstances, there may be possible
default in the loans or receivables concerned and provision
for impairment loss under the ECL model (as defined
below) may be necessary:

(i)  the customers experienced operational difficulties;

(i) worsened macroeconomic and industry conditions,
leading to further deterioration of the financial
conditions of the customers; or

(i) the customers have been involved in lawsuits for debt

collection.

The Group uses “expected credit losses (the “ECL")
model” as an impairment model according to HKFRS
9 which requires the Group to estimate the weighted
possibility of default events and recognise ECLs for
trade and other receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost accordingly.

(e)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

14

Under HKFRS 9, the loss allowances are measured on either
of the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) life-time ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life-time of a
financial instrument.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to fulfill its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

For financial assets at amortised cost of investment
segments (i.e. trade and other receivables, loan and
note receivables and loans to associates), the ECLs are
based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the life-
time ECLs. For determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group would
consider reasonable and supporting information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group has considered the probability of default and
the loss given default with reference to (i) the value of
collaterals/other contractual arrangements, (ii) financial
ability of the debtors; and (iii) other forward-looking
factors, if any. Time value of money is also considered if
the receivable is expected to be received more than one
year after the reporting date.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Sales of the Group’s products in manufacturing segment are
principally denominated in US dollars and the purchases of
materials and payments of operational expenses are mainly
denominated in US dollars, HK dollars and RMB. Most of
the Group’s purchases and expenses during the Year were
denominated in RMB. As such, the Group had incurred a net
exchange gain of approximately HK$19.93 million for the Year
(2022: a net exchange loss of HK$13.75 million) due to the
depreciation of US dollars and RMB.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had not entered into any
financial instruments for hedging purpose. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure in
the future and will consider hedging such exposure to minimise
exchange risk should the need arise.

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

(a) Macroeconomic Risk
The Group is operating in a highly competitive business
and economic environment. The manufacturing segment,
in particular, is in a turmoil which is being greatly affected
by the Sino-US trade war, Ukraine war, the increasing
tension in the Taiwan straits, complications caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic and its highly volatile customers,
combined with the rising labour and production costs.
The Group’s manufacturing segment has to compete
with its competitors on various factors, such as product
variety, product performance, customer service, quality,
pricing, new product innovation, timely delivery and brand
recognition.

On the other hand, volatility in the Hong Kong securities
market may affect the Group’s performance on listed
securities investments resulting in fluctuations in unrealised
fair value gains or losses. An interest rate hike is likely and
will not only affect the Group’s cost of borrowings, but
also costs of purchase of materials.
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(b) Credit Risk

(c)

46

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made and services are provided to customers with
an appropriate credit history. The Group mainly trades
with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group's policy that credit terms are granted subject to in-
depth credit verification procedures. In addition, trade
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
trade receivable balances of manufacturing segment are
substantially covered by credit insurance. In this regard, the
management considers that the Group’s credit risk under
the manufacturing segment is minimal. Since the Group
mainly trades with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collaterals.

In respect of loans to associates, loan receivables and
note receivables, the Group assesses the background and
financial conditions of the debtors, and requests securities
pledged from the debtors and/or guarantee as collaterals
from the debtors’ related parties in order to minimise credit
risk.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk, which would
cause a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to
perform an obligation by the counterparties arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets, was stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023.

Foreign Currency Risk

As the PCBs business is operating in the PRC, the Company
faces foreign currency risks due to the exchange gain/loss
from exchange rate fluctuations as well as the currency
conversion risk due to the converted net asset value
fluctuations of investment projects in the PRC. To manage
the foreign currency risk effectively, the Company closely
monitors foreign exchange markets and utilises multiple
strategic approaches, such as optimising cash management
strategy and deploying project finance instruments, to
control foreign exchange risk.
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NUMBER AND REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES
As at 31 December 2023, excluding those employed by the
Company's associates, the Group had 752 employees (31
December 2022: 874 employees). For the Year, our total staff
costs amounted to approximately HK$83.09 million (2022:
HK$101.47 million).

Under the Group's remuneration policy, employees (including
the directors and senior management of the Group) are
rewarded in line with market rate and in compliance with
statutory requirements of all jurisdictions where it operates.
Employees are also granted discretionary bonus subject to the
individual's performance and business results of the Group.

The Group follows a policy of encouraging its subsidiaries to
send their staff to attend training classes or seminars that are
related directly or indirectly to the Group's businesses.

DETAILS OF CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

Details of charges on the Group's assets for the Year are set
out in the paragraph headed “Significant Investments” and
"Provision of Financial Assistance” under the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report on
pages 15 and 23 respectively.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$37,000 (31 December 2022: HK$33,000)
and had no material contingent liabilities (31 December 2022:
HK$Nil).
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 28 June 2022, 8 July 2022, 20 July 2022, 29 July 2022
and 12 August 2022 respectively (collectively, the “R13.09 and
13.19 Announcements”). Unless otherwise defined, capitalised
terms used herein shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the R13.09 and 13.19 Announcements.

Further to the HK Demand Letter, the PRC Demand Letter, the
Second HK Demand Letter, and the Second PRC Demand Letter,
a letter (the "Third HK Demand Letter”) dated 9 August 2022
(and issued by the Hong Kong legal advisers of the Lender) was
received by the Company, which was addressed to the Company
and the Guarantor Subsidiaries in relation to the Loan and the
Guarantee. It was stated in the Third HK Demand Letter that
(among other matters):

(i)  the Lender had set 12 August 2022 as the deadline for the
group (either as Borrower, co-guarantors or otherwise) to
fully repay the Outstanding Sum; and

(ii) if the Lender failed to receive full repayment of the
Outstanding Sum on or before 12 August 2022, the Lender
should commence legal proceedings against the Company
and the Guarantor Subsidiaries to enforce its rights for
repayment of the Outstanding Sum and/or its rights over
the collaterals held by it.

The Group were not able to repay the entirety of the alleged
Outstanding Sum by 12 August 2022. The Group will continue
to assess the impact in connection with the HK Demand Letter,
the PRC Demand Letter, the Second HK Demand Letter, the
Second PRC Demand Letter, the Third HK Demand Letter and is
seeking professional advice, including but not limited to legal
and financial advice, on the actions it may take in relation to the
alleged Outstanding Sum and/or the said letters.

As at the date of this report, the Group has already engaged
legal advisers and has been proactively negotiating with the
Lender on the possibility of extending the repayment date of the
Loan and other possible options. Further announcement(s) will
be made by the Company in compliance with the Listing Rules
as and when appropriate or required. For further details, please
refer to the R13.09 and 13.19 Announcements.
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FORMATION OF AN INDEPENDENT
INVESTIGATION COMMITTEE

In order to investigate, among others, the qualification opinion
(the "Audit Qualifications”) issued from the Company’s
auditor (“Auditor”), an independent investigation committee
(“Independent investigation committee”) had been formed
with effect from 9 May 2023 which comprised Mr. Xu Xinwei
(independent non-executive Director) as the chairman, Ms. Xing
Mengwei (chief executive officer and executive Director), Mr.
Hung Yeung Alvin (former Director, resigned as a member of
the Independent investigation committee with effect from 26
September 2023), Ms. LU Wenting (investment manager) and
other senior management of the Company who are independent
of the investigation matters and such additional external
independent professional party(ies) as may be reasonably
required to assist in the investigation.

On 11 September 2023, the Company announced that the
Company had conducted a comprehensive review of the internal
control system concerning the Audit Qualifications and the
relevant aspects of the Company’s Debt investments of (1) the
provision of financial assistance (2) business in the asset and
shareholding restructuring business of the Company and (3) the
subscriptions of interest in offshore private funds between the
period from 2016 to 2023. In addition, an outsourced internal
control consultant, Roma Risk Advisory Limited (“Roma”),
has been engaged to conduct an internal control review (the
“Internal Control Review") for the Company.

On December 2023, the Company further announced that
having considered the deficiencies identified by Roma and
taking into account that all internal control deficiencies
have been resolved, the Board and the Audit Committee
acknowledge and concur with the findings by Roma and have
accepted and implemented Roma’s recommendations. The
Board and the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) believe that the Company’s internal control
system is effective and adequate.

Further details of the Internal Control Review were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 9 May 2023, 11 September
2023 and 12 December 2023 respectively.
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LITIGATION INVOLVING A SUBSIDIARY

Topsearch Printed Circuits Macao Commercial Offshore
Company Limited (“Topsearch Macao”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, was informed on 25
July 2023 that the Court (as defined in the announcement
of the Company published on 31 July 2023 (the "“31/7
Announcement”)) handed down its judgment on 19 July
2023 (the "Judgment”) for a claim made by Topsearch Macao
against Circuitronix LLC (“CTX"). The Judgment was entered
in favour of Topsearch Macao. However, the Judgment was
also entered in favour of CTX for its counterclaims. The net
amount that Topsearch Macao was adjudged to pay CTX in
the Judgement was US$6,944,217.36 bearing interest at the
applicable statutory rate. Topsearch Macao had engaged United
States legal advisors to handle the abovesaid and was currently
seeking further legal advice in relation to analyzing the grounds
of the decision for the Judgement and filing an appeal against
the Judgement.

On 29 February 2024, the Company announced that an appeal
(“Appeal”) was filed by Topsearch Macao with the district
court of appeal of the state of Florida of the United States (the
“Appeal Court”) against the Judgement in relation to the
claims made by Topsearch Macao against CTX. The Appeal was
subsequently dismissed and an order was made by the Appeal
Court on 26 January 2024 ("Order”), approving the dismissal
of the Appeal. Topsearch Macao has engaged United States
and Macao legal advisors to advise on, among other things, (i)
the procedural aspects and timeframe related to the possible
enforcement by CTX in Macao of the Judgment handed down
by the Court in the United States of America; and (ii) the impact
of the Judgment against the other members of the Group, in
the event that CTX proceeds to enforce the Judgement against
Topsearch Macao in Macao. Topsearch Macao has as at date of
this report yet to receive response from either the United States
or the Macao legal advisors.
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Given that Topsearch Macao does not own any substantial
asset nor does it generate any meaningful profit for the Group,
subject to the advice from the United States and the Macao
legal advisors as mentioned above, the Directors are of the
opinion that the Judgement and the Order will not have any
material adverse impact to the business operation and the
financial position of the Group.

Further details of the litigation involving a subsidiary were set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 31 July 2023 and
29 February 2024 respectively.

UPDATE ON AUDIT QUALIFICATIONS

References are made to the Company’s announcements
dated 18 January 2023, 30 March 2023 and 9 May 2023, the
Company’s 2022 Annual Report published on 28 April 2023 and
the Company's 2023 Interim Report. The update on the Audit
Qualifications is set out below:

(a) Receivables
Since the publication of 2022 audited annual results,
the Group had endeavored to maximise the recovery of
the relevant financial assistance by debt restructuring or
conducting lawsuits against several debtors.

Since the year of 2022, the Company intended to enter
“Ongoing
Debt Restructuring”) with an independent borrower to
reassign the debt of HK$128,134,793 (the “Receivables”)
in total from 5 independent borrowers. According to
the information currently available to the Group and a
preliminary assessment on the Ongoing Debt Restructuring,
key components of the Ongoing Debt Restructuring are
still in the process of negotiation as at the date of this
report and it is currently expected to be completed by the
second quarter of 2024. Therefore, the Auditor was unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
the recoverability of the Receivables in respect of the
Ongoing Debt Restructuring as at the date of this report.

into a debt restructuring agreement (the
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In addition, the Company engaged with the lawyer for
issuing the legal demand letter to the issuer of the CRTG
Bonds to transfer HK$480,000,000 in the principal amount
of the CRTG Bonds to the Company's nominated entity
and also engaged with independent financial advisers to
find potential distressed asset buyers for disposal of the
Overdue Financial Assistances during the Year. No further
evidences could be provided to our Auditor due to there
were not any significant progress up to the date of this
report.

Based on the information currently available to the
Group, a preliminary assessment on the progress of
the Ongoing Debt Restructuring and initiating legal
proceedings and disposal (after evaluating the costs and
benefits of such actions) against the other borrowers
of the Receivables of approximately HK$967,954,000
as at 31 December 2022 had been reviewed and
considered. The management of the Company expects
that the above actions will be completed by the year
ending 31 December 2024. The Group had received the
cumulative interest of HK$6,642,000 from four borrowers
during the Year and interest of HK$500,000 since
1 January 2023 from a borrower.

As at the date of this report, the management of the
Company had discussed with the Auditor and was
informed that the Audit Qualifications on the Receivables
might be eliminated for the year ending 31 December
2024 provided that the actions as set out above can be
implemented accordingly with sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence being provided to the Auditor.
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(b) Other Payables

The Auditor requested all appropriate audit evidence
including but not limited to the relevant agreement,
original invoices with bank slips and correspondences to
verify the nature and obligation of the Other Payables of
approximately HK$19.04 million as at 31 December 2022.
Thus, the Company has provided additional bank slips for
remittance and settlement and correspondences for the
Other Payables for approximately HK$16.67 million during
the Year.

The aforesaid documents provided by the Company which
were intended to remove the audit qualification on the
Other Payables for the balancing amount of approximately
HK$2.31 million as at 31 December 2023 were insufficient
to meet the Auditor’s requirements as at the date of this
report. The Auditor requested the Company to provide
further documents (if any) to verify the nature and
obligation of the balancing amount of the Other Payables
for approximately HK$2.31 million as at 31 December
2023. Such documents included copies of the executed
loan agreements, the original invoices in their respective
years of recognition, the remittance advices or the written
correspondences of the communication records with the
counterparty. However, there were no further requested
documents available for provision to the Auditor up to the
publication date of this report.

As the business license of the counterparty of the Other
Payables for approximately HK$2.31 million was revoked
on 9 June 2021 by its local authority in PRC and it is
difficult to locate this counterparty, the management of
the Company will consult with the PRC lawyer to write
off the Other Payables in the amount of approximately
HK$2.31 million. It is expected to be completed by the end
of 2024.

As at the date of this report, the management of the
Company had discussed with the Auditor. It was understood
that the audit qualification on the Other Payables would be
removed and no further Written Back would be recognised
in respect of the residual Other Payables for approximately
HK$2.31 million by the financial year ending 31 December
2024 if the proposed actions as set out above can be
implemented with sufficient and approximate audit evidence
being provided.
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(c) Income Tax Payables

54

The management of the Company and its subsidiaries
had proactively liaised with Inland Revenue Department
("IRD") to follow up with tax issues. Our subsidiaries were
in the process of engaging the tax experts to issue the
tax opinion in relation to their tax payables. In order to
remove the Audit Qualifications of Income Tax Payables,
two tax representatives have been engaged to prepare the
tax returns for submission and consultation with IRD for
determining the final assessment of the tax payables of
several subsidiaries of the Company.

During the Year from 1 January 2023 to the date of
this report, 19 subsidiaries of the Company, including
10 subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands (the
“Cayman Subsidiaries”) and 9 subsidiaries incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI Subsidiaries”), have
submitted or returned back their tax returns to IRD through
their tax representatives respectively. As at the date of
this report, 4 BVI Subsidiaries received the enquiry letters
from IRD to provide additional supporting documents or
letter of the offshore claim is subject to review, whereas
4 BVI Subsidiaries received the final assessment of the
tax payables while the remaining 1 BVI Subsidiaries and
all Cayman Subsidiaries had not yet received the final
assessments of tax payables from IRD.

Several subsidiaries of the Company were in the process
of preparing their replies for submission to IRD but could
not receive the final assessments of tax payables from
IRD. It became the outstanding audit evidence to the
Auditor which could not remove the Audit Qualifications
for the Income Tax Payables. The Company will further
submit tax opinion issued by the independent tax expert to
address those Income Tax Payables by the year ending 31
December 2024.

As at the date of this report, the management of the
Company had discussed with the Auditor that the
Audit Qualifications on the Income Tax Payables might
be removed for the year ending 31 December 2024
provided that the proposed actions as set out above can
be implemented with sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence being provided.
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(d) The Audit Committee and the Board’s View on the

Audit Qualifications

The Audit Committee had reviewed and agreed with the
Audit Qualifications and did not have any disagreement
with the Board’s view in respect of the effectiveness of
the plan to resolve the Audit Qualifications. The Audit
Committee had held several meetings with the Auditor
to discuss the Audit Qualifications during the year of
2023 and up to the date of this report. It expressed their
agreement with the management of the Company about
their opinion, view and assessment.

As set out in the Company’s announcements dated 11
September 2023 and 12 December 2023 respectively (the
“Announcements”). Unless otherwise defined, capitalised
terms used in this report shall have the same meanings
as those defined in the Announcements. The Group had
already taken certain remedial actions in response to
the issues identified in the Phase One Review and the
deficiencies identified by Roma in the Phase One Review
had been reviewed and evaluated in the Phase Two Review.

Having considered the deficiencies identified by Roma and
taking into account that all internal control deficiencies
have been resolved, the Board and the Audit Committee
acknowledge and concur with the findings by Roma and
have accepted and implemented Roma’s recommendations.
The Board and the Audit Committee believe that the
Company’s internal control system is effective and
adequate.
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EXPLANATION OF QUALIFIED OPINION

Reasons for the Audit Qualifications

n

56

(a)

(b)

Recoverability of the Receivables

To confirm the recoverability of a loan to an
associate, certain trade receivables, loan receivables,
note receivables and certain other receivables of
approximately HK$733,051,000 as at 31 December
2023 and approximately HK$967,954,000 as at 31
December 2022, respectively (the “Receivables”),
the Auditor requested, among other things, the
audit evidence of subsequent settlements of the
Receivables that may be received by the Group.
However, as at the date of this report, the Group did
not receive any subsequent settlements of any of the
Receivables and hence none of the documents or
materials in relation to subsequent settlements were
presented to the Auditor. The Auditor was, therefore,
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy the recoverability of the Receivables.

Nature of the Other Payables

To verify and confirm the nature of other payables
and accruals of approximately HK$2,311,000 as at
31 December 2023 and approximately HK$2,375,000
as at 31 December 2022, respectively (the "Other
Payables”), the Auditor mainly requested for the
related contracts and/or agreements, payment
advices or slips, statements and calculation basis.
The management of the Company has provided to
the Auditor all available details of the identified
transactions in relation to the Other Payables.
However, as some of the supporting documents
in respect of some short-term borrowings
agreed by way of oral confirmation, such as the
balance confirmation from the lenders or further
supplemental written agreements were not available
to be provided by the Company to the Auditor as at
the date of this report.
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(c) Tax assessment of the Tax Payables

To verify and confirm the obligation of tax payables
of approximately HK$266,790,000 as at 31 December
2023 and approximately HK$268,471,000 as at 31
December 2022, respectively (the “Tax Payables”),
the Auditor mainly requested for the final tax
assessment of each subsidiary of the Company from
IRD. The Company has notified the chargeability of
Hong Kong profits tax to IRD and provided to the
Auditor all details of the profits tax computation
in relation to the Tax Payables. However, the final
tax assessment from IRD had not been issued and
presented to the Auditor up to the date of this report.
Accordingly, the Auditor could only verify and confirm
the obligation of the Tax Payables upon receipt of the
final tax assessment.

Impact on the Company’s Financial Position
(a) Receivables

Given that the Receivables in the aggregate sum
of approximately HK$733.05 million has been
long overdue and remained outstanding as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: HK$967.95
million), the Company has continued to negotiate
with the counterparties for settlement proposal and/
or commenced or considering to commence legal
actions and/or litigation proceedings against the
relevant counterparties with a view to recover the
Receivables.
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(b)

(c)

As the recoverability of the Receivables is subject
to the outcome of any effective or successful
negotiations or litigations which have not yet to
be materialised as at the date of this report, the
Auditor was not satisfied on the recoverability of the
Receivables.

In the event that the entire aggregate amount of the
Receivables could not be recovered by the Group,
the Group may have to write off the Receivables
and record a potential impairment loss/written off of
approximately HK$733.05 million.

Other Payables

In the event that the outstanding Other Payables were
overstated, the Group may have to record an income
in its consolidated statement of profit or loss of the
financial statements (the “Financial Statements”).

In the event that the outstanding Other Payables
were understated, the Group may have to record an
expense in its consolidated statement of the Financial
Statements.

Tax payables

The income tax payables of approximately
HK$266.79 million and approximately HK$268.47
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively
mainly represented income tax payables of certain
subsidiaries and funds under Hong Kong Profits Tax.

In the event that the final assessment for the
abovementioned income tax payables from IRD
indicates that such income tax payables are
understated or overstated, the Group may have to
record more expenses or income subsequently.
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(lll) Management’s View, Position and Assessment on
the Audit Qualifications
(a) Receivables

(b)

In relation to the recoverability of the balancing
amounts of the Receivables in the aggregate
amount of approximately HK$733.05 million, the
management of the Company has initiated actions
including but not limited to legal action against the
relevant borrowers and debtors and also conducted
debt restructuring. The Company believed that the
abovementioned balances can be collected in the
coming three years, therefore further provision for
impairment losses of the abovementioned balances
have been provided after having considered the
increasing risk of recoverability.

However, as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Reasons for the Audit Qualifications — Recoverability
of the Receivables” in this report, due to the lack of
the audit evidence of subsequent settlement(s) of the
abovementioned balances, the Auditor was unable to
ascertain the recoverability of the abovementioned
balances.

Other Payables

As at the date of this report, the management of
the Company could not provide sufficient supporting
evidences to verify some opening balances of
the Other Payables in the aggregate amount
of approximately HK$2.31 million and shall be
confirmed with the creditors by entering into further
supplemental agreements. As at the date of this
report, the Company is still liaising with the relevant
creditors.

The management of the Company had tried its best
endeavour but still could not fully identify all details
of the balancing amounts of the Other Payables,
therefore the management of the Company agreed to
the Auditor’s opinion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEm a2
(c) Tax Payables

The Company has provided sufficient amounts of the
tax payables in the consolidated Financial Statements,
but the tax payables can only be confirmed by the
relevant tax authority after having reviewed and
assessed the submitted tax returns. Some subsidiaries
of the Company were still in the discussion of tax
assessment as offshore tax may be claimed. The
subsidiaries of the Company have submitted their tax
returns to IRD but have not yet received any final tax
assessment as at the date of this report.

(IV) Audit Committee’s View on the Audit

(V)

60

Qualifications

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed to the
Audit Qualifications and does not have any disagreement
with the Board’s view. The Audit Committee had held
several meetings with the Auditor to discuss about the
Audit Qualifications and expressed their agreement with
the management of the Company about their position,
view and assessment during the meetings as stated in
the section headed “(c) Management'’s View, Position and
Assessment on the Audit Qualifications” above.

The Company’s Action Plans to Address the Audit

Qualifications

(a) Receivables
In order to lower the investment risks and reduce
the losses, the Group had put all reasonable efforts
to maximise the recovery of the relevant financial
assistance by debt restructuring or conducting
lawsuits against several debtors. The Company will
keep on assessing and ascertaining the recoverability
of the aforesaid Receivables and further increase the
provisions for impairment loss for the coming years
to lower the amount of such items under the Audit
Quialifications.

Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2023

(v) EZE8

(V)

TR

KRB EREGEMBREABE
NIRBEFHEHNEENEE  BIE
HIRIEA R RN E R KT
EATIR R KRR » T A S - B
IRPIBE AR MBEFR - AR T
DB AT MEETIRT R &
ABMBLABEARF R REIZERR
xOERFKREEH BARKEER
RIEETIR o

(c)

EHREERNEZE

ERZECCERKAAERERR Bl
EAAEEFEENIIS -BZEEGEH
ZEMBITHEREZTRFREZR LN
ZERTAREXTOEEBHRERER
B X LG R G —BRAEERREE
EBREMIIS BE R he

FAREEREERNITEE

Vi e

HERRERBRBAVER &
HEEfFHUEESH BEUNEHE
HAHETEHBAETHANTX
WEIER M BER - AR R EE
ST 1 R i 7 L it F& W AR TR AY BT LU [
Mo W KRR FEE—TIBMNBE
BREEE URECERFRERRE
&

(a)



(b)

In order to collect the outstanding Receivables,
the Group commenced legal proceedings against
four borrowers and the aggregate amounts of the
Receivables represented HK$413.21 million as at
31 December 2023. As at the date of this report,
all the legal actions are still on-going. Based on
the information currently available, the Directors
estimated that the litigations will be concluded more
than two years. In addition, the Group is also involved
in the debt restructurings process on five borrowers
during the Year and the aggregate amounts of the
Receivables represented HK$208.90 million as at 31
December 2023.

As at the date of this report, no formal agreement
on debt restructuring was concluded due to the
continuing adverse impacts of the economic
downturn. The management of the Company is
still in the process of assessing and ascertaining
the recoverability of the Receivables. However,
further provisions for impairment or written off
of Receivables or commencement of the litigation
against the borrowers would be considered to recover
the Receivables in two years.

Other Payables

The management of the Company plans to seek
further clarification from the Company’s creditors and
continue to negotiate with them for reaching the
final settlement. The Company may further consult
with the appropriate advisors to assess whether those
uncertain Other Payables and accruals should be
written off.

As at the date of this report, the management of
the Company is still in the process of consulting with
the PRC lawyer for writing off those uncertain Other
Payables of approximately HK$2.31 million and all the
procedures are expected to complete by the end of
the year of 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(c) Tax Payables

Although the Group does not aware of the reason
leading to the delay in receiving the final assessment
from the IRD during the Year, the management of
the Company will proactively follow up with IRD to
provide the outstanding audit evidence to the Auditor
in order to remove the Audit Qualifications for the Tax
Payables.

Upon receipt of the final assessment of tax payables
from IRD, the appropriate adjustments will be
provided by the Company for the amount of tax
payables. It is expected that certain appropriate
adjustments will be made to lower the amount of
tax payables during the year of 2024, and the Audit
Qualifications will be removed accordingly.

As at the date of this report, the Company has not
yet received all final assessment of the tax payables
from IRD. Meanwhile, the Group is in the process of
engaging the tax experts to obtain the tax opinion
in relation to tax payables of all subsidiaries of the
Company and to engage a tax representative to
submit the tax returns and response the enquiry from
IRD for determining the final assessment of the tax
payables in order to remove the Audit Qualifications
of the Tax Payables.

(VI) Expected Timetable to Remove of the Audit

62

Qualifications

The management of the Company expects that the Audit
Qualifications for the Other Payables and the Tax Payables
will be removed by next financial year of the Company
(i.e. for the year ending 31 December 2024) after taking
into account of the Company's action plan as stated in
the section headed “(e) The Company's Action Plans to
Address the Audit Qualifications” above.

The Company expects that the Audit Qualifications for
the Receivables may be removed in stages within the
coming year (i.e. by the year ending 31 December 2024)
after having taken into account of the development and
outcomes of the debt restructuring and lawsuits.
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To improve the recoverability of the Receivables and lower
the credit risk of the Group, the management of the
Company is negotiating with the creditors to reach final
settlement by way of full settlement at the discounted
amount, settlement by installment basis and/or additional
collaterals. Having considered the details of the amount
of each Audit Qualifications, the management of the
Company considers that the Company's action plan with
certain borrowers and creditors may result in different
settlement schedules, which will have impact on the
expected time to remove the relevant Audit Qualifications.

After having discussed with the Auditor, the management
of the Company understands and expects that all Audit
Qualifications may be removed by the year ending 31
December 2024 if the proposed action plans as disclosed
in the section headed “(V) The Company’'s Action Plans to
Address the Audit Qualifications” above should have been
fully implemented whereas sufficient appropriate audit
evidence can be provided to the Auditor.
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PROSPECTS

The Group has been actively diversifying its business and will
continue to better utilise its available resources to develop
and upgrade the traditional manufacturing business in PCBs,
to maintain the treasury investments and financial services,
and to explore the scope of business for identifying new
investment and business development opportunities, including
but not limited to, the broad application of artificial intelligence
technology in telecommunications, the construction of
intelligent cities and financial technology.

The Group will actively take actions to recover the aforesaid
investments, including but not limited to initiate legal
proceedings, debt restructuring and disposal after evaluating
the cost and benefit of such actions, and explore the option of
ceasing the business of Financial Services and Offshore Private
Funds Management.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFFECTING THE GROUP
AFTER THE YEAR

Save as disclosed above, there is no important event occurred
subsequent to 31 December 2023 which would materially affect
the Group's operating and financial performance as at the date
of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are of the
opinion that during the Year, the Group has complied with the
"Corporate Governance Code” in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code"”) throughout the Year.

The Board is committed to the principles of transparency,
accountability and independence highlighted by the CG Code to
better enhance the value of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) and proper management of corporate
assets in the following ways:

1. ensuring the decision-making process, risk management
process, internal audit and controls, disclosure of
information and the communication with stakeholders are
carried out in accordance with good management practices
and compliance with the respective regulatory standards;

2. cultivating a culture of integrity, transparency and
accountability for the Company, its staff and the Directors
and emphasising the importance of their roles in such an
environment; and

3. adopting quality standards widely recognised to foster
quality management in every aspect of daily operations to
enhance the performance and value of the Company as a
whole.

Corporate Strategy

The primary objective of the Company is to enhance long-
term business return for Shareholders. To achieve this objective,
the Group's strategy is to place high emphasis on achieving
long-term financial performance and maintaining the Group’s
strong financial profit. The “Chairman’s Statement” and
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” sections in this
annual report contain discussions and analyses of the Group’s
performance and the basis on which the Group generates or
preserves value over the longer term, and the basis on which
the Group will execute its strategy for achieving the Group’s
objectives.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEELARS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

The Directors confirm that, during the Year, the Company acted
in compliance with the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE
"MODEL CODE")

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct (the “Own
Dealing Code"”) regarding securities transactions by Directors
on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in
the Model Code in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

The Company, having made specific enquiries, confirms that
each member of the Board complied with the Own Dealing
Code throughout the Year. Members of the Company's
management, who, due to their positions in the Company, are
likely to be in possession of inside information, also complied
with the provisions of the Own Dealing Code.

The Own Dealing Code has been uploaded to the Company's
website.

CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION OF THE
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

With effect from 26 September 2023, Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin
has resigned as an executive Director, Chairman of the executive
committee of the Board (the "Executive Committee”) and
a member of the independent investigation committee of the
Company due to his intention to concentrate on the pursuit and
development of his other business activities.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 26 September 2023.

With effect from 17 February 2023, Mr. Li Yongjun has been
redesignated from a non-executive Director to an executive

Director and has remained as the chairman of the Board.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 February 2023.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board consisted of six Directors, with a variety
and a balance of gender, skills and experience in accounting,
banking, manufacturing, marketing, finance and investment
professions. Their biographical particulars are set out on pages
121 to 135 of this annual report. List of Directors and their role
and function, which sets out the members and composition
of the Board, has been uploaded on the Stock Exchange's
website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website
(www.renco.com.hk).

Members of the Board and their respective attendance to Board
meetings and general meetings held during the Year are as
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follows:
Number of Number of
attendance at attendance at
Board general
meetings meetings
Exggs REAEZ
Names of Directors EENUS HEE =
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Yongjun (Chairman) FXERE (£/F)
(redesignated from Non-executive Director to (R —ZE_=Z#F _H++HHIFE
Executive Director on 17 February 2023) HITEZBFHPTES) 717 1/1
Ms. Xing Mengwei (Chief Executive Officer) — TE B+ (TE#E#) 717 7
Mr. Cheok Ho Fung SR ELE 717 1/1
Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin LEEE (W ZEZ=
(resigned on 26 September 2023) WA=+ HEEE) 5/6 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BILFERITEE
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence 2ERE 6/7 171
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei EEESLE 717 171
Mr. Xu Xinwei mEBKE 717 171
The number of Board meetings held during the Year was 7. KEEBRITLtREEZGGH-
The number of general meetings held during the Year was 1. AEEGRT—ARRARG -
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During the Year, the Company had complied with the minimum
requirement of three independent non-executive directors
(“INEDs”) forming more than one-third of the Board, all of
whom have accounting and related financial management
expertise. They are dedicated to provide the Company with
professional advice with respect to the steady operation and
development of the Company. They also exercised supervision
and coordination to safeguard the interests of the Company and
its Shareholders.

Each INED for the Year had provided an annual confirmation
of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such annual confirmation received from
each of the INEDs, the Company considers that all INEDs are still
considered to be independent during the Year for their tenure
of office in the Company for the purpose of Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

All existing INEDs have signed letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of not more than three years, and will be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company pursuant to the bye laws of
the Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

The remuneration of INEDs is reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee and is fixed from time to time by the Board subject
to the authority granted pursuant to the Bye-laws by the
Shareholders at the Company’s general meetings.

There were no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship(s)), if any, between the
Directors and in particular, between the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the members of the Board are
Mr. Li Yongjun (chairman of the Board), Mr. Cheok Ho Fung
and Ms. Xing Mengwei being executive Directors; and Mr. Lau
Fai Lawrence, Mr. Mak Kwok Kei and Mr. Xu Xinwei being
independent non-executive Directors.
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THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

One of the main responsibilities of the Board is to supervise
and direct the management of the Company to operate under
good corporate governance in order to maximise value of
the Shareholders while balancing the interest of its various
stakeholders. The Board holds meetings quarterly so as to
monitor the performance and discuss the business development
of the Company against the budget, to discuss and decide
on major corporate, strategic and operational issues, and to
evaluate any available investment opportunities.

The major duties performed by the Board are as follows:
1. setting the Company’s values and standards;

2. setting the objectives of the Company and responsibilities
of the Board and its various committees;

3. establishing the strategic direction for the Company;
4.  setting targets for the management of the Group;

5.  monitoring the performance of the management of the
Group;

6. reviewing the annual and interim results of the Group;

7. ensuring that a framework of prudent and effective
internal control is in place to assess and manage the risk
of the Group and implementing appropriate systems to
manage these risks;

8. overseeing the Company’s relationships with its
Shareholders, customers, the community, various
government authorities, interest groups and others;

9. identifying and assessing any matters of substantial
Shareholder(s) or Director(s) resulting in conflict of interest;

10. determining material acquisitions and disposals of assets,
investments, capital, projects, authority levels, major
treasury policies, risk management policies and key human
resources issues; and
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1.

considering and determining issues which are the
responsibilities of the Board pursuant to the Company’'s
Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws and the
relevant laws and regulations in force by which the
Company is governed from time to time.

The Board is also responsible for the following corporate
governance duties:

to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
any amendment or updating (if any);

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and the Company’s
senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Company’s
employees and Directors;

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report (the
“CG Report”) under the CG Code; and

to be responsible for performing any other corporate
governance duties and functions set out in the CG Code
and the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time), or
delegating the responsibility to a committee or committees
(if applicable).

During the Year, the Company had reviewed its corporate

governance policy by the Board in achieving high standards of

corporate governance duties. The Board will further develop and

review this policy regularly and at least annually so as to make

recommendations on any amendment or updating (if any).
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During the Year, the Board had delegated its authority to the
Nomination Committee to review its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) and nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) for the Company and the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee. The Board (via the
reporting from the Nomination Committee) had reviewed and
considered implementing the measurable objectives set for the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy during the Year and would,
together with the Nomination Committee, regularly review the
progress on implementing and achieving those objectives.

The Board will endeavour to maintain the gender diversity
across all levels of the Group from time to time. Currently the
Board has one female executive Director among the total of six
Directors. The Board will endeavour to continue and achieve
gender diversity when appointing potential successors to the
Board in future with reference to the Board Diversity Policy
and Nomination Policy but no specific targets or timelines to
further enhance gender diversity have been set for the time
being as it is of the view that all aspects of diversity should be
considered as a whole in the selection of suitable candidates for
appointment as members to the Board.

As of 31 December 2023, 52.5% and 47.5% of the Group's
employees were male and female respectively. It indicated that
the Group had achieved the total gender diversity near to the
balance. Among the Group’s workers working in PCBs plant in
China (no staff being classified as workers in financial business
segment) as at 31 December 2023, 47.7% and 52.3% were
male and female workers respectively. Among the staff (non-
workers) of the Group working in Hong Kong and China for
PCBs business segment and financial business segment as at 31
December 2023, 66.7% and 33.3% were male and female staff
(non-workers) working in Hong Kong and China. It indicated
that more female workers were involving in PCBs manufacturing
process in China whereas more male staff (non-workers) were
working for PCBs non-manufacturing process and financial
business segment such as sale and marketing, office and
warehouse administration.

For further details on the diversity ratio of the Group’s
workforce including but not limited to gender and age, please
refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
page 318 of this annual report.
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The Board will continue to consider gender diversity as
significant factor when making future appointments to the
members of the Board and the Group’s workforce. However,
the Board acknowledges that all other aspects of diversity
should also be considered as a whole in the selection of suitable
candidates for appointments to the suitable positions of the
Group. The Group welcomes increased female representation
at all different levels especially at the Board and management
levels in view of the current composition of the Board and
management. Being an equal opportunity employer, the Group
would consider not only gender factor but all other relevant
factors in making its decision on fitting the right person to the
right position in the Group.

The Board delegates to the management in respect of the major
corporate matters as stated below:

1. preparation of the annual and interim results of the Group
to be approved by the Board;

2 execution of the corporate strategies and directions of the
Group adopted by the Board;

3. implementation of sufficient systems of internal controls
and risk management procedures of the Group; and

4. carrying out daily business operations and decision-
makings of the Group, etc.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board
has established various committees to oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. These committees are governed
by their respective terms of reference, which describe the
authorities and duties of these committees and will be regularly
reviewed and updated by the Board. These committees include
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, and the Executive Committee (the
“Committees”) whose terms of reference had been set out in
writing, and if statutorily required, have been uploaded to the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.renco.com.hk) respectively.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. The Board was aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The Company's auditor, as mentioned in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements, determined that
the Group incurred a consolidated net loss of approximately
HK$376,286,000 during the Year and had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$916,410,000 as at 31 December 2023.
In addition, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$1,195,468,000 which would be due for
repayment within the next twelve months and an amount
due to a Director of approximately HK$16,957,000, which
is repayable on demand and bank balances and deposits of
approximately HK$23,877,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The Directors have adopted and
considered different measures in various dimensions to improve
the Group’s liquidity and financial position as disclosed in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
Directors and the audit committee of the Company are of the
view that the Company has sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and financial obligations as it falls due and that it
is appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors referred
to the audit committee of the Company to enquire about the
basis to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis and discuss with the Company’s auditors to
understand the reasoning for the view concerning the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, and consult
on whether there are any internal control deficiencies causing
such material uncertainty. The Directors note that the audit
committee of the Company did not disagree with the Board.
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The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor,
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 143 to 153 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is composed of three INEDs during the
Year.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is an INED who has
the appropriate professional qualifications and experience
in accounting or related financial management expertise as
required by the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee discharges
its responsibilities as follows and in accordance with its existing
terms of reference being adopted by the Board:

1. reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the interim and
annual results and financial statements of the Company
and of the Group and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgements;

2. reviewing and monitoring the reporting, accounting and
financial policies and practices of the Group;

3. reviewing and primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment, retirement, resignation or removal of
the Company’s external auditor and reviewing their
remuneration and terms of engagement, discussing their
audit plan and scope of audit, and monitoring the external
auditor’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process up to applicable standard, and also reporting
the issues raised by the external auditor, including but
not limited to those stated in their management letter
addressed to the Board, implementing policy on engaging
external auditor to supply non-audit services;

4. acting as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;
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5. reviewing the fairness and reasonableness of connected
transaction(s) or continuing connected transaction(s) of the
Company, if any;

6. ensuring full access by the respective responsible teams
of the Group under corporate governance function of any
concerns that may have arisen during the course of their
corporate governance works;

7. conducting annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control and risk management systems, and
the Company’s internal audit function as delegated by the
Board and considering any findings of major investigation
of its internal control and risk management matters
and, internal audit function; and ensuring the Group's
management has discharged its duty to have an effective
internal control and risk management systems and internal
audit function including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff from the Group; and

8.  reviewing arrangements which can be used by employees
of the Company, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters, and the whistleblowing policy,
anti-corruption and anti-bribery policy and systems for
employees which has been adopted by the Board.

During the Year, four Audit Committee meetings were held
(whereas all of which had been held with the attendance of
the Company’s external auditor) to review the financial results
and reports for the year ended 31 December 2022 and for
the six months ended 30 June 2023, risk management and
internal control processes, related party transactions, continuing
connected transactions and discloseable transactions (if any),
roles and responsibilities as well as works performed by the
teams under corporate governance function, and the re-election
of the Company'’s external auditor and audit fee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
annual results and financial statements of the Group for
the Year, including the significant accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group.
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The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee WRAHREE > ZEBERETEETRENREETZZHE

at its meetings during the Year is set out below: wERESIUWT -
Attendance
Members of Audit Committee EZEZEEWME HEE
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (Chairman) R4 (FE) 4/4
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei EHEELE 4/4
Mr. Xu Xinwei wmEBLE 3/4
Auditor’s Remuneration % S EM B <=

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the BIZEECBEEZRESTMEREINEZHAN-
appointment and re-election of the external auditor. During the WRAEER  AEBHIINEZBMTEZES
Year, the remunerations paid/payable to the external auditor, EtEIEHFFAAERATSZHUTER !
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, were as follows:

Fee paid/
payable
Type of services provided by the external auditor  JMEEZ BET 1R it 2 AR 75 48 5 gt ENER
(HK$)
(B7T)
Audit services: ZER -
Audit of the consolidated financial statements for the BWZHEE_E_=F+_B=+—H
year ended 31 December 2023; I FEZFERKEMBRE 1,150,000
Audit of the company’s financial statements and BB E_ZTE_=F+"HB=+—HIL
issuing a compliance report of Renco Investments FENRMKREERAB ZFEME
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company for the year RRMIBEERRSE ) &
ended 31 December 2023; and 20,000
Audit of the company’s financial statements of BB E_SE_=_F+Z“HE=+—HL
Topsearch International (Holdings) Limited and FENZESHBRERBRAEIERE
Topsearch Printed Circuits (HK) Limited, both are BERSLEREBERABDZFE
subsidiaries of the Company for the year ended M F5 R 3R
31 December 2023. 20,000
1,190,000
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
During the Year, three members of the Remuneration
Committee were INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee performs the following roles
and functions in accordance with its terms of reference and its
written remuneration policy adopted by the Board:

1. ensuring formal and transparent procedures for overseeing,
developing and determining policies on the remuneration
packages of Directors and the Company’s senior
management;

2. assessing the achievement and performance and reviewing
the performance-based remuneration of executive
Directors and the Company’s senior management by
reference to the Company’s corporate goals;

3. approving the terms of executive Directors’ service
agreements or letters of appointment (as appropriate);

4. providing effective supervision and administration of the
Company’s share award or option schemes and other share
incentive schemes (if available);

5. (i) determining with delegated responsibility on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
the Company’s senior management or (i) recommending
to the Board on executive Directors’ and the Company’s
senior management’s remuneration packages (whereas the
Remuneration Committee adopted this model (i) during the
Year), and (iii) reviewing the remuneration of non-executive
Directors and INEDs; and

6. ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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During the Year, three Remuneration Committee meetings
were held to discuss and review the remuneration packages
and bonus (if any) of executive Directors and other Directors
(including proposed appointment of new Directors) and the
terms of their service agreements and letters of appointment,
the management’s remuneration and the remuneration
policy of the Company and the Group (with reference to the
Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference and Listing
Rules).

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee at its meeting for the Year is set out below:

REFE #HHEETERT=R > BUEY
E‘H‘%E’Zf%ﬂ‘aﬁm EERHMES (8 %LE%%E
ZHESE) ZHNSBRIEA WA) «HRF
WEAREEEZHER BEEBHMN TR K
FEFBZHFMBR SEHFMEETHEEE
K EHRA o

REFE SFMEEGMENREERZIHE
feEESWMT

Attendance
Members of Remuneration Committee HNZEGHRE HEX
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (Chairman) EREKLE (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence REHLE 3/3
Mr. Xu Xinwei WEENRE 2/3

Regular review on the Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy is intended to provide a flexible set
of guidelines for the effective functioning of the Company’s
remuneration package. The Board and the Remuneration
Committee intend to review the Remuneration Policy at least
annually and anticipate that modifications may be necessary
from time to time as the Company’s needs and circumstances
evolve, and as applicable if and where the legal obligations or
any applicable statutory requirements change. During the Year,
the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the Remuneration
Policy.

During the Year, the Company has reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of Directors and the Company’s senior management. Details
of remuneration payable to the five highest paid individuals by
band are disclosed in note 17 of the Note to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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During the Year, the Board has reviewed the remuneration policy
of the Company (the “Remuneration Policy”) whereas the
details of which were set out below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Remuneration Policy is to set out the
principles by which the remuneration of the Directors and the
senior management of the Group are determined.

Remuneration of the Directors

The Directors, with the exception of the Chairman of the
Board, receive a fixed fee. The fee is determined from time to
time by the Board, and subject to review by the Remuneration
Committee pursuant to the power given by the Shareholders
under the Bye-laws, with reference to the contribution of the
Directors in terms of time, skills and expertise, the prevailing
market conditions and the remuneration benchmark in the
industry.

No Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his
own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee would review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of Directors for misconduct in consistent with their contractual
terms of employment and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate.

Remuneration of executive Directors and Senior
Management

The executive Directors and senior management of the Group
are rewarded in line with the market rate and in compliance
with statutory requirements of all jurisdictions where the
Company operates.

Reference should be made by considering salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

A significant proportion of executive Directors’ remuneration
should link rewards to corporate and individual performance.

The Directors may also be entitled to a bonus which depends
on both their own performance and the financial results of the
Group.
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The remuneration levels of the executive Directors and senior
management of the Group should be sufficient to attract and
retain Directors to run the Company successfully without paying
more than necessary and with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives.

Each of the executive Directors and senior management of the
Group should have executed contract of employment or letter
of employment with the Company, whereas any compensation
payable for any loss or termination of office or appointment
has been stated in employment contracts or letters whose
contractual terms are fair and not excessive.

Remuneration of Non-executive Directors

The remuneration of non-executive Directors should be
recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board for
consideration.

Each of the non-executive Directors should have executed letter
of employment with the Company, whereas any compensation
payable for any loss or termination of office or appointment
should be stated in employment letters whose contractual terms
should be fair and not excessive.

Reference should be made by considering salaries paid by

comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE RHZET
During the Year, three members of the Nomination Committee RA&AFERIEREEE =L HEBHEABILIEH
were INEDs. (K

The Nomination Committee performs the following roles and REZEEFIRBLUTIRAERERER > LIEIR
functions in accordance with its nomination procedures and EEEECFEMAHESEREZEIELK
criteria as follows and in accordance with its terms of reference &> FB1T LA B 7S KR BB BE -

and its written nomination policies adopted by the Board:

1. determining the policy for the nomination of Directors 1. EBEAEEIRLEE2HE;
during the Year;

2. adopting the nomination procedures and the process 2. XAEERE FHRVFASHIREREAD

and criteria to select and recommend candidates for HBARR KEREBEEAZBERFRE
directorship during the Year by considering the candidates’ BBMARIFERE - —MRmBRRE
past performance and experience, academic and working IR LR DU B R A\ R4
qualifications, general market conditions in accordance EEVERMEE - QFESETHEES
with the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and the BRBEEREREEZ N THEK ;

Bye-laws so as to make the composition of the Board filled
with a diverse and a balance of skills and experience;

SECSE5H MREREEERAT 8l



Corporate Governance Report

TEELARS

3. reviewing regularly the roles of Directors and considering
any issue on conflict of interest, their performance and
conduct;

4. assessing the independence of INEDs pursuant to the
requirements set out in the Listing Rules; and

5. reviewing regularly the Nomination Policy and Board
Diversity Policy of the Company to ensure the effectiveness
of these policies and to review any progress on achieving
those objectives in these policies.

During the Year, three Nomination Committee meetings

were held to discuss and review (i) the retiring Directors to

be re-elected at the 2023 annual general meeting of the

Company; (i) the independence of the INEDs; (iii) the terms

of appointment of Directors and proposed new Directors; (iv)

the structure, size and composition (including the gender,

skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (v) the role,
performance and conduct of the existing Directors (including

but not limited to the issues on any conflict of interest); (vi)

any nomination of potential candidate in place of the resigned

3. EEMGEREZEE BRI REKEST
M CHRTEEREZAT,

4. WEETRFAEREFZBILIFNT
EFZBUM K

5. EFMSEARATZRLBRKREZTEN
BEZTEER UMEFRZFBEERZ A
WIEENZSHREBMERZEME
B o

REFER RLEZEERET=REH 1T
SNmRBHOBREATDZ B =ZFRR
BERGLBEEZRESSE (NVBUFATE
EZ2BIUM (INESKEBENEFZEERK
FOVEFEZRIE Y ABRAEMN (BFEER
WA MBI RER) (VREESFZHE KR
KRBT (BEEBARRAEBEANZERZE
B) VInEFERAAERTEESZEME
EAE; k(i) B2ERLEZEEREEER L
FE%%'J)ZIK’A?ZT%%E&%&%T_D%E&” (B4

Director(s) to the Board; and (vii) the Nomination Policy and HustEEEKRERZSEENERE) -

Board Diversity Policy (including its measurable objectives and

progress on achieving those objectives) of the Company (with

reference to the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference

and Listing Rules).

The attendance record of each member of the Nomination RAEE>RIZELEZEEMENRHEEEIPE

Committee at its meeting for the Year is set out below: soExE ST -

Attendance

Members of Nomination Committee REEEEWE HEX
Mr. Xu Xinwei (Chairman) BEELE (FE) 2/3
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei EREE KLY 3/3
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence RELE 3/3
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The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy to enhance its
effectiveness. The Nomination Policy is intended to provide a
flexible set of guidelines for the effective functioning of the
Company’s nomination process. The Board and the Nomination
Committee intend to review the Nomination Policy (together
with the Board Diversity Policy) at least annually and anticipate
that modifications may be necessary from time to time as the
Company’s needs and circumstances evolve, and as applicable
if and where the legal obligations or requirements in the Listing
Rules or laws of Hong Kong or Bermuda or other regulations
change. The details of the Nomination Policy as at the date of
this report were set out below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Nomination Policy is to set out the process
by which candidates of possible inclusion in the Company’s
recommended slate of director nominees are selected.
The Nomination Policy is administered by the Nomination
Committee.

Composition of the Board
The Nomination Committee will ensure that:

1. the Board will consist of Directors with a variety and
a balance of skills and experience in accounting,
manufacturing, marketing, finance, investment and legal
professions and with reference to the criteria and diversity
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the Listing Rules;

2. the Company should maintain the minimum number of
INEDs as required by the Listing Rules;

3. anew INED should be appointed if all INEDs on the Board
have served more than 9 years as long-serving INEDs;

4.  regular assessment will be conducted on the independence
of INEDs for the purpose of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
especially considering the independence of those long-
serving INEDs and if there is any reason for doubting
whether such INED is still considered as independent
pursuant to the Listing Rules or other regulations, it
may propose the re-designation of the INED into other
directorate position in the Board; and
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5. the Board should not consist of Directors with a
single gender and will endeavour to comply with the
requirements of the diversity of the Board from time to
time with effect from the date(s) stipulated by the Listing
Rules and with reference to the Board Diversity Policy of
the Company.

Nomination and selection criteria

The Nomination Committee will take into account the
Company’s current requirements and the qualities required for
the Board’s services when the candidate is being considered for
election as Director, including but not limited to:

1. the ethical character, integrity and maturity of judgment of
the candidate;

2. the candidate’s experience at the policy-making level
in the industry and business, the PRC and Hong Kong
governments, education or other settings;

3. the candidate’s insight into material aspects of the
Company’s business;

4. the expertise of the candidate in areas that are useful to
the Company and complementary to the background and
experience of other Board members;

5. the candidate’s willingness to take an active interest in the
Company’s affairs and obtain a general understanding of
its business, and to devote the required amount of time
to carrying out the duties and responsibilities of the Board
and various committees’ membership if being invited,;

6. the candidate’s willingness to report to the Board in a
timely manner any new change in his/her office held
in other public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments, the time involved, identities of
such public companies and organisations;

7. the willingness of the candidate to serve on the Board for
multiple terms;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

the willingness of the candidate to refrain from engaging
in activities that may be in conflict with the Director’s
duties and responsibilities to the Company and its
Shareholders;

the candidate’s independence under the Listing Rules,
especially if he/she is appointed as INED, and if the
proposed INED will be holding his/her seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, the reasons why the Board
believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board, his/her perspectives, skills and
experience that he/she can bring to the Board and how the
proposed INED contributes to diversity of the Board;

the candidate’s service on other boards of directors of the
Group or of other companies (whether they are listed or
non-listed);

the candidate’s willingness to participate in continuous
professional development courses annually to be arranged
and funded by the Company;

the candidate’s willingness to attend general meetings of
the Company;

the candidate’s obligation to disclose his/her information
on all civil judgments of fraud, breach of duty, or other
misconduct involving dishonesty (if any);

the candidate’s willingness to comply with the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements in full for discharging
Directors’ liabilities; and

whether the candidate as Director can achieve the diversity
of the Board as set out in the Listing Rules from time to
time.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.
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For those potential new director candidates who appear upon
first consideration to meet the Board's selection criteria, the
Nomination Committee will conduct appropriate inquiries into
their background and qualifications and, depending on the
result of such inquiries, arrange for in-person meeting with the
potential candidates.

In the case of incumbent Directors whose terms of office are set
to expire, the Nomination Committee will review such Directors’
overall service to the Company during their terms of office in
the Company, and if feasible and appropriate, will conduct an
exit interview.

The Nomination Committee may use multiple sources for
identifying potential new director candidates, including but not
limited to:

1. its own contacts and referrals from other Directors,
members of the management of the Company, the
Company's professional advisors, and executive search
firms;

2. the potential new director candidates being recommended
by the Shareholders with the evaluation in the
same manner with other director candidates being
recommended by other sources; and

3. making recommendations for potential new director
candidates to be proposed to the Board for election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
The Nomination Committee will consider any written
recommendation of potential new director candidates
pursuant to Bye-law 85 of the Bye-laws. Recommendations
must include the candidate’s name, contact information
and a statement of the candidate's background and
qualifications, and must be mailed to the head office of
the Company for the attention of the chairman of the
Board/Company Secretary. For details, please refer to
the Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director.
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The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy to enhance
its effectiveness. In designing the Board's composition, the
Board Diversity Policy has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, regional and industry
experience, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of
services and time to be devoted as a Director. The Company will
consider all measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and also take into account factors relating to its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
Board strives to ensure that it has the appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are required
to support the execution of its business strategies and in order
for the Board to be effective. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board. The details of the Board Diversity Policy were set
out below:

1. Purpose
1.1 The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to
diversity on the Board.

2. Scope of Application
2.1 The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance.
2.2 The Board Diversity Policy applies to the Board and
does not apply to diversity in relation to employees of
the Group.

3. Board Diversity Policy Statement
3.1 In designing the Board’s composition, the Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
Board members.

3.2 Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
regional and industry experience, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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4,

5.

88

3.3

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses
the composition of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of the Board’s diversity.

Measurable Objectives

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy and achieving the Board's
diversity and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

Selection of candidates for Board members will
be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, regional and
industry experience, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, as well as the
criterion set out in the Company’s Nomination Policy.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board.

The Board’s composition (including gender, ethnicity,
age, length of service, educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge) will
be disclosed in the Company’'s CG Report annually
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

Monitoring and Reporting

5.1

The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the CG Report, on the Board’s composition
under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.
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6. Review of the Board Diversity Policy
6.1 The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy regularly, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and to
review any progress on achieving those objectives in
the Board Diversity Policy.
6.2 The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such

revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Under the CG Code provision B.2.2, every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The Bye-
laws has provided that at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years.

The Bye-laws has provided that the Board shall have power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any
Director so appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office until
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election, but shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation at such meeting.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee operates with overall delegated
authority from the Board. The Executive Committee carries out
the following tasks for the purposes of dealing with the affairs
relating to the day-to-day operations of the Group:

1. determining group strategies;

2. setting targets for the management;

3. reviewing business performance;

4.  ensuring adequate funding; and

5. examining major investments.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 25 September 2023,
the members of the Executive Committee are Mr. Hung Yeung
Alvin (Chairman) (executive Director) (who resigned on 26
September 2023) and Ms. Xing Mengwei (executive Director).
During the Year, 2 Executive Committee meeting had been held.
The Company had established mechanism(s) to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board and
disclosed details of such mechanism(s) below in this report. The
Board would or might designate a Board Committee, to review
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on
an annual basis.

Purpose

These mechanisms are to ensure that independent views and
input are available to the Board.
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Composition of the Board and Board Committees

The Board will try its best to have a balanced composition
of executive Directors, non-executive Directors and INEDs
for providing strong independence elements in the Board.

The Board will also endeavour to ensure the appointment
of at least three INEDs and at least one-third of the
members of the Board being INEDs (or such higher
threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules from time
to time).

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed
by the Listing Rules as to the composition of certain
Board committees, INEDs will be appointed to other Board
committees as far as practicable to ensure independent
views and input are available.

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee must strictly adhere to its
terms of reference, the Company’s nomination policy
and the independence assessment criteria as set out
in the Listing Rules with regard to the requirements of
nomination and appointment of INEDs.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may materially affect his/her
independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess
annually the independence of all INEDs by reference to
the independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rules
to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement.

5
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Board Decision Making

92

Any Director concerned should declare the nature and
extent of interest at or prior to the meeting of the Board
or Committees in question and consider withdrawal from
the meeting when the concerned said matter is discussed.
Directors concerned who attend the meeting of the Board
or Committees must abstain from voting on any resolution
(including but not limited to his/her remuneration package
or other matters concerned with personal interest) and will
not be counted in the quorum, subject to the Listing Rules
and the Company’s bye-laws.

INEDs (as other Directors) shall not vote or be counted
in the quorum on any Board or Committees resolution
approving any contract or arrangement in which such
Director or any of his/her close associates has a material
interest, subject to the Listing Rules and the Company’s
bye-laws.

Each Director who attends any meeting of the Board or
Committees will be given the opportunity and sufficient
time to express independent view and input and to ask
questions on the matters being discussed thereat.

INEDs (including other Directors) are entitled to seek
further information and documentation from the
Company’s management on the matters to be discussed at
any meeting of the Board or Committees.

All INEDs (including other Directors) are invited to share
their views and opinions through any meeting of the
Board or Committees with heads of core departments and
particular business units of the Company being invited to
join such meetings on Directors’ requests.

Independent professional advice would be provided by the
Company to INEDs and other Directors upon reasonable
request or alternatively, Directors can seek independent
professional advice with the relevant fee being reimbursed
by the Company if and when it is reasonable and necessary
to assist them for performing their duties as Directors.
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o At least one annual meeting shall be held between the
Chairman and INEDs without presence of other Directors
so as to provide an effective platform for the Chairman
to listen independent views and input on various issues
concerning the Company.

Compensation

o Any equity-based remuneration (such as share option or
share award scheme) with performance related elements
will not be recommended to be granted to INEDs as this
may lead to bias in their decision making and compromise
their objectivity and independence.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS
The Group provides briefings, reading materials and other
training opportunities to develop and refresh the Directors’
knowledge and skills so as to keep them abreast of their
collective responsibilities and to put more emphasis on the
importance of roles, functions and duties of the Directors.

The Group continuously updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices, and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.
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During the Year and as required by and in compliance with the RAEE BECETHZRE EEE2 4
CG Code, the Directors participated in the following trainings: BUR B3

Types of Training

Name of Directors EENS b sl
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Li Yongjun (Chairman) TxERE (_—‘Eﬁ)
(redesignated from Non-executive Director R-_E-—=—FE_A++H
to Executive Director on 17 february 2023) ks /7 BB LT
EZF) - - C
Ms. Xing Mengwei (Chief Executive Officer) MEBT LT (f7HAE%) A - C
Mr. Cheok Ho Fung iTﬂ?ﬁE A - C
Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin LGk E
(resigned on 26 September 2023) (R -—E-=FEAH T+~
HEHE) - - C
Independent Non-executive BUHEHTEE
Directors
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence RIEqHE A - C
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei EERELSE - - C
Mr. Xu Xinwei BrERBLEE A - C
A:  attending seminars/conferences/forums (via different means) Al HEMNE g2k dHE (BEBEFAEE
)
B:  giving talks at seminars/conferences/forums B: Mg g&k/ TH E1TIEE

C:  self-reading: (newspapers, journals and updates on: global and C: BE:@ GRE-BIEREHER BB B
Hong Kong economy, business of the Group, updates on Listing ERARE -AEEERE LR ESHE
Rules, directors’ duties, relevant statutory requirements) EEEEREE T mZRMER)
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CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a whistleblowing policy which deals
with and governs proper and fair concerns raised by the Group’s
employees about any suspected malpractice or misconduct
regarding financial reporting, internal control or other matters
within the Group. The Audit Committee shall review regularly
this policy and ensure that arrangements are in place for
independent and fair investigation of these matters and for
appropriate following-up action. During the Year, the Audit
Committee had reviewed the whistleblowing policy.

The responsible teams of different sections or departments
within the Group under corporate governance function play a
major role in monitoring the internal corporate governance of
the Group. They have unrestricted access to the information
that allow them to review all aspects of the Group’s risk
management and governance processes in connection with
nature of compliance and legal requirements. It also has the
power to consult directly with the Audit Committee without the
consent of the Company’s management.

During the Year, the Group has complied with the CG Code
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. Management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while
the Board oversees management in performing its duties on
an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its businesses and operations, including
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") risks. The system
comprises the following phases:

e /dentification: |dentify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of

objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.
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° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

Based on the enterprise risk assessments conducted in 2023, no
significant risk was identified which might materially affect the
Group's businesses and operations.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system in place which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
controls across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.

o Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensuring that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
and to ensure the truthfulness,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group

information, accuracy,
also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures for the Group’s directors, officers and all relevant
employees. The term refers to employee
of the Group, who, because of his office or employment, is
likely to be in possession of the unpublished inside information.
The above-mentioned persons are also recommended to

“relevant employee”

make reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in
June 2012. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which

include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

o Internal controls on handling and dissemination of inside
information are in place.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2023, no
significant control deficiency which might affect the reliability
and effectiveness of the Group's internal controls was identified.

Internal Audits

The Group has an internal audit (“IA") function, which consists
of professional staff with relevant expertise performed by a
professional firm. The IA function is independent from the
Group's daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.
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An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, a review of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group is conducted annually and the
results are reported to the Board through the Audit Committee.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensures that review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of different levels of risks (including ESG risks) since
the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment; and (ii)
the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by IA
function and the Audit Committee during the Year, concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. It
is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and
experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.

The Board has received a confirmation from the management of
the Company on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system.

OPERATION RISKS

The Group has implemented appropriate policies and procedures
for all major operations. The management closely monitors
the procurement process and performs due diligence check on
suppliers. The quality assurance department and the reliability
department ensure the stability of the manufacturing process
and monitor products quality. The Group also strives to promote
human resources reforms and comprehensively enhances cost
management. At the same time, the management also keeps
a close eye on every investment process to ensure that they
have exercised due care towards those investments made. By
establishing clear policies and a well-documented business
process, the exposure to operation risks is considered as minimal
by the Group.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
There were significant changes in the Company's constitutional
document during the Year. The new Bye-laws of the
Company had been adopted at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 26 June 2023. The details of such
amendments were shown in item 4 of the Letter from the Board
and Appendix Il to the circular of the Company dated 28 April
2023 which had been published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively on the same date.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
for maintaining an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders
and other stakeholders and encouraging them to communicate
actively with the Company. This policy sets out the principles
of the Company, in relation to shareholders’ communications,
with the objective of ensuring that its communications with
the Shareholders and other stakeholders (including potential
investors) with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company (including
its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material
developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable
the Shareholders and other stakeholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner mainly through the Company’s
corporate communications (such as interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, notices of meetings, proxy
forms and listing documents), annual general meetings and
other general meetings, as well as disclosure on the website
of the Company. The Board has conducted a review of the
shareholders communication policy for the Year and was
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy.
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During the Year, the Board has reviewed the shareholders
communication policy of the Company whereas the details of

which were set out below:

1.

100

1.1

1.2

General Policy

The Company is committed to providing Shareholders,
both individual and institutional and other
stakeholders (including potential investors) with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals
and plans, material developments, governance and
risk profile), in order to enable Shareholders and
other stakeholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner.

The Board should be responsible for:

1.2.1maintaining an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and other stakeholders and
encourage them to communicate actively with
the Company;

1.2.2establishing this Shareholders” Communication
Policy (the “Policy”) and reviewing the Policy on
a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness;

1.2.3communicating to the Shareholders and other
stakeholders mainly through the Company’s
financial reports (quarterly (if applicable),
interim and annual reports), annual general
meetings and other general meetings that may
be convened, as well as by making available
all the disclosures submitted to the Stock
Exchange and its corporate communications and
other corporate publications on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company; and

1.2.4directing any question regarding this Policy to
the company secretary of the Company.
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2.

Purpose
2.1 The Policy aims to:

2.1.7ensuring effective and timely dissemination
of information to the Shareholders and other
stakeholders at all times;

2.1.2encouraging the Shareholders to engage actively
with the Company; and

2.1.3enabling the Shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner as shareholders
effectively.

Sources of Communication
3.1 Corporate Communication
3.1.1"Corporate Communication” as defined

under the Listing Rules refers to any document
issued or to be issued by the Company for
the information or action of holders of any its
securities, including but not limited to, (a) the
directors’ report and annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditor’s report and, where
applicable, its summary financial report; (b)
the interim report and, where applicable, its
summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting;
(d) a listing document (if any); (e) a circular; and
(f) a proxy form.

3.1.2The Corporate Communication of the Company
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely and
consistent manner as required by the Listing
Rules.

3.1.3Corporate Communication will be provided to
the Shareholders and non-registered holders of
the Company’s securities in plain language and
in both English and Chinese versions or where
permitted, in single language, in a timely and
consistent manner as required by the Listing
Rules so as to facilitate the Shareholders’
understanding.
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3.2

3.3

34

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant
to the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on price
sensitive information, corporate changes and actions,
and transactions etc) and other documents (such as
its Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws) on
the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

3.3.1Any information or documents released by
the Company which is posted on the Stock
Exchange’s website will also be published as
soon as practicable on the Company’s website
(www.renco.com.hk) under a dedicated
“Investor Relations” section and will be
updated on a regular basis. Such information
includes financial statements, general meeting,
results announcement, circulars and associated
explanatory documents etc.

3.3.20ther corporate information about the
Company's business developments, goals
and strategies, corporate governance, risk
management and environmental protection will
also be available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

3.4.1The annual general meeting and other general
meetings of the Company are primary forum
for communication by the Company with the
Shareholders.

3.4.2The Company shall provide the Shareholders
with any material information on the subject
matter reasonably necessary to enable them to
make an informed decision on the resolution(s)
proposed at general meetings.

3.4.3For each substantially separate issue at a general
meeting, a separate resolution should be
proposed by the chairman of that meeting, for
instances, nomination of persons as Directors by
means of a separate resolution.
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3.4.4Notice of an annual general meeting (whether

for the passing of a special resolution, an
extraordinary resolution and/or an ordinary
resolution) shall be called by not less than
twenty-one (21) clear days’ notice and all other
general meetings of the Company (including a
special general meeting) must be called by not
less than fourteen (14) clear days’ notice.

3.4.5Shareholders are encouraged to participate

in general meetings or to appoint proxies
or corporate representatives (for corporate
shareholders only) to attend and vote at the
general meetings for and on their behalf if they
are unable to attend the general meetings.

3.4.6Chairman of the Board and/or other Board

members, chairmen and/or other members of
respective Board committees (such as Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee) or their duly appointed
delegates (if any) and appropriate management
executives (such as Chief Executive and Financial
Controller) shall attend annual general meetings

to answer Shareholders’ questions (if any).

3.4.7The Company's external auditor(s) should

attend the Company’s annual general meeting
to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditors’
auditor independence.

report, the accounting policies and
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3.4.8The chairman of the independent board

committee (if any) should also be available
to answer questions at any general meeting
to approve any connected transaction
or discloseable transaction or any other
transaction(s) that is/are subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.

3.4.9The process of the Company’s general meeting

will be monitored and reviewed on a regular
basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made
to ensure that the Shareholders’ needs are best
served.

3.5 Voting by Poll
3.5.1Pursuant to the Listing Rules, any vote of

Shareholders at a general meeting must be
taken by poll except where the chairman of
the general meeting, in good faith, decides
to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted
on by a show of hands. Details of the poll voting
procedures shall be set out in the circular to
Shareholders sent prior to each general meeting
and explained at the general meeting. The
chairman of the general meeting will explain the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll and
answer questions from Shareholders thereon.

3.5.2When conducting a poll, every Shareholder

present in person or by proxy or by a duly
authorised corporate representative shall have
one vote for every Company's share of which he/
she is the holder that is fully paid up or credited
as fully paid up. A Shareholder who is entitled
to more than one vote need not use all his/her
votes in the same way (ie, he/she can cast some
of his/her votes in favour of the resolution and
some of his/her votes against the resolution).
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3.6

3.5.3The poll results in the general meeting must be
announced as soon as possible by posting the
requisite announcement in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

3.5.4Shareholder who has a material interest in the
subject transaction may be required to abstain
from voting on the relevant resolution at the
relevant general meeting as prescribed by the
Listing Rules.

Convening of Special General Meeting on

Requisition

3.6.1The Directors shall, on the written requisition
of the Shareholders holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the Company’s paid-up capital carrying
the right of voting at the Company’s general
meeting, forthwith proceed duly to convene a
special general meeting of the Company.

3.6.2The requisition must state the purposes of
the meeting, and must be signed by the
requisitionists and deposited at the address set
out in this Policy, and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

3.6.3If the Directors do not within twenty-one
(21) days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three (3) months from the
said date.
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3.6.4A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall

be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition in the same manner as that in
which meetings are to be convened by Directors.

3.6.5Any reasonable expenses incurred by the

requisitionists by reason of Directors’ failure
to convene a meeting shall be repaid to the
requisitionists by the Company.

3.7 Shareholders’ Enquires
3.7.1Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about
their shareholdings to the Company’'s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar through the online
holding enquiry service at www.tricoris.com or
by email to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or
hotline at (852) 2980 1333 or in person at 17/
F Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

3.7.2Enquiries about Corporate Governance or

Other Matters to be put to the Board and the
Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal
or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send
their enquiries to the following:

Address :Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong

For the attention of Chairman
of the Board/Chief Executive Officer/
Company Secretary

Telephone @ (852) 2710 2323
Fax © (852) 2323 8137
Email :investor.relations@renco.com.hk
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4. Shareholder Privacy
The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’
privacy and will not disclose Shareholders’
without their consent, unless required by law or any other
regulatory requirements to do so.

information

Interim reports, annual reports and circulars and associated
explanatory documents etc are also posted on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company’'s
website (www.renco.com.hk) under a dedicated “Investor
Relations” section in plain language and in both English and
Chinese versions or where permitted, in single language, and
will be updated on a regular basis and in a timely manner as
required by the Listing Rules so as to facilitate the Shareholders’
understanding. The Company’s website provides the
Shareholders with the corporate information, such as principal
business activities, the development of corporate governance
and the corporate social responsibilities of the Group such as
environmental protection, etc.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, fax number, email address and postal
address (as indicated below), in order to enable them or even
the Board to make any enquiry that they may have with respect
to the Company or the Group. In addition, if the registered
Shareholders have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend, they can contact Tricor Tengis
Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office, through the online holding enquiry service at
www.tricoris.com or by email to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.
com or hotline at (852) 2980 1333 or fax at (852) 2810 8185
or in person at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.
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The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous ZAAB —RAZRIEOERE LT JAM
enquiries. However, Shareholders may send their enquiries to B A EH BT X FF @A ML ¢
the following contacts:

Principal place of ~ : Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 HHFE | HEEEHEHD

business in Hong Queensway, Hong Kong = 2 M Bh 1EE2707 %=
Kong
For the attention of Chairman of the SBERHABEEEEIRE A
Board/Company Secretary B MW=
Telephone : (852) 2710 2323 Bi © (852) 2710 2323
Fax : (852) 2323 8137 =t : (852) 2323 8137
Email . investor.relations@renco.com.hk B . investor.relations@renco.com.hk

The Company’s general meetings allow the Directors, members ZAABZREAZEERT HEZEZES #H
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and MMEZEEEGRIELEZETEZHZMEUKRINE
the Nomination Committee respectively, and its external ZHEMEERFTETEAEE THRERFZ
auditor to meet and communicate with its Shareholders and B - A ABDEBHERKREZERAIEEEES
to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Company will ensure ZeoREAG FEEIBEEASHEBIUS
that the Shareholders’ views can be properly communicated to EMS ' ZACETEEREBIRAEE U0
the Board. For each substantially separate issue at a general MBI RBZZHFARBATIHIEZESRT KRE
meeting, a separate resolution should be proposed by the REATBEANTIEEFTZEFEDLEER
chairman of that meeting, for instances, nomination of persons ‘A S 48uk

as Directors by means of a separate resolution. The Procedures

for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director

of the Company has been uploaded on the website of the

Company.
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The proceedings of general meetings are reviewed from time
to time to ensure that the Company follows good corporate
governance practices. An annual general meeting shall be
called by not less than twenty-one clear days' notice. All other
general meetings (including a special general meeting) must be
called by notice of not less than fourteen clear days, and the
accompanying circular also sets out details of each proposed
resolution and other relevant information as required under the
Listing Rules.

The chairman of the general meetings exercises his power
under the Bye-laws to put each proposed resolution to the vote
by way of a poll, save for the resolutions (if any) proposed by
the chairman of the meeting regarding the approval on the
procedural or administrative matters as defined in the Listing
Rules. The procedures for demanding and conducting a poll are
explained at the general meetings prior to the polls being taken.
Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at a general
meeting are entitled to ask about the poll voting procedures
and details of the proposed resolutions at the general meeting
whose questions should be answered during the general
meeting prior to the conduction of poll voting. Announcement
on poll voting results of general meeting will be posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Company continues to commit to a proactive policy of
promoting investor relations and effective communication with
the Shareholders and analysts by better utilising the Company's
website (www.renco.com.hk) as a channel to disclose the
Company’s updated information and corporate communications
to the Shareholders, stakeholders and the public on a timely
basis.
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Shareholders Rights

Convening a special general meeting by Shareholders

The Directors, pursuant to Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) (“Companies Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-
laws shall, on the requisition of the Shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of
the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do
so in accordance with the provisions of section 74(3) of the
Companies Act.

The requisition must state the purposes of the general meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
Company'’s registered office and the principal place of business
in Hong Kong, and may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Pursuant to section 74(3) of the Companies Act, if the Directors
do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene a general meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene
a general meeting, but any general meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the said
date.

A general meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be

convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which general meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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Any number of Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders
or not less than 100 Shareholders, may make a requisition in
writing to the Company to do the following (which will be
done at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company
otherwise resolves):

(i) to give the Shareholders a notice of the next annual
general meeting and notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and/or

(i) to circulate to the Shareholders a notice of any general

meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one

thousand (1,000) words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

A copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, or
two or more copies which contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists, must be deposited at the registered office and
the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company in
the following manner:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution,
not less than six weeks before the meeting; and

(ii) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week
before the meeting,

and there must be deposited or tendered with the requisition a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto.

However please note that if, after a copy of the requisition
requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or
less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though not
deposited within the time limit stated above shall be deemed to
have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by
reason of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a general
meeting shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company via email at the email
address of the Company at investor.relations@renco.com.hk, or
at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
at Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong
Kong, specifying his/her/its shareholding information, his/her/
its contact details and the proposal (the “Proposal”) he/she/
it intends to put forward at the general meeting regarding any
specified transaction/business with supporting documents.

The identity of the Shareholder and his/her/its request will be
verified with the Company's branch share register in Hong Kong
and upon confirmation by the branch share registrar that the
request is proper and in order and made by a Shareholder, the
Board will determine in its sole discretion whether the Proposal
may be included in the agenda for the general meeting to be set
out in the notice of meeting.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board of
Directors/Company Secretary.

Company Secretary

Mr. Su Zhiyang is the company secretary of the Company. He
is responsible for ensuring a good information flow within the
Board and the compliance of the board policy and procedures.

During the Year, Mr. Su has confirmed that he has duly complied
with the relevant requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to
the Shareholders to be the goal. The dividend policy aims
at enhancing transparency of the Company and facilitating
the Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions relating to the Company.
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According to the dividend policy, while the Company intends to
declare and pay dividends in the future, the payment and the
amount of any dividends will depend on a number of factors,
including but not limited to:

(i)  the Group's actual and expected financial performance;
(i) the Group's expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(iii) profits available for distribution, retained earnings and

distributable reserves of the Company and each of the

members of the Group;

(iv) the Group's liquidity position;

(v) the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Group; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate and

relevant.

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends
in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The recommendation of the
dividends by the Company shall be determined at the sole
discretion of the Board and shall be subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Act and every other Act of Bermuda,
the Bye-laws and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
Any declaration of annual dividend for the financial year
ended of the Company will be subject to the approval by the
Shareholders. The dividend policy adopted by the Board is
intended for the Company to maintain adequate cash reserves
to meet its capital requirements, fund its future growth and
enhance shareholder value when dividends are recommended.

The dividend policy will continue to be reviewed by the Board
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends
will be proposed or declared in any particular amount for any
given period.

10 April 2024
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHRS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the Year.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year by
geographical location are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion on the Group's business review, and operating
and financial performance during the Year and a discussion
on the Group’'s future business development as well as the
Group’s financial key performance indicators are included in the
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to 8 and the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 64 of this annual report.

Particulars on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, and key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and others were set out in the ESG Report on pages
290 to 340 of this annual report. All these disclosures form part
of the contents of the Report of the Directors.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is now operating in a highly competitive business
and economic environment, in particular, the manufacturing
segment. Manufacturing segment is greatly affected by its
customers which are highly volatile combined with rising labour
and production costs. The Group’s manufacturing segment
has to compete with its competitors on various factors such
as product variety, product performance, customer service,
quality, pricing, new product innovation, timely delivery and
brand recognition. On the other hand, volatility in Hong Kong
securities market may affect the Group’s performance on listed
securities investments resulting in fluctuations in unrealised fair
value gains or losses. Rising in interest rate is highly likely and
this will affect not only the Group’s costs of borrowings but
also costs of purchases on materials. In addition to risks and
uncertainties mentioned above, the Group is also subject to
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arising from
the normal course of the Group's business and further details
of which are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant
laws and regulations such as the Companies Act in Bermuda,
the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules, and laws and
regulations implemented by relevant jurisdictions. The Company
believes the existing laws and regulations do not have any
significant effect on the Group’s activities during the Year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 154 to 288.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any declaration of
dividend payment for the Year (2022: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on
page 289. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s issued share capital for
the Year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders though there are no
restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 19 June 2024 to Monday, 24 June 2024, both
days inclusive. In order to qualify for the attendance of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 24 June 2024, share transfer forms accompanied by
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 18 June 2024.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act, the contributed surplus
of the Company is available for distribution or payment of
dividends to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following such distribution or payment, the Company is able to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves include
share premium of approximately HK$2,556,868,000 (2022:
HK$2,556,868,000) which may be available for dividend
distribution upon the passing of special resolution by the
Shareholders at the general meeting to reduce the share
premium amount and transfer it to contributed surplus after
offsetting with the accumulated losses of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the revenue from the largest and the five largest
customers amounted to approximately 12% (2022: 15%) and
44% (2022: 47%) of the Group’s revenue respectively.

For the Year, the purchase of materials from the largest and the
five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 18% (2022:
13%) and approximately 52% (2022: 49%) of the Group's total
purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) has any interest in any of the five largest customers
and suppliers of the Group for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group on a going
concern basis, with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary, for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the financial affairs of the Group.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and financial
obligations as and when they fall due, and accordingly, are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis after taking into
consideration of the followings:

(i)  enhancing the collection of loan and note receivables by
monitoring repayments when they fall due;
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

(ii)

(iii)

a substantial shareholder, through related companies of
which are also owned by this substantial shareholder, has
undertaken to provide continuing financial support to the
Group to remain continuing operations and to meet its
liabilities and obligations when they fall due;

the Group will actively negotiate with the lenders for
debts restructuring and the renewal of the Group's
borrowings when they fall due in order to secure necessary
funds to meet the Group's working capital and financial
requirements in the foreseeable future. In the opinion
of the Directors, the Group will be able to roll over or
refinance the borrowings upon their maturity;

identifying new investment and business development
opportunities to increase the Group’s profitability; and

the Group is actively exploring the availability of various
sources of financing including the disposal of assets or
obtain secured facilities by way of pledge of assets.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public
float of 25% as required by the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of
their holdings of such securities.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

On 29 May 2020 and 29 July 2023, Topsearch Printed Circuits
(HK) Limited (“Topsearch PC (HK)") as a tenant (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), entered into
a renewed tenancy agreement (the “Renewed Tenancy
Agreement”) with Keentop Investment Limited as a landlord
(an investment holding company and a connected person of
the Company as defined under the Listing Rules, which is
beneficially owned as to 50% by each of Mr. Cheok Ho Fung,
an executive Director and his spouse, Mrs. Cheok Chu Wai Min)
in respect of the lease of the properties known as House 7 and
the Garden appurtenant thereto and Car Parking Spaces Nos.
7A and 7B on Basement Floor, Las Pinadas, No. 33 Shouson Hill
Road, Hong Kong for a lease term of three years commencing
from 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2023 and from 1 August 2023
to 31 July 2026 (both days inclusive) respectively as director’s
quarters provided to Mr. Cheok and his family.

Keentop Investment Limited charged Topsearch PC (HK) a
monthly rental of HK$165,000 (exclusive of rates, management
fee and other outgoings) and a monthly management fee
of HK$18,000. The annual cap under the Renewal Tenancy
Agreement is HK$2,350,000. The terms of the Renewed Tenancy
Agreement have been negotiated on an arm’s length basis and
are considered as fair and reasonable and on normal commercial
terms and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. The Renewed Tenancy Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company but is exempt from
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.

In respect of the Renewed Tenancy Agreement which constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company, the INEDs have
reviewed the said transaction and confirmed that the said
transaction has been entered into:

(1) after arm’s length negotiation and for the purpose of and
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

on normal commercial terms; and
according to the Renewed Tenancy Agreement governing

them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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BEFERS

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Yongjun (Chairman)
(redesignated from Non-executive Director to
Executive Director on 17 February 2023)

Ms. Xing Mengwei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Cheok Ho Fung

Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin (resigned on 26 September 2023)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence

Mr. Mak Kwok Kei

Mr. Xu Xinwei

In accordance with the Listing Rules and Bye-law 84 of the Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three
(3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and Bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-
laws, the Directors shall have the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorization by the
Shareholders in general meeting, as an addition to the existing
Board but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall
not exceed any maximum number determined from time to
time by the Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office until the first annual general meeting
of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Li Yongjun (an
executive Director) and Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (an independent
non-executive Director) shall retire from office by rotation at the
Annual General Meeting.
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All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has any
service contract with the Company in respect of any unexpired
period which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Li Yongjun (“Mr. Li*)

Mr. Li, aged 55, was a non-executive Director of the Board and
was appointed as Chairman of the Board with effect from 6
April 2020. He joined the Group on 30 August 2019 and has
been redesignated from non-executive Director to executive
Director on 17 February 2023.

Mr. Li is primarily responsible for leading the Board, ensuring the
effective operation of our Board and providing business strategy
and management advice to our Board.

Mr. Li has over 20 years’ working experience in enterprise
strategic decision making and corporate management. He is
currently the president of Yongxinhua Holding Group Co., Ltd.
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Yongxinhua Holding”).
Mr. Li founded the Yongxinhua Holding in 2003, which is an
integrated and multipurpose corporation and a co-partner of
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
(UNESCO) in the world intangible cultural heritage industry.
Its principal activities include equity investment in financial
institutions, cultural industry integration and innovation
development, development and construction of cultural
industry park and protection of intangible cultural heritage.
From May 2018 to October 2022, Mr. Li served as an executive
director and vice chairman of the board of directors of Crown
International Corporation Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 727). Mr. Li was
the chief executive officer of Crown International Corporation
Limited from July 2018 to March 2019.
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Mr. Li is also the Asia chairman of the Global Hope Coalition,
the vice chairman of the "Belt and Road” Silk Road Planning
Researching Center, the vice chairman of the China Industry
University Research Collaboration Association and the vice
chairman of the China Intangible Cultural Heritage Protection
Association.

Mr. Li obtained a degree of Executive Master of Business
Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
in the PRC in September 2008. He obtained a qualification
certificate as a senior engineer in the PRC in July 2001.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li has beneficial ownership
interest in 624,960,000 Shares, representing approximately
23.60% of the total number of issued Shares (the “Shares”).
Mr. Li is the sole beneficial owner of the entire issued share
capital of Eternal Glory Holdings Limited (“Eternal Glory"”), a
substantial Shareholder, and is deemed to be interested in the
624,960,000 Shares, representing approximately 23.60% of
the total number of issued Shares, held by Eternal Glory under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571 of the laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). Details of Mr. Li's interest or deemed
interest and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2023
have been disclosed in this annual report on page 138 under the
section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares” of the Report of the Directors.
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Mr. Li has entered into a new service contract with the
Company, to replace the previous service contract with the
Company, for a term of three years with effect from 17 February
2023, which is renewable pursuant to the new service contract
for successive term of three years on the same terms and
conditions, unless it is terminable by either party by giving to
the other three months’ prior notice in writing. He is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company pursuant to the bye-laws of the
Company. His remuneration was approved by the Board subject
to the authority granted by the Shareholders to authorize the
Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the annual general
meeting of the Company with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing market
situation and shall be reviewed by the remuneration committee
of the Company from time to time. Under the previous services
contract with the Company, Mr. Li was a non-executive Director
and entitled to receive an annual remuneration of approximately
HK$78,571 for the year. Under the new service contract, Mr. Li
was entitled to receive director’'s emoluments of approximately
HK$2,102,214 for the year and discretionary bonus which
would be determined by reference to various factors such as
duties and responsibilities of Mr. Li and the Group’s performance
for the relevant financial year.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he has
not held any other directorships in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an executive Director, (a non-
executive Director since 30 August 2019 and the chairman
of the Board since 6 April 2020), Mr. Li does not have any
relationships with any other Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li does not have any
other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which are discloseable under Part XV of
the SFO and there are no matters concerning Mr. Li that need
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

Ms. Xing Mengwei (“Ms. Xing”)

Ms. Xing, aged 34, joined the Group as an executive Director,
a member of the Executive Committee and an Authorised
Representative, all with effect from 21 July 2022. Ms. Xing
has also been appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from 11 August 2022. Ms. Xing acts as
a key management personnel of the Company and director of
many subsidiaries and some associated companies of the Group.

Ms. Xing obtained a bachelor degree in Information Engineering
from Beifang University of Nationalities* (b5 R R AKE)
in China in July 2013 and a degree of Master of Science in
Business Information Systems from City University of Hong Kong
in July 2014, and a degree of Master of Corporate Governance
from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in September 2023,
a membership of The Chartered Governance Institute since
November 2023.

Ms. Xing joined the Group in May 2022. She is currently a
director and responsible officer of Renco Investments Limited
(associated company of the Company), a company principally
engaged in Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO"). Ms. Xing has over nine years’ working
experience in asset and investment management. From July
2014 to May 2018, Ms. Xing was an assistant vice president
of IPS Strategic Management Limited, a company principally
engaged in the business of investment, where she was mainly
responsible for coordination and execution of private equity
investment projects, immigration business and overseas business
consultation. During May 2018 to April 2022, Ms. Xing was the
chief investment officer of N Plus Capital Limited, a company
principally engaged in Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type
9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO, and
then a director and a responsible officer of Yee Tai Capital
Limited, a company principally engaged in Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the SFO, where she accumulated experience in investment
management, managing investment projects and providing
investment advice. Since June 2021, Ms. Xing has been an
independent non-executive director of Huaibei GreenGold
Industry Investment Co., Ltd.* CEILAAEEXZRERMDBRA
@l), a company principally engaged in sand and gravel business,
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 2450).
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Ms. Xing is licensed under the SFO as a responsible officer
to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. She is also
a Certified Financial Consultant of The Institute of Financial
Consultants.

Ms. Xing had entered into a service agreement as an executive
Director with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from 21 July 2022, which is renewable
automatically for successive terms of three years each on the
same terms and conditions, unless it may be terminated by
either party by giving to the other three months’ prior notice in
writing. Under the service agreement with Ms. Xing, she was
entitled to receive an annual remuneration of approximately
HK$1,590,000 for the year which has been increased and
effective on 1 February 2023. Her remuneration was approved
by the Board subject to re-election at the first general meeting
of the Shareholders after appointment and retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
The Director's emolument to which Ms. Xing is entitled is
determined and approved by the Board subject to the authority
granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to fix the
Directors’ remuneration, based on the recommendation by
the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the market
rate for the position, the remuneration policy of the Company,
such Director’s qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Xing has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group and
she has not held any other directorships in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other
than the relationship arising from being an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company and authorized
representative, Ms. Xing does not have any relationships
with any other Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save
as disclosed above, Ms. Xing does not have any other interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which are discloseable under Part XV of the SFO
and there are no matters concerning Ms. Xing that that need
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (“Mr. Cheok”)

Mr. Cheok (alias Peter), aged 72, is an executive Director of the
Board. He was also earlier the deputy chairman of the Board and
a member of the Executive Committee but has resigned from
those positions on April 6, 2020.

Mr. Cheok has over 30 years' experience in the PCBs industry
and is also involved in the business of real estate development in
China, and other high-tech products.

Mr. Cheok had held the positions of financial controller and
various management positions in different multinational
companies involved in computer related products, application
systems, motor vehicles and agricultural equipment, ship
repairing and oil-rig construction, business-form printing and
PCBs manufacturing. Mr. Cheok has been a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since 1980,
a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants since 1981 and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 1990.

Mr. Cheok entered into a service agreement with the Company
on 30 May 2002 for an initial fixed term of three years and
shall continue thereafter for successive terms of one year each
commencing from the day immediately following the expiry
of the then current terms of the service agreement. Such
agreement may be terminated by either party by giving not
less than six months’ written notice to the other party. He is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.
His remuneration and performance bonus was approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time. Under the service agreement with
Mr. Cheok, he was entitled to receive an annual remuneration of
approximately HK$5,062,586 including the housing benefits in
kind for the Year.
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Prior to 15 January 2016, Mr. Cheok was one of the then
substantial Shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules), a
director and a shareholder of Inni International Inc. which was
also one of the then substantial Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheok had not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group
and he had not held any other directorships in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other
than the relationship arising from being an executive Director
(and being the deputy chairman of the Board and a member
of the Executive Committee before he tendered his resignation
with effect from 6 April 2020), Mr. Cheok does not have any
relationships with any other Directors and senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Cheok has no interest or deemed interest and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and there are no other matters
concerning Mr. Cheok that need to be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders nor any information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin (“Mr. Hung“)(resigned on 26
September 2023)

Mr. Hung, aged 44, was an Executive Director prior to his
resignation on 26 September 2023. He joined the Group on 11
August 2022 as the chairman of the Executive Committee and
resigned on 26 September 2023.

Mr. Hung has obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from
McMaster University in Canada in November 2004 and a
master’'s degree in Business Administration from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University* (E/83Z3A2)in China in June 2012.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

Mr. Hung is currently an executive director, the general manager,
the legal representative and the fund vice president of Shenzhen
Renco Private Equity Investment Fund Management Limited* (&
NRBRIERELEEESETEABRAT)("Shenzhen Renco”,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company). Mr.
Hung has accumulated over 17 years’ working experience in
fund and investment management. Mr. Hung was the assistant
to the chairman and the senior manager of the investment
and financing division of Shenzhen Langju Industrial Group
Co., Ltd.* CRUITFAEEXEBEAERLE), a company
principally engaged in real estate investment, from January
2005 to January 2010, where he primarily focused on sourcing
investment projects, formulating investment and financing plans
and performing due diligence and analysis on target projects.
Mr. Hung was the chief investment officer of Shenzhen Youying
Investment Co., Ltd.* CRIITERILEBIRAR), a company
principally engaged in private equity investment, from January
2010 to September 2013, where he was mainly responsible
for formulation, performing analysis and implementation of
investment projects and strategic development. During the
period from September 2013 to December 2020, Mr. Hung
successively served as the vice president and executive general
manager of Shenzhen Xinlaiyuan Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.* (RYIFFRREETEERRAA),
principally engaged in real estate funding business, the vice
president and deputy general manager of Shenzhen Shenxin
Wealth Management Co., Ltd.* (RIIREMEEEBRLT),
a company principally engaged in funding business and wealth
management, and the general manager of the merger and
acquisition investment division of SPF Capital* Jt RIZRKE
EIEAHR /AT, a company principally engaged in merger and
acquisition funding business, where he was mainly responsible
for fund formation, structuring and management.

a company

Mr. Hung obtained the AMAC Fund Practitioner Qualification
Examination Certificate* (AMACE SR Z A EBREZANKE
E1%5%) in fund laws and regulations, professional ethics and
business practices (B& A AR BEBBHEEFKRE), and
fundamental knowledge in private equity investment funds
(FLABERELEESERAH) issued by Asset Management
Association of China* (FEIBESFKREEETEWRE)in April
2016 and September 2016, respectively. Mr. Hung is currently
a committee member of the Shenzhen Federation of Returned
Overseas Chinese Youth Committee* CRYIIT B S ELZET).
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Mr. Hung entered into a service agreement as an executive
Director with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 11 August 2022, which was renewable
automatically for successive terms of three years each on the
same terms and conditions, unless terminated by either party
by giving to the other three months’ prior notice in writing.
Pursuant to the service agreement, Mr. Hung would not receive
additional remuneration for serving as an executive Director,
which was subject to re-election at the first general meeting of
the Shareholders after appointment and retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. Mr. Hung
was entitled to a director's fee of RMB465,500 for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 26 September 2023. The Director’s fee
payable to Mr. Hung was approved by the Board subject to the
authority granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to
fix the Directors’ remuneration, based on the recommendation
by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the market
rate for the position, the remuneration policy of the Company,
such Director’s qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hung has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group
and he has not held any other directorships in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
Other than the relationship arising from being an executive
Director and the chairman of the Executive Committee, Mr.
Hung does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Hung does not have any other interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are
discloseable under Part XV of the SFO and there are no matters
concerning Mr. Hung that that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders nor any information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

INEDs
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (“Mr. Lau”™)

Mr. Lau, aged 52, is an INED. He joined the Group on 22 March
2016. He is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee. He resigned as an Authorised
Representative of the Company on 21 July 2022.

Mr. Lau is currently a practising certified public accountant in
Hong Kong. Mr. Lau graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor's degree in business administration in
1994 and obtained a master’s degree in corporate finance from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2007.

Mr. Lau joined BBMG Corporation on 6 August 2008 as joint
company secretary and qualified accountant. Since 26 October
2012, Mr. Lau has been serving as the company secretary of
BBMG Corporation.

Before joining BBMG Corporation, Mr. Lau served as the
group financial controller and qualified accountant of Founder
Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 418) and Peking University
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 618),
both companies being listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lau was an executive director of Future World
Financial Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) (HKSE Stock Code: 572) from January 2014 to
July 2022. Mr. Lau resigned as an INED of Titan Petrochemicals
Group Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1192) on 22 August 2023,
whose shares were delisted on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 23 August 2023. Mr. Lau was a non-
executive director of Alltronics Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock
Code: 833) from March 2017 to December 2018. Mr. Lau was
an INED of Artini Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 789)
shares of the company is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from April 2008 to November 2023 and an INED of
Winto Group (Holdings) Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 8238) from
April 2019 to November 2019. Mr. Lau has been appointed an
INED of Sinopharm Tech Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code:
8156) since January 2020, whose shares are listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange and appointed an INED of China Energine
International (Holdings) Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1185) since
March 2020, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Lau has been appointed as the company
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secretary of HM International Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock
Code: 8416), whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from 14 August 2020. From November
2018 to November 2020, Mr. Lau had been an INED of Tenwow
International Holdings Limited whose shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 1219)
before the delisting in November 2020.

Mr. Lau had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 22
March 2016. The term is renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the INED or the Company expiring at the end of the
initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.

Mr. Lau was entitled to a director's fee of HK$220,000 for the
Year. The director’s fee payable to Mr. Lau was approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau had not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he
had not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman of the
Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Lau
does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau has no interest or
deemed interest and short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and
there are no other matters concerning Mr. Lau that need
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (“Mr. Mak”)

Mr. Mak (alias: Eric), aged 38, is an INED. He joined the
Group on 17 July 2018. He is currently the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee. He has been re-
designated (i) from the chairman of the Nomination Committee
to a member of the Nomination Committee; and (ii) from a
member of the Remuneration Committee to the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 21 July 2022.

Mr. Mak has over ten years’ experience in securities sales and
trading and capital markets advisory at various international
investment banks, specialising in initial public offerings and
capital fund raising for companies in Hong Kong and China.
He worked as a trainee in Credit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank (Hong Kong Branch),
company, where he was mainly engaged in transacting various
high grade corporate and government bonds with central
banks in Asia, from September 2009 to November 2010. He
also worked at Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited, a
financial services company, as associate where he was mainly

a financial services

engaged in both primary and secondary equity fund raising
activities for listed companies and high-net-worth individuals
in Asia, from November 2010 to August 2015. From October
2015 to June 2018, he has served as a managing director and
head of equity capital markets in Zhongtai International Capital
Limited, a corporate finance advisory company. He was primarily
responsible for providing capital markets advisory services to
clients and operating and managing the equity capital markets
franchise. During January 2019 to July 2021, he had served
as member of executive committee and head of investment
banking division of Soochow Securities International Capital
Limited (formerly known as China Investment Securities (Hong
Kong) Financial Holdings Limited) who was in charge of the
investment banking division, including IPO sponsoring, debt and
equity fund raising and financial advisory.

Mr. Mak has been a limited partner in WI Harper Fund VI

LP, which is mainly engaged in venture capital investments in
healthcare and technology sectors, since May 2016.
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Mr. Mak is currently an INED of Lapco Holdings Limited (HKSE
Stock Code: 8472), whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Mak obtained a bachelor degree with first class honour in
applied business management from Imperial College London,
United Kingdom in August 2008 and subsequently obtained
a master degree in philosophy from University of Cambridge,
United Kingdom in October 2009.

Mr. Mak had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 17
July 2018. The term is renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the INED or the Company expiring at the end of the
initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.

Mr. Mak was entitled to a director’s fee of HK$220,000 for the
Year. The director’s fee payable to Mr. Mak was approved by
the Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders
to authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mak had not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group and
he had not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Mak does
not have any relationships with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Mak has no interest or deemed interest and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), and there are no other matters relating
to Mr. Mak that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders, nor any information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

Mr. Xu Xinwei (“Mr. Xu”)

Mr. Xu, aged 39, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, all with effect from 21 July 2022.

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University* (E/832#BA2)in China
in July 2007, a master degree in Mechanical Engineering from
University of Michigan in the U.S.A. in May 2010 and a degree
of Master of Finance from The University of Hong Kong in
November 2011.

Mr. Xu has over ten years’ working experience in finance
and investment management. For about eight years, Mr. Xu
worked as an analyst and an investment manager with different
companies focusing on strategy research, management and
investment of fund and related duties. Mr. Xu was a vice-
president of the direct investment division of CCB International
Asset Management Limited from February 2016 to August
2019, where he was mainly in charge of management and
execution of secondary market trading and direct investment
projects including investments in bonds, convertible bonds and
private placements of listed companies and pre-IPO investments.
From September 2019 to September 2021, Mr. Xu was the
chief investment officer and a responsible officer of Swenson
Asset Management Limited, a company principally engaged
in asset management, where he accumulated experience in
fund management. From October 2021 to December 2023,
Mr. Xu was an investment portfolio manager of Valuable
Asset Management Limited, a company principally engaged in
asset management, focusing on investment advisory and deals
initiation and structuring. Starting from January 2024, Mr. Xu
has taken on the role of Head of Asset Management at Long
Bridge HK Limited.

Mr. Xu is licensed under the SFO as a representative to carry out

Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO.
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Mr. Xu entered into a letter of appointment as an independent
non-executive Director with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 21 July 2022. The term is
renewable automatically for successive terms of three years
each commencing from the next day after the expiry of the
then current term of appointment, unless terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
to the other expiring at the end of the initial term or at any
time thereafter. Pursuant to the letter of appointment, Mr.
Xu was entitled to a Director’s emolument of HK$220,000 for
the year, which is subject to re-election at the first general
meeting of the Shareholders after appointment and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
The Director's emolument to which Mr. Xu is entitled is
determined and approved by the Board subject to the authority
granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to fix the
Directors’ remuneration, based on the recommendation by
the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the market
rate for the position, the remuneration policy of the Company,
such Director’s qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities with the Group. Mr. Xu has confirmed that he
meets the independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xu has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he has
not held any other directorships in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, Mr. Xu does not have any relationships with any
other Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders,
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Xu does not have any other interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which are discloseable under Part XV of the SFO and there are
no matters concerning Mr. Xu that that need to be brought to
the attention of the Shareholders nor any information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed above under the heading “Biographical Details
of Directors”, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EQUITY-
SETTLED SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
BENEFITS, AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of Directors and senior management of the
Group are recommended by the Remuneration Committee
and approved by the Board, having regard to their duties
and responsibilities with the Company, the prevailing market
conditions, the benchmark of the industry and the performance
of the Group.

Details of the remuneration and equity-settled share-based
compensation benefits of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in Notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

The employees of the Group in the PRC participate in various
social security plans enacted in the PRC, which cover pension,
medical and other welfare benefits. The Group is required
to make contributions to the plans calculated based on a
percentage of the monthly compensation of employees, subject
to a certain ceiling, and are paid to the respective labour and
social welfare authorities in accordance with the applicable
PRC rules and regulations. The local government is responsible
for the planning, management and supervision of the scheme,
including collecting and investing the contributions, and paying
out the pension to the retired employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF") Schemes
Ordinance in Hong Kong, for all its employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The other employees are covered by other defined-contribution
pension plans sponsored by local government.
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There was no forfeited contribution under the scheme available
for deduction of future contribution to be made by the Group
during the Year. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution was
utilised during the Year, and as at 31 December 2023, there was
no forfeited contribution available to reduce the Group’s existing
level of contributions to the scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment
of retirement benefits associated with the schemes except the
contribution described above.

CONTRACTS WITH DIRECTORS AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which any member of the Group was a
party subsisting during the Year or as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance has been entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the Year
or as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business
apart from the Group's business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Bye-law 164 of the Bye-laws and subject to the
provisions permitted by the Companies Ordinance, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his
office. The permitted indemnity provision made by the Company
for the benefit of the Directors and other officers of the
Company is in force.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

1.

138

Directors’ interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they have taken, or are deemed to have taken,
under such provisions of the SFO), or recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were set
out below:

EFNkRMN KBRS ZED
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ERTHAZEN ARSI EBEEZE (8
ZR(EHFRBEBRG) EXVER) B9RMD
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BARBMRITNEREXE (BERERE
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HAEEB) E352C BE LN A A B AR
ERELEMANER X E > HRRIEE
STRIZBR & AR A B) R Bt 22 P BY 48 25 Sz o3k
BT

The Company b AT
Percentage to
Nature of Number of total issued
Name of Director Capacity interest held ordinary shares share capital
BT
E5HA &1 EEtE ik ea=pald 4= g =pagan
Mr. Li Yongjun Interests of Long position 624,960,000 23.60%
corporation
controlled
FXEBELRE REZEGEEZ #F2 624,960,000 23.60%
R

Mr. Liu Tingan, a former executive Director and chairman
of the management committee of the Company, held
36,306,000 Shares in long position as beneficial owner,
representing approximately 1.64% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2023.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions they have
taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions
of the SFO), or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or
otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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BEFERS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Long positions in Shares:

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
every person, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRRHMA TR REE
BRin Zz HEa

RiRBZEE
BRBAEARDREESFT KA EFRAFE3361FA
FEZEMAEH R_E-_=ZF+2A4
Zt+t—RB B2RFAERRARMRERRN
5%HUEZ AT (RRBEFHITHBHG
SN PREER 2 KA T ¢

Number of Percentage to

Nature of ordinary total issued

Name of shareholders Notes Capacity interest shares held share capital

HwesT

IRERATE Wizt &3 S FrfsEEiREE RAEBSL

Eternal Glory Holdings Limited (1) Beneficial owner Long position 624,960,000 23.60%

("Eternal Glory")

KMEEERRAS (DRIEER)) (1) BmBEAA FA 624,960,000 23.60%

Mr. Li Yongjun (“Mr. Li") (1) Interests of corporation  Long position 624,960,000 23.60%
controlled

FxBERE (MFEXE) (1) MRREGREEZ#EED A 624,960,000 23.60%

Ms. Liu Xinjun (“Ms. Liu") (1) Interest of spouse Long position 624,960,000 23.60%

FmERLT (ML) (1) EBz#E=m A 624,960,000 23.60%

Youfu Investment Co., Ltd. (“Youfu”) (2)  Beneficial owner Long position 340,192,957 12.85%

BRRERARAR (B4R 2) BmBEBA Fa 340,192,957 12.85%

Mr. Sun Mingwen (2)  Interests of corporation  Long position 340,192,957 12.85%
controlled

HEAX L (2) REEGHEEZER 59 340,192,957 12.85%

Zhisheng Enterprise Investment Co., Ltd. (3)  Beneficial owner Long position 170,097,333 6.42%

("Zhisheng”)

BHEELEFRAS (MBI (3) BmEAA FA 170,097,333 6.42%

Mr. Zhu Yanbin (3) Interests of corporation Long position 170,097,333 6.42%
controlled

KEMAEE (3) MREGREEZ#ED A 170,097,333 6.42%
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Notes:

1. Mr. Li is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of
Eternal Glory and is deemed to be interested in the 624,960,000
Shares, representing approximately 23.60% of the total issued
Shares, held by Eternal Glory under the SFO. Ms. Liu, being Mr.
Li's spouse, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
Shares held by Mr. Li by virtue of the SFO.

2. Mr. Sun Mingwen is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of Youfu and is deemed to be interested in the
340,192,957 Shares, representing approximately 12.85% of the
total issued Shares, held by Youfu under the SFO.

3. Mr. Zhu Yanbin is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of Zhisheng and is deemed to be interested in the
170,097,333 Shares, representing approximately 6.42% of the
total issued Shares, held by Zhisheng under the SFO.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, there are no significant events
subsequent to 31 December 2023 which would materially affect
the Group’s operating and financial performance as of the date
of this report.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

BEFERS

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited was appointed as Auditor by the
Board, and to hold office commencing from 10 November 2021
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company at a fee to be agreed with the Directors as authorised
by the Shareholders thereat.

A resolution for the re-appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited, the retiring Auditor, and being eligible, who will
offer themselves for re-appointment, would be proposed for
the consideration by the Shareholders, and if thought fit, for
approval at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited and
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Li Yongjun
Chairman
Hong Kong, 10 April 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

b ;L

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
RENCO HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Renco
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
154 to 288, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

1.

144

Loan to an associate, trade receivables, loan
receivables, note receivables and other receivables
We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of
a loan to an associate, certain trade receivables, loan
receivables, note receivables and certain other receivables
of HK$50,812,000, HK$Nil, HK$630,135,000, HK$Nil
and HK$52,104,000 as at 31 December 2023 respectively
and HK$55,907,000, HK$Nil, HK$785,703,000,
HK$69,049,000 and HK$57,295,000 respectively as
at 31 December 2022 and whether the loss allowance
provisions in respect to a loan to an associate, certain trade
receivables, loan receivables, note receivables and certain
other receivables of HK$Nil, HK$Nil, HK$142,500,000,
HK$69,049,000 and HK$5,191,000 respectively for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and HK$33,542,000,
HK$5,464,000, HK$233,461,000, HK$69,050,000 and
HK$51,988,000 respectively for the year ended 31
December 2022 were appropriately recorded.

In the absence of the information in relation to the
financial status of these issuer, customers and borrowers
on assessing its ability for settling on these outstanding
amounts to the Group, the management considered that
there is uncertainty on recovering the abovementioned
balances. The management has initiated actions
including but not limited to legal action against certain
abovementioned balances, hence no result from actions
is available up to the date of this report for justifying the
extent of the recoverability of the aforesaid balances.
There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we
could adopt to determine whether any allowance for
non-recovery of the amount should be made in respect
to a loan to an associate, certain trade receivables, loan
receivables, note receivables and certain other receivables
in the consolidated financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Other payables and accruals

Included in other payables and accruals in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 were other payables and accruals
of approximately HK$2,311,000 and HK$2,375,000
respectively which were due to a party. Due to the limited
accounting books and records available to us, we were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
satisfy ourselves as to the nature and obligation of other
payables and accruals of approximately HK$2,311,000 and
HK$2,375,000 respectively as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that
we could adopt to determine the nature and whether any
written-back should be made in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Included in other gains and losses on the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2022 of
approximately HK$38,268,000, representing the
amounts of written back on other payables and accruals
(the ""Written Back”). We were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to whether the Written Back of approximately
HK$38,268,000 were properly accounted for in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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Tax payable

Included in tax payable in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
of approximately HK$266,790,000 and HK$268,471,000
respectively which represent tax payables of certain
subsidiaries. In the absence of final assessment from
the relevant tax authority, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to the obligation of tax payables of approximately
HK$266,790,000 and HK$268,471,000 respectively as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 and whether the income tax
expense for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
respectively were appropriately recorded.

Any adjustments to the figures described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group financial performance and
cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 and the related disclosure thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$376,286,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December
2023 the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities
of approximately HK$916,410,000 and HK$104,588,000
respectively. In addition, the Group had outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$1,195,468,000 which would be due
for repayment within the next twelve months or on demand,
loan from a director of approximately HK$16,957,000 which
are repayable on demand and bank balances and deposits of
approximately HK$23,877,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report.

Loans to associates
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of loans to associates for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of loans to associates of approximately
HK$197,694,000 as at 31 December 2023 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Evaluating management’s impairment assessment on the
default risk of these balances by challenging management’s
views of probability of default events of amounts
outstanding;

- Challenging management'’s view of risk of default and loss
given default of these balances;

- Performing background search of the underlying
borrowers;
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- Evaluating other evidences including financial information,
day past due information and credit rating of the
underlying borrowers available;

- Evaluating the appropriateness of methodology and
assumptions adopted in estimating the fair value of the
collaterals with the assistance of our valuation specialists;

—  Questioning management’s knowledge of future conditions
that may impact expected receipts from the underlying
borrowers; and

—  Assessing the disclosures of the quantitative and qualitative
considerations in relation to credit risks on these balances,
by comparing these disclosures to our understanding of
the matter.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loans to
associates is supported by the available evidence.

Property, plant and equipment
Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$299,089,000 as at 31 December 2023 is
material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

-  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

- Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculation;
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Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins and discount
rates);

Checking input data to supporting evidence;

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by the Company;

Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property, plant
and equipment is supported by the available evidence.

Trade receivables
Refer to Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of trade receivables of approximately
HK$56,767,000 as at 31 December 2023 is material to the

consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Group’s

impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

—  Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;
- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information in the
Company'’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence about loan to an associate,
certain trade receivables, loan receivables, note receivables and
other receivables, other payables and accruals and tax payable.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the
other information is materially misstated with respect to these
matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wan Ho Yuen

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P04309
Hong Kong, 10 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEmKREMEER= R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
e e i

2023 2022
=F== .
Notes HKD’000 HKD'000
Mzt FHET FA7T
REVENUE A 9 257,685 355,682
Cost of sales THE A AR (239,464) (323,421)
GROSS PROFIT EF 18,221 32,261
Other income Hig A 10 5,255 5,163
Other gains and losses Hithm 518 11 (34,205) 41,177
Impairment loss on financial assets & RE &R EE1E 6/(iii) (218,159) (335,015)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAS (10,400) (14,932)
Administrative expenses THRAX (61,071) (75,917)
OPERATING LOSS REREE (300,359) (347,263)
Finance costs MEEA 12 (59,975) (65,766)
Share of results of joint ventures EEEREZER - (20,662)
Share of results of associates HHE AT 2 EE (14,779) (30,527)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRiR A5 18 (375,113) (464,218)
Income tax expense TS = H 13 (1,173) (1,918)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR NEERE 14 (376,286) (466,136)
Other comprehensive loss after BRI EHM B EASIE !
tax:
Items that may be reclassified to FIREEFH D EEEFZ
profit or loss: IEH :
Exchange differences on translating & BINEFEE
foreign operations PE R =% (56,235) (31,044)
Exchange differences reclassified HENBABRENDLE
to profit or loss on disposal of FEDNERERE
subsidiaries - 4,578
Share of other comprehensive HEEREZ
income of associates Hh 2w s (3.312) (2,469)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e Em Rk EMEE W R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

2023 2022
—g-= S
Notes HKD'000 HKD'000
HiaE FHET TAET
Items that will not be reclassified A ZEFHNEEETZ
to profit or loss: HE
Gain on revaluation of property, ME-BERKZHEZEMR
plant and equipment Wz 39,032 2,438
Income tax effect TSt o & (9,758) (610)
Other comprehensive loss for the KXEEHMPEEE R
year, net of tax I8 (30,273) (27,107)
Total comprehensive loss for the AEEREEIEELE
year (406,559) (493,243)
Loss per share (HK cents) FIREIE (GB1L) 19
— Basic and diluted — B AR #E (14.21) (19.08)

SEC=E5H MHZEREEERAT .



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBI

As at 31 December 2023
g e i

2023 2022
—T=F — -
Notes HKD’000 HKD'000
HiaE TFHET TAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 20 299,089 280,039
Right-of-use assets EREEE 21 8,830 6,756
Investments in associates REERAB Z”E 22 528,622 551,809
Investments in joint ventures REghEILE 23 - -
Rental and utility deposits MER AZRMEE 21 21
Financial assets at fair value through ZAF{Ezt A @
profit or loss TREE 24 2,407 2,397
Deposits paid BfiZE 36 105
Other receivables Hh U1 25 - 2,374
Total non-current assets ERENE ELEE 839,005 843,501
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Inventories =78 27 31,079 44,043
Trade receivables B 5 RULIRR 28 56,767 86,552
Prepayments, other receivables and  FE{J 7 IE ~ EAthfE A IE Kz
other assets Hth&E 28 70,135 87,427
Loan receivables U &= 29 630,135 785,703
Note receivables RN E 30 = 69,049
Financial assets at fair value through AT Est AEBTZZ
profit or loss TMEE 24 56,393 74,377
Bank balances and deposits RITEE R R TFERX 37 23,877 46,943
Total current assets MENE EHAE 868,386 1,194,094
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

PAAN
[0 =]

R R

As at 31 December 2023

R-E-_=F+-A=+—8
2023 2022
—_E-= —E2-C
Notes HKD’000 HKD'000
ioa=3 FHET FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Trade payables B 5 BT IRM 32 60,459 89,069
Other payables and accruals HhfE R IE K& FEst & A 32 234,379 161,364
Tax payable FEfS#R 18 274,643 275,943
Lease liabilities HEaE 35 2,890 3,193
Borrowings (=3t 33 1,195,468 901,409
Loan from a director KE—LEEZEX 34 16,957 111,137
Total current liabilities mMEaELEEE 1,784,796 1,542,115
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBEFEE (916,410) (348,021)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERGHERE
LIABILITIES (77,405) 495,480
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEER
Lease liabilities HEEE 35 3,257 960
Borrowings BE 33 = 177,941
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIEBEE 26 23,926 14,608
Total non-current liabilities ERENE E4EZE 27,183 193,509
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BfRFHE) BEEFE (104,588) 301,971

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR IR

As at 31 December 2023
IR =ey SSES =]

2023 2022
T = —EF-
Notes HKD'000 HKD'000
K zE FHET FET
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of ZAT]HEA AEGEE
the Company
Share capital N 36 264,800 264,800
Reserves i (369,388) 37,171
TOTAL (DEFICIT IN EQUITY)/ (FEZER4L) T 4R%E
EQUITY (104,588) 301,971

The consolidated financial statements on pages 154 to 288
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 10 April 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:
HEE -
Xing Mengwei
mEE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EEmEBEFR

~
o I |
gy For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZE_—F+"_HA=+—HIEE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BRFRE NS
Property
Share Share Contributed revaluation Translation Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve Statutory reserve losses Total
Bk i EE BARE  NEEGRE HERE ¥at it @it
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FiEn Thn FiEn Tén FiEn Fin Fi#n Fin
At 1 January 2022 rZE5-"%-A-f 220,800 2,559,569 19,000 44,349 71,817 1335 (2,168,955) 753,915
Loss for the year KEEFR - - - - - - (466,136) (466,136)
tems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: HEH BT ER B
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations ~ BEEHERZERZE - - = = (31,044) - - (31,044)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or loss on HERBLARENNEERENERZE
disposal of subsidiaries - - - - 4,578 - - 4578
Share of other comprehensive income of assoclates EHENTZ A2 EkE - - - - (2,469) - - (2,469)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or foss: FEEN TR B
(Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  EfE41E BERREZ NG - - - 1828 - - - 1828
Total comprehensive incomef{loss) for the year, net of tax  AEE2 NG/ (618) B8 NHRE - - - 1828 (28,935) - (466,136) (493,243)
Issue of shares on placement (note 36) RERZARA (H336) 4,000 {2,701) - - - - - 41,99
At 31 December 2022 RIEZZE+ZA=+-H 264,800 2,556,868 19,000 46,177 42,882 71335 (2,635,091) 301,971
t 1 January 2023 KZBZ=%-F-R 264,800 2,556,868 19,000 46,171 42,88 7335 (2,635,091) 301,971
Loss for the year REEES - - - - - - (376,286) (376,286)
Items that may be redlassified to profit or foss: JEN T ER B
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations ~ BEENERERZE - - - - (56,235) - - (56,235)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates EHENTZ A2 ENE - - - - (3312) - - (3312)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or foss: FEEN BT EH B
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  EfE41ERERSREZ NG - - - 29,274 - - - 29,274
Total comprehensive incomef(loss) for the year, net of tax  ZEE2ERE/ (618 B IRKE - - - 29,274 (59,547) - (376,286) (406,559)
At 31 December 2023 RZ8Z=E+ZF=+-H 264,800 2,556,868 19,000 75,451 (16,665) 1335 (3,011,377) (104,588)
ZEEFR MEEREEFRAR 159



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

\\7|'\

iﬁéEﬂﬂE%%E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_-—F+_H=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—T=F — -
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHT FA7T
Cash flows from operating activities KRETHZHAERE
Loss before tax f&IR AT E R (375,113) (464,218)
Adjustments for: FE
Depreciation charge of property, plant and ¥ ¥ R R BHITE
equipment & A 12,447 17,982
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEITEER 3,961 4,566
Interest income A E WA (12,221) (28,233)
Finance costs EE A 59,975 65,766
Share of results of joint ventures EEEREZER - 20,662
Share of results of associates MBS NT 2 2B 14,779 30,527
Written back on other payables and accruals — #[0] H fth /& {20 18 K FE 5t
&H (221) (38,268)
Waiver for payable to Mr. Liu Tingan HRENEELEENE - (16,661)
Impairment loss on financial assets TR EERERE 218,159 335,015
Fair value change on investments at fair BAFEFABGEZRE
value through profit or loss NI {EEE (10) =
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries HEWBAB ZEE - 1,311
Penalty of lawsuits SRER S K 54,357 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
HERSRER

2023 2022
=== .
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHT FA7T
Operating cash flows before working capital ZiE& L& BF1>
changes KSR RE (23,887) (71,551)
Change in rental and utility deposits MERAARMZEEEH - 44
Change in other receivables Hih W R Ia & 2,374 (2,374)
Change in inventories FEEE) 12,964 12,657
Change in trade receivables B EINARREE 28,347 77,415
Change in loan receivables FEUR B =R &8 12,048 28,213
Change in financial assets at fair value BATFESABERZ
through profit or loss, net THMEEST FLE 17,984 41,490
Change in prepayment, other receivables TETRRIE ~ HA UG IE
and other assets REMEEES) 12,170 27,364
Change in trade payables B RN ED (28,610) (102,132)
Change in other payables and accruals HMERIBER
FEst & &8 2,343 (4,074)
Cash generated from operations EEMBzRE 35,733 7,052
Income taxes paid B ER (2,913) (4,798)
Interests received BUWF S 173 20
Net cash generated from operating REEHMBZIREFEE
activities 32,993 2,274
Cash flows from investing activities KREIZHZHAESRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment EEY X E KRR E (99) (229)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEY ¥ -HERZEZ
equipment FriS ™18 = 303
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HE M B R B PTERIE - 70
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HEZAFEAEBTZ
fair value through profit or loss ETMEEZFTISMIE - 1,869
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES FrA) EE2Z
investing activities HEPE (99) 2,013
TECZHEFR RMEEZEREERFRAT 161
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

n\7|-\ Eﬁr% lllléﬂ%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_TZ_=F+"H=+—HLEE

2023 2022
=F== .
HKD’000 HKD'000
FAET FBT
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHZHAESRE
New borrowings g ER 221,579 367,764
Borrowings from a director RE—BESZEN 14,444 =
(Repayment to)/borrowings from (A—&BEBATER)

a related party RE—BEABA LT ZER - (2,950)
Repayment of borrowings BIEEMN (232,528) (331,611)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEMHEEaE (4,141) (8,716)
Interest paid [EENEESS (51,673) (58,269)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRDPTIEFIE - 41,299
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES) (FRA) FRiSZ

financing activities REFEE (52,319) 7,517
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash RERRESZEW GAL)

equivalents EhNEEE (19,425) 11,804
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net FEXEH) 2 F58 (3.641) (1,189)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January ﬁ?-ﬁ—El Z2HRER

REFEY 46,943 36,328
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December WR+-_HA=+—HZELK
REFEY 23,877 46,943
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERREEEMDIN
Cash and bank balances as stated in the GREMBIRRRASZ
consolidated statement of financial RE R IBITEEER
position 23,877 46,943
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NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Renco Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

As at 31 December 2023, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Company has no immediate and
ultimate holding company or ultimate controlling party.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) was involved in
the following activities:

- manufacturing and sale of a broad range of printed
circuit boards (“PCBs");

- investment and trading of securities and related
treasury activities; and

- advising on securities and asset management
services.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a consolidated net loss of
approximately HK$376,286,000 during the year ended
31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2023 the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$916,410,000 and HK$104,588,000
respectively. In addition, the Group had outstanding
borrowings of approximately HK$1,195,468,000
which would be due for repayment within the next
twelve months, loan from a director of approximately
HK$16,957,000 which are repayable on demand and bank
balances and deposits of approximately HK$23,877,000.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEZ_-—F+_HB=1+—HLFE

—REH
BREREEARAR (FAF)) KE
REXMRIABREERAE HRH
REBMERZAARAE (MM
FHREM

\ZBS=H+ZA=+—8 FATE
T8 AAFLRERRBMIZRAT
B IERRTS °

RRABZEMMERE T2 E R E
HRERZ ABERHKEE

RER > FZRABREMBAT WHET4RE
) REUTES !

— RNEKRBEERNRREZEDR KR
(TENRI AR E&HRJ)

- REMBEESKEEEREH
i

— MRS REEERERREHBEEZTIER
7o

FEKER®

BE _ T _=F#+_B=+—BLEE"
RNEBES FEEEFEEA376,286,000
BT BRZEZ=F+ZB=+—
B - A&EBERBEBEIEEBETHE
D FI%9916,410,0007 7T 52 104,588,000
Bl REBEREEERD
1,195,468,000 &8 TR KKK+ ZEA
NEMEE RBE—RBRESTZEMRL
16,957,000 LB B RER » LUIKIET
4R R 12 F04923,877,0005 7 « 2 R
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A
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155 R R N 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

2.

164

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

The directors of the Company consider the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and financial obligations as and when they fall due, and
accordingly, are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis after taking into consideration of the followings:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

enhancing the collection of loan and note receivables
by monitoring repayments when they fall due;

a substantial shareholder, through related companies
of which are also owned by this substantial
shareholder, has undertaken to provide continuing
financial support to the Group to remain continuing
operations and to meet its liabilities and obligations
when they fall due;

the Group will actively negotiate with the lenders for
debts restructuring and the renewal of the Group’s
borrowings when they fall due in order to secure
necessary funds to meet the Group's working capital
and financial requirements in the foreseeable future.
In the opinion of the Directors, the Group will be able
to roll over or refinance the borrowings upon their
maturity;

identifying new investment and business development
opportunities to increase the Group’s profitability;
and

the Group is actively exploring the availability of
various sources of financing including the disposal of
assets or obtain secured facilities by way of pledge of
assets etc.
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GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

The directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to the consolidated financial statements
to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The application of
these new HKFRSs will not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

4,
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of buildings and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Consolidation (continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’'s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and
any related accumulated exchange fluctuation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’'s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-
date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date
fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Company's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the
goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income), the
amount that was recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised on the same basis as would be
required if the previously held equity interest were
disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as
that of “impairment of assets” as stated in the accounting
policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
("CGU") that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Associates (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration
of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that associate and (ii) the Group’s share of the net
assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that associate and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control. Relevant activities are activities that
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When
assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its
assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its
liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output
arising from the joint operation; its share of the revenue
from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly, in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the joint venture's identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill
is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at
the end of each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of a joint venture's post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or
exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint
venture subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of
the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that
results in a loss of joint control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that joint venture and (ii) the Group's share of the net
assets of that joint venture plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that joint venture and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in a
joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of joint ventures have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.
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(continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)
(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEESHEE (&

(continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued) SMEE (B)
(c) Translation on consolidation (c) #EHEHE

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised

in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Buildings
are carried at fair values, based on periodic valuations by
external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation
and impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at
the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is
restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Revaluation increases of buildings are recognised in profit
or loss to the extent that the increases reverse revaluation
decreases of the same asset previously recognised in profit
or loss. All other revaluation increases are credited to
the property revaluation reserve as other comprehensive
income. Revaluation decreases that offset previous
revaluation increases of the same asset remaining in the
property revaluation reserve are charged against the
property revaluation reserve as other comprehensive
income. All other decreases are recognised in profit or
loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued
building, the attributable revaluation increases remaining
in the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
retained profits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued
amounts less their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings Over the lease terms
ranging from

30 to 50 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Moulds, dies, test fixtures and 4 years

pins

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Category Annual rate
Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Buildings Shorter of lease terms or 20 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Investments at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL").

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade, loans and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial assets

(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified under this category
if they do not meet the conditions to be
measured at amortised cost and the conditions
of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates
an equity investment that is not held for trading as
at fair value through other comprehensive income on
initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and
dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost and
lease receivables. Expected credit losses (“ECLs”) are the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks
of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to the expected credit losses that result
from all possible default events over the expected life
of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit
losses(continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Other revenue
(a) Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(b) Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method.

(c) Realised fair value gains or losses on securities trading
are recognised on a trade date basis, whilst unrealised
fair value gains or losses are recognised on change in
fair value at the end of reporting period.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short term
employee benefits are recognised in the year when
the employees render the related service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
when the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs (continued)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining
a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets
are deducted from the carrying amount of the assets.
The grant is recognised in profit or loss over the life of a
depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first
against any unamortised deferred income set up in respect
of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any
such deferred income, or where no deferred income exists,
the repayment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by
increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the
deferred income by the amount repayable. The cumulative
additional depreciation that would have been recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss to date in
the absence of the grant is recognised immediately in
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

EEESHER (B

wIE (&)

BLERMBRVBRENEEREERE
BERAEERNENFABAEABRENZE
RS IEEMIAR R —RIZFI A ERR
UREZHEESAR MEERNBEEER S
£ FI AE B FE AR A it 7 A (R HE 85 7T T 40
HERER RBRAREERENRTAR
EREREDBAR - HEREREBHELR
EAFERRRNEN KRG ENNRZ S
R REESD EHSHIERIN HHEER
BEMEL BEMEERERESTE

&
50 ©

RNB AR RBEABDNKREUARRE
EhE G ELTNERNE R EET)
BAEERBERR ERER I EH Y
RO RAEMENEZEERS
B BT T8 R R 2R BRI R BR Ib ©

FEMBEENRBMENRSRSHRE
TEs X FUIREETB KR E5
RN ENEIHKRCEELRBREES
ko

189



Note

— A
e

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fr R R Y 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

4,

190

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in consolidated statement of
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the deferred tax is also recognised in consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group's most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

192

(B)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The entity and the entities comprising the
Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant

influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a parent of the
Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and other intangible
assets, except for deferred tax assets, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, inventories and
receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit ("CGU") is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in consolidated statement of profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of assets

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the financial support of the
controlling shareholder at a level sufficient to finance
the working capital requirements of the Group and
other various means. Details are explained in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a) Impairment of loans to associates, note

receivables and loan receivables

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period
the ECLs of loans to associates, note receivables and
loan receivables in accordance with the three stage
model set out in accounting policy notes on individual
or collectively basis, as appropriate. The Group
estimates risk of default of the debtors and the ECL
rates considering factors such as days past due of the
receivables, debtors’ creditworthiness, past repayment
history, the recoverable amount of the securities and
the timing of future cash inflows, then adjusted for
existing market condition including forward looking
estimates at the end of the reporting period.

If the financial condition of its debtors was to
deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might
be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(b) Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables of manufacturing segment.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates including forecast economic conditions (i.e.
gross domestic products) are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in note 6(iii) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

(d)

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

ltems of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight line basis over their
estimated useful lives after taking into account the
estimated residual values. The estimated useful
lives are based on the expected lives of those
property, plant and equipment items. The useful
lives of property, plant and equipment could change
significantly as a result of technical obsolescence.
When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment, due to the change of commercial and
technological environment, are different from their
estimated useful lives, such difference will impact the
depreciation charges.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group assesses annually whether property, plant
and equipment have any indication of impairment,
in accordance with the relevant accounting policies.
Determining impairment requires an estimation of the
value in use (the "VIU"). The VIU calculation requires
the use of judgement and estimates on future
operating cash flows and discount rates adopted.
Where the actual cash flows are different from the
original estimate, a material change in the amount of
impairment may arise.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(i) Foreign currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management closely monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The carrying amounts of the monetary assets
and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, i.e. currency other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities, which are
mainly trade receivables, loan receivables, intra-group

5 R E R
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companies balances, trade payables, bank balances WEHARZIREENT !
and deposits and borrowings at the end of the
reporting period, are as follows:
2023 2022
—F-= —EC
HKD’000 HKD'000
FAET FHB7T
Assets BE
United States dollars (“US$") %7t (M%&) 66,362 102,393
Renminbi (“RMB") AR TARY)) 192,677 199,510
Macau pataca (“MOP") Pt (TRPIHE]) 34 20
Liabilities =R
us$ ETT 53,708 59,593
RMB AR 168,458 179,918
Japanese Yen H 168 30
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase in the functional currencies of the
group entities, against relevant foreign currencies,
mainly US$ and RMB. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group’s sensitivity to
the change in US$ against HK$ is low as HK$ are
pegged to US$. In addition, the monetary assets
denominated in Japanese Yen and MOP are not
significant and the directors of the Company consider
that the Company’s exposure to the currency of
Japanese Yen and MOP are minimal. As a result, the
following sensitivity table does not include the impact
of such changes. 5% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
year end for 5% change in foreign currency rates.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

A positive number below indicates a decrease in loss
for the year when the functional currencies have
strengthened against the relevant foreign currencies.
For a 5% weakening of the functional currencies
against the relevant foreign currencies, there would
be an equal but opposite impact on the result for the
year.

6. MBRAKER (&

(i)

SRR (2)

HEDHT (B)
TRZEHBTRRINEEE AR
SNEEBRR AFREBEERLD -
ERYPEEERERIINEEHE5%
HEFEXERBRBEZEERFE
%,

2023 2022
— 5= . —
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FAET
uss$ =TT
Decrease in loss for the year KEERFERD 633 2,140
RMB AR
Decrease in loss for the year KEEBERLD 1,211 980

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate loans to associates, note
receivables, loan receivables, borrowings and loan
from a director.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and deposits with
floating interest rates. The directors of the Company
monitor the related cash flow interest rate risk
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
cash flow interest rate risk exposure should the need
arise. No derivative contracts have been entered into
during both years. In the opinion of directors of the
Company, no sensitivity analysis for bank balances
and deposits is prepared as the effect of fluctuation
of interest rate is not significant.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HAEEMEEIE (&
(iii) Credit risk (iii) EERRE

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. The Group mainly trades
with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group's policy that credit terms are granted
subject to in-depth credit verification procedures. In
addition, trade receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and trade receivables of
manufacturing segment are substantially covered
by credit insurance. In this regard, management
considers that the Group’s credit risk is minimal and
there is no requirement for collateral.

In respect of loans to associates, note receivables and
loan receivables, the Group assesses the background
and financial condition of the debtors, and requests
securities from the debtors and/or guarantee from the
debtors’ related parties in order to minimise credit
risk.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to perform an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
high credit ratings.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. MERREIRE (&
(i) Credit risk (iii) EERRE (&
The Group also has concentration of credit risk as KEBENTBEEEETRKE  REA
9% (2022: 8%) of the total trade receivables of EWAERRSEDEIMAZTEX
manufacturing segment were due from the Group's BLEREDBEZEZRMAAETEZI%
two largest customers in manufacturing segment. (ZEZ"F 1 8%) BRI
While for treasury investment and financial service KREKREHIREDPEMS A& E
segments, the Group has concentration of credit EEEEFRAER REREAERR
risk as 52% and 28% of total loan receivables RKERA KM EEE QAT ERZR
(including loans to associates) (2022: 55% and 23% BN AL EMARE (B1EE T
of total loan and note receivables (including loans to ENBZER) Z252%K28% (&
associates)) were due from the Group’s five largest TR HRNERRERERE (B8
borrowers and two associates respectively. FETHELABD ZEMR) Z55% K&
23%) ©
The following tables provide information about TRIGEHMAERRFRNZERM
Group's impairment on financial assets for the year: BERBBENER :
2023 2022
ZZZ= -
Treasury Treasury
investment investment
and financial and financial
Manufacturing service Manufacturing service
segments segments Total segments segments Total
MBERER HBERER
NENE  SHBRBLE st WENE  EHMRBOE fa st
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
THET THET TER THT TER THET
Impairment/(reversal of &7 EUERAE/
impairment) loss on (Bl E) B8
trade receivables 1,419 - 1,419 (470) 5,464 4,994
Impairment loss on other EftEWFERESE
receivables - 5,191 5,191 - 27,510 27,510
Impairment loss on loan  FEWRERUR ERE
receivables - 142,500 142,500 - 233,461 233,461
Impairment loss on note  [EWIZ R ERE
receivables - 69,049 69,049 - 69,050 69,050
1419 216,740 218,159 (470) 335,485 335,015
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MBEKRER (&
(iii) EE AR (&)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.
(iii) Credit risk(continued)

(a) Impairment of trade receivables of (a) HESBEZEZEIWERZRE
manufacturing segment
The Group measures loss allowances for AEBERENR2PRPEES
trade receivables of manufacturing segment B EHEGTERENHEES
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which FEWRREEEE  ZoEE
is calculated using a provision matrix which REARUBEEEXANERD
is based on days past due for groupings of #5480 Bl)%80 B B 2 BB HE 4 AE e
customer segments that have similar loss &
patterns.
The following tables provide information about TRIHEEAAERNRSE A
the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for KZEBSRWEREERRER
the trade receivables at the end of the reporting TEHAEERIEER .
period:
2023 2022
=& 2 °F
Gross Gross
Expected  carrying Loss  Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
FEHEEX KRELE BEERE BREEX KEgE BEEE
HKD'000  HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FTHET FTHET FET FET
Current ENA 0.0% 18,678 - 0.0% 27,070 -
0-30 days past due  HIEA0E308 0.0% 5,226 - 0.0% 2529 -
31-90 days past due  #331%908 0.0% 16,720 - 0.0% 18,181 -
Over 90 days past due  #HA90H MLk 15.2% 19,035 2,892 8.5% 17,497 1,492
59,659 2,892 88,044 1,492

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past two years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over
which the historic data has been collected,
insurance coverage on doubtful debts and
current conditions and the Group's view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE

BB RXTLERNBEMEN
ERBRERSH ZFLEX
BEFRE  URBRIKEBTH
BHBEACERRINERE R
IREV R IR R IR AR A £
B 3 E IR TR St FE R E
MRHER °
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BA#REKREIR (&
(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) SERAK &
(a) Impairment of trade receivables of (a) HEHDBZE S BRI E
manufacturing segment (continued) (#
The following table reconciles the impairment TRAEXFEEZEFREHNMESE
loss of trade receivables of manufacturing NS DB E 5 EWERRURE
segment arising from contracts with customers B HER
for the year:
2023 2022
HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FAT
At 1 January R—B—H 1,492 2,010
Impairment loss/(reversal of BEEZRERBE
impairment loss) recognised (BEREEE) 1,419 (470)
Exchange realignment P& 2 5 B (19) (48)
At 31 December R+-—B=+—H 2,892 1,492

204

(b)

Change in gross carrying amounts of the trade
receivables during the year did not result in
significant change in the loss allowance.

Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments

The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables, other receivables, loans
to associates, loans receivables and note
receivables of treasury investment and financial
service segments using the general approach
under HKFRS 9. Impairment of these financial
assets was provided based on the “three-stage”
model by referring to the changes in credit
quality since initial recognition.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(iii) Credit risk(continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)
Financial assets that are not credit-impaired on
initial recognition are classified in “Stage 1" and
have their credit risk continuously monitored by
the Group. The ECL is measured on a 12-month
basis.

- If a significant increase in credit risk (as
defined in accounting policy Note 4 since
initial recognition is identified, the financial
asset is moved to “Stage 2" but it not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired. The ECL is
measured on lifetime basis.

- If the financial asset is credit-impaired (as
defined in accounting policy Note 4, the
financial asset is then moved to “Stage 3”.
The ECL is measured on lifetime basis.

- At Stages 1 and 2, interest income is
calculated on the gross carrying amount
(without deducting the loss allowance).
If a financial asset subsequently becomes
credit-impaired (Stage 3), the Group is
required to calculate the interest income
by applying the effective interest method
in subsequent reporting periods to the
amortised cost of the financial asset
(the gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) rather than the gross carrying
amount.

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

6. MBRAKER (&
(i) EEERE (&)

(b) HBERERZMIREFEZ I
A FEAARmAEZE
HEERE (&
RORERSLEEEREZ
THEENER B —REIK
rEBFEEEHEERK
FRAEERBERR12ER B %5t

E=-°

— HYREREHNHEE
EEAEEm(EERE
STBURMIE4) > BIEmE
EERETE M -8
FEREERE - FAHE
BEEE2EEE-

- HEREBEESEERE
(E& R g5 BRMEE
4) RIEMEEERE
ME=MEkl -AHEER
BEREMEESE-

- RE-—KFZEER AR
WA ZEREABE CH R
EREER SFE-HER
BEERUERRAEGRE
(F=MK) " ~&EHEZA
RERBSHELEME
EZEBIENE CRE®E
R S 18 15 4 0 T IF AR T AR
B) FABRMNEFLHSE
HEWA °
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(iii) Credit risk(continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured

at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)
The gross carrying amounts of the financia
assets of treasury investment and financial
service segments, and thus the maximum
exposure to loss, are as follows:

6. HEREETIE (&
(iii) EERAK #&)
(b) HEREREZHMRFESIEZ T

TR LT EE AR

BEEHRE (&)
MHEREREMRBOEZE
MEERERE BEER
Bk T

Bt sl BEZ &

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B 78 A
5818 ZHRHEERE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—EE 5 REES BRER e
2023 HKD'000 HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
—EZ= FTERT FERT FHET FHET
Trade receivables — B 5 YR — RER*
Doubtful* - - 90,616 90,616
Other receivables included st AFBTZIE  H A
in prepayments, other EWHRIER HMEE
receivables and other Z HMEWRIAE
assets
- Doubtful* —RER* - 100,000 240,392 340,392
Loan receivables — secured FEUREF—F KT
- Doubtful* —RIR* - 308,312 1,402,579 1,710,891
Note receivables - secured W ZE 1 —75 I
— Doubtful* —RIR* - - 230,165 230,165
Loans to associates BTFHEABDZER
- Doubtful* —RER* - 201,730 105,210 306,940
- 610,042 2,068,962 2,679,004
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6.

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BAFERREIR (2
(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) EERAK &)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b) HHERERZTHMIRFESEZIN
at FVTPL of treasury investment and A FEFABRITEZE
financial service segments (continued) BEERE (B)

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B 78 58
EEEE SHBEIEERE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—REER FREER B Mt
2022 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000
“EBIF FAET FAET FET FHET
Trade receivables — B S EWERT — RERY
Doubtful* - - 90,616 90,616
Other receivables included 5t AFE{FHUIE  Efth
in prepayments, other EWHIEREMEE
receivables and other Z HM W RIE
assets
— Doubtful* — RER* - 100,000 240,392 340,392
Loan receivables - secured FEWE R —7 I
— Normal* —E&* 147,107 - - 147,107
— Doubtful* — RER* — 686,512 890,340 1,576,852
Note receivables - secured W ZE 1 — 7 I
- Doubtful* —RER* - 230,165 - 230,165
Loans to associates BFHEABZER
- Doubtful* — R HER* - 313,541 - 313,541
147,107 1,330,218 1,221,348 2,698,673
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BAIEEEEIR (&
(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) SERAK &
(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b) HFERERZTHMIRFESEZIN

208

at FVTPL of treasury investment and A FEFABRITEZE
financial service segments (continued) HEEHE (&

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group did not extended the maturity date of
loan receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group extended the maturity date of certain
loan receivables and note receivables to 31
December 2023. The gross carrying amounts
of the modified receivables as at 31 December
2022 are as follows:

ME-S-=F+A=+—
B UL 4 % B I R IE R
BERHHE -

BE_T-__H+"R=+—
BIEFE AEBERETEK
EMEkERRENERBIER
EF_=HF+ZR=+—
HeKEIBBERER -
::E+—HE+—EZ%E

WENMT:
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 5 784
EEHB#E 2PFEBEERE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
—PEE; 5 _EE =R 3
2022 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
—E__ FTHT FHET FHET FHET

R E R -

Loan receivables

158,992 - 158,992

No modification loss is recognised during the
year as the directors are of the opinion that
the financial impact of the modification is not
significant.

*  The credit quality of the financial assets is

HREEBRERNMBREE
WA B K > BE RIS
A& UGS 18 ©

* 1%31?#?%”#4%%‘?}@”&%’115

considered to be “normal” when there is B XBEIAEEE

no information indicating that receivables ARG B & E,éfﬁz
had a significant increase in credit risk EEERBEINERI B
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the A - sMEEZEEER

credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BAIEREMEEIR (&

(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) EERAK &)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b)) HMERERLTMRFESEZI
at FVTPL of treasury investment and A FEFABRITEZE
financial service segments (continued) HEERE (B)

During the year, ECLs of these receivables were REE ZERBRNREBZTER
assessed on individual basis. The expected loss EEEBZERNEEN B
rates applied to each class of financial asset REMEBREREE B
above are summarised below: BRI T
2023 2022
—E=F B &
Default Expected Default Expected
Note rate loss rate rate loss rate
By aE BNE  FEPSIEX BHE BPBBEX

Trade receivables B EUERTR
Stage 3 F=PEER (i) 100% 100% 100% 100%

Other receivables H{th U TR IE

Stage 1 B N/A N/A N/A N/A
iE R RiE TEFA A
Stage 2 B PRER 50% 50% 50% 50%
Stage 3 B[R 100% 100% 100% 100%
Loan receivables FEKRER
Stage 1 B N/A N/A
TEH RiE 30% 30%
Stage 2 B PEER 50% 50% 50%-100%  50%-100%
Stage 3 E=PEER (i) 50%-100% 50%-100% 100%  57%-100%
Note receivables EREE
Stage 2 FHPEEL N/A N/A
TEH TEH 70% 70%
Stage 3 B=PEER N/A N/A
100% 100% TEA NE R

Loans to associates fEFHAE AT

ZEM
Stage 2 FEREER 2% 2% 2%-50% 2%-50%
Stage 3 B=PEEL N/A N/A

50% 50% ~EH ENicl:
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

6.

210

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(iii) Credit risk(continued)
(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured

at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)
“Default rate” represents probability of default
of the respective financial assets without taking
into accounts the value of the underlying
collaterals. “Expect loss rate” is a ECL rate of
the respective financial assets after taking into
accounts the value of the underlying collaterals
and/or expected recovery rates and time value of
money.

There is no requirement for collateral for trade
receivables, other receivables and loans to
associates except trade receivable from a debtor
is covered by collaterals mentioned in Note (i)
below.

Details of collaterals of loans receivables and
note receivables are set out in Notes 29 and 30
respectively. The Group has taken into accounts
the value of the following collaterals for certain
trade receivable and loan receivables when
assessing their ECLs:

listed shares of owned by a borrower;

- listed shares of owned by a related
companies of a borrower;

- equity interest in a borrower; and

— interest in rights to use a number of sea
areas in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC") owned by the group companies of
the borrowers.

There is no significant change in the quality of
these collaterals as a result of deterioration or
changes in the collateral policies of the Group
during the year.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(iii) Credit risk(continued)
(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and

financial service segments (continued)

Note:

(i)

Information on collaterals for assessment of
ECLs of credit-impaired receivables:

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

6. MBEMEE (&
(iii) EE AR (&)

(b) MERRREMEHHEZL
FHAFEHAHHEZE

HEERE (&)
Wit :

iy FAEFLEERERKREA
NEAEEGENERRE

el
2023
—EF-= S

Gross carrying amounts HKD’000 HKD'000
ERE4E{E F#ET
Borrower A BRAA 290,134 290,134
Borrower B &R AB 274,840 274,840
Borrower C fERAC 154,069

As at 31 December 2023, trade and
loan receivables due from debtors under
control of the same group (“Borrower
A") with aggregate gross carrying
amount set out in above table were
in default. The amount of ECLs of
HK$177,910,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$177,910,000) was
estimated with reference to the fair value
of the rights to use of sea areas in the
PRC held as security as at 31 December
2023 of approximately HK$1,403 million
(2022: HK$1,771 million) adjusted for
estimated amount of charges imposed
by other registered preferential creditors,
irrecoverable interest income and time
value of money.

_ R-s—-=

L =" =

F+=ZA

=t+—H RERE
MEEE N EXRN A AE
BEBESZES A
(TERAAL) &R
BB 5 E RS K
EWERBEEN R
—_E-=%+=-AH
= +—HWEHEE
5185 %8177,910,000
BT (ZEZ_&F
177,910,000 7t) Jh &
TR _=F+C
B=+—HEEKF
MW EEHEREA
T{E#A1,403B E BT

— = — —

(Zz=—Z

21,771

BEBT G5t Bd
wuHE it 5 8 S A
AWE Z (EET 28 A
A EF B WRARE

R RIEEFEE-

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Fr R R Y 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

6.

212

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(iii) Credit risk(continued)
(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and

financial service segments (continued)
Note:(continued)

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivable
due from a debtor (“Borrower B”) with
carrying amount set out in above table
was in default. The amount of ECL of
HK$76,955,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$76,955,000) was estimated
with reference to the estimated business
value of the 55% equity interest in the
debtor held by the Group of approximately
HK$865 million (2022: HK$889 million)
adjusted for irrecoverable interest income
and time value of money.

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivable
due from a debtor (“Borrower C”)
with carrying amount set out in above
table was assessed as default. When
determining the ECLs of HK$154,069,000
as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$154,069,000), the Group has taken
into account the listing status of the
shares pledged by Borrower C to the
Group has been cancelled on 5 May 2023.
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76,955,000 7T) /52
EREBRBFENGED
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HIBELN86SEHE BT
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6.

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BAFREIEEIR (&

(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) EERAK &)

(b) HHEBRERTHRESEZI
JEHATFEAIERSBEZE

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured
at FVTPL of treasury investment and
financial service segments (continued)

The following changes in the loss allowances of
the respective receivables during the year:

Trade receivables

HEEHRE (A

DU 73 255 E A R B WORR TR S

BEEEe:
B 5 EWAR

Changes in loss allowances

BEEEED
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B 78 HA
ZEEE 2PRBEEEE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—PEE B PEER B st
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
THET FTHET THET THET
At 1 January 2022 RZZ2-_—_F—HF—H - = 85,152 85,152
Other change: increase  HA1&&) . BHEE
in ECL rate [ SE_ESEI - = 5,464 5,464
At 31 December 2022, WIZTZZF+°AH
1January 2023 and31 =+—H - ZZ_=%F
December 2023 —B—HBERZIZZ=F
+ZA=+—H - - 90,616 90,616
“ECCHFR MEAEREESRAR 213



Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BAIEREEEIR (&

(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) SERAK &

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b)) HMERERLTMRFESEZI
at FVTPL of treasury investment and A FEFABRITEZE
financial service segments (continued) BEERE (&

Other receivables BERzE

Changes in loss allowances

BREGREY
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B &8
FEBE 2HFEREEER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—REE 24 FREE st

HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000
TERT TERT TERT TAR

At 1 January 2022 RZE-—_F#—H—H 22,490 - 233,098 255,588
Other change: (decrease)/ HT’@ BE  EHREEEEX
increase in ECL rate B /Em (22,490) 50,000 = 27,510

At 31 December 2022 ATEZ"FE+ZH

and 1 January 2023 =t—HAKRZZE=F
—A—H = 50,000 233,098 283,098
Other change: increase in Efh1& &) : FHEE
ECL rate Bl - - 5,191 5,191

At 31 December 2023 RIZE-=%+_H
=9=8 - 50,000 238,289 288,289
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6.

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BAFERREIR (2
(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) EERAK &)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b) HHERERZTHMIRFESEZIN
at FVTPL of treasury investment and A FEFABRITEZE
financial service segments (continued) HEERE (&

Loan receivables [EWE
Changes in loss allowances
BEEEEE
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B a8
EEEE SHEREESRE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
B o= BB Hst

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

FER FTET TERT TER

At 1 January 2022 R_E-_"F—H—H

Recovery of debts BT

Other change: increase in EL &%) : TEHEE
ECL rate [ SE_ESEI

35,394 198,191 471,210 704,795
= (58,107) = (58,107)
8,738 276,912 5918 291,568

At 31 December 2022 RZEZE__&F+_H

and 1 January 2023 =t+—HERZEZ=F
—HA—H

Increase in receivables  FEUFIEIE MR E
moved to stage 2 FIEER

Increase in receivables — FEUFRIEIE B E
moved to stage 3 FPEE

Other change: increase in {1 &) : FAHEE
ECL rate [ EESEI

44,132 416,996 477,128 938,256

(44,132) 44,132 = =

= (338,862) 338,862 =

= 31,889 110,611 142,500

At 31 December 2023 WRZE-=%F+_A
=48

= 154,155 926,601 1,080,756
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BAIEREEEIR (&

(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) SERAK &

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b)) HMERERLTMRFESEZI
at FVTPL of treasury investment and A FEFABRITEZE
financial service segments (continued) BEERE (&

Note receivables EW ZE

Changes in loss allowances

BREGREY
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B &8
FEBE 2HFEREEER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—REE 24 FREE st

HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000
TERT TERT TERT TAR

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE__%#—H—H - 92,066 - 92,066
Other change: increase in E41&%) | FBHEE
ECL rate GEi=ES )] = 69,050 = 69,050

At 31 December 2022 ATEZ"FE+ZH

and 1 January 2023 =+—HERZIEZ=HF
—A—H = 161,116 = 161,116
Increase in receivables  FEUWFRIBIE I E
moved to stage 3 F=MEE - (161,116) 161,116 —
Other change: increase in 18 : FAHEE
ECL rate BB )] = - 69,049 69,049

At 31 December 2023 R_ZE_=F+_H
=4=E - = 230,165 230,165
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HAEEMEEIE (&

(iii) Credit risk(continued) (iii) EERAK &)

(b) Impairment of financial assets not measured (b)) HMERERLTMRFESEZI
at FVTPL of treasury investment and A FEFABRITEZE
financial service segments (continued) HEERE (&

Loans to associates BTFHEAGZEMN

Changes in loss allowances

BREREY
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A &
FEBHR 2EREEER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—REE el 1321 FREE st

HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000
TERT TERT TERT TAR

At 1 January 2022 RW_E__&—H—H 26,398 - - 26,398
Increase in receivables  FEWFIBEINBE

moved to stage 2 FREER (26,398) 26,398 = =
Other change: increase in Eft18%) : TAHAEE

FCL rate BHERIEM - 33,542 - 33,542

At 31 December 2022 RZE__F+_H

and 1 January 2023 =+-HRZIEZ=F
—A—H - 59,940 - 59,940
Increase in receivables  FEWGFIEIZMBE
moved to stage 3 B=FEER - (55,904) 55,904 =
Exchange realignment ~ ER % - - (1,506) (1,506)

At 31 December 2023 RIZB-=%+_FH
== - 4,036 54,398 58,434
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iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6. MBRAKER (&

(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) RBHEEER
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current AEBEZHRATHERRRKRTE
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that HARBHEEE R URFREERE
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its MREFEE EMECHEEARSE
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. REAREBEEEK.
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash rEETHEERAMERETRE
flows, of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: FHAH MW
Total
Weighted Within contractual
average  1year oron Between Between undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 1and2years 2and5 years cash flow amount
—ERY BHRER
ik ES=FES E% —EZF ZERE RENELE REfE
% HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
% TAT TAT TAT FAT FET
2023 b St
Non-derivatives: FHETA:
Trade payables ERETRT - 60,459 - - 60,459 60,459
Other payables HHENE - 234,379 - - 234,379 234,379
Loan from a director RE—LEEZEN 7 18,144 - - 18,144 16,957
Borrowings fam 0-9.6 1,147,035 - - 1,147,035 1,195,468
1,460,017 - - 1,460,017 1,507,263
Total
Weighted Within contractual
average 1 year or on Between Between  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand  1and2years 2 and 5 years cash flow amount
—ERH BHREH
e FIIRIR BEX —E_6F “EIf  REREAEH REE
% HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
% FAT TAT TAL FAL THET
2022 ZEICE
Non-derivatives: FTETR:
Trade payables EREMRT - 89,069 - - 89,069 89,069
Other payables HitEMAHIE - 161,364 - - 161,364 161,364
Loan from a director RE—LEEZEN 7 118,917 - - 118,917 111,137
Borrowings fam 0-9.6 930,195 177,941 = 1,108,136 1,079,350
1,299,545 177,941 - 1,477,486 1,440,920

218 Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2023



6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(v) Categories of financial instruments

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAF5 8RR MY =E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

MEBRRERE (&
(v) SMIEER

2023 2022
—E=HF - —
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FHET FAET
Financial assets ETMEE
Financial assets at fair value through ¥ AFEFAB® Z
profit or loss ETHMEE
Mandatorily measured R 5t = 58,800 76,774
Financial assets at amortised cost R IHM AT EN ERE E
— Rental and utility deposits —HERABRKEZE 21 21
— Deposits paid —-BEE 36 105
— Trade receivables — B ZEWERR 56,767 86,552
— Financial assets included in —ETATETFRIE ~ HAth
prepayments, other receivables and FEWFRIBR HithE ERY
other assets THMEE 64,636 74,028
— Loan receivables —BUWER 630,135 785,703
— Note receivables — W EE = 69,049
— Bank balances and deposits —RITE R R ER 23,877 46,943
775,472 1,062,401
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR At EN EREE
— Trade payables — B S ENRM 60,459 89,069
— Financial liabilities included in other— &t A E ft f& {5 70 18 K
payables and accruals EsrERNEMEd 234,379 161,364
— Borrowings — & 1,195,468 1,079,350
— Loan from a director —RE—REFZER 16,957 111,137
1,507,263 1,440,920
“ECCEFR REEZEREERBRAT 219



Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(vi) Fair Values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

(vii) Capital risk management

220

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HAEEMEEIE (&

(vii) Capital risk management(continued) (vii) EXRIEER (@)
The Group monitors its capital using a gearing ratio, rEBRBEAEBLLE EaEF
which is net debt divided by the total capital plus net HEUEAEEINEE TR GRHE
debt. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing BAR - KEBZHRAERFELE
ratio of not more than 80%. Net debt includes trade BLEEABIBO% BEFEEE
payables, other payables and accruals, borrowings BZENMERMN - EMENRIBERE
and loan from a director, less bank balances and STERBRKRERE—RESZE
deposits. Capital represents total equity. The gearing FORBITERRER BEXIEESR
ratios as at the end of reporting period were as BB N EMARZELRGRELLE
follows: mr

2023 2022

HKD’000 HKD'000

FHET FAET

Trade payables B 2 TR 60,459 89,069

Other payables and accruals HihEMRIBE KR EstE R 234,379 161,364

Borrowings EEN 1,195,468 1,079,350

Loan from a director KE—REFZEWN 16,957 111,137

Less: Bank balances and deposits & : SE1T45ER R 1F X (23,877) (46,943)

Net debt BEFE 1,483,386 1,393,977

Total capital BA4REE (104,588) 301,971

Total capital and net debt BEREERAETRE 1,378,798 1,695,948

Gearing ratio BABMEEE 107.6% 82.2%

SEC=E5H MHZEREEERAT ]



Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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7.

222

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access at
the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at

31 December 2023:

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

V=N
fiz=]

RAF5 8RR MY =E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

NTEE (&

(a) RZEZ=F+Z"“HA=+—HH

DT EERIEE

Fair value measurements using:

MATHREBETHNATEE

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Fi F14R F24R $34% Hst
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FET FTHET FTHET
Recurring fair value KEMATFEHE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair ~ RAFEFABTZ E/M
value through profit BE
or loss
Club debentures BREEES - 2,407 . 2,407
Listed equity FHRERE
investments 56,393 - - 56,393
Total recurring REEATEAERE
fair value
measurements 56,393 2,407 - 58,800

Disclosures of level in
December 2022:

fair value hierarchy at 31

RZEBEZ__FE+"A=+—HM2

FEBRRE

Fair value measurements using:

MATIERETHAFESE

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
it ERE H24% H3M a5t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value REMATEHE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair ~ RAFEFABTZ T/
value through profit or  &E
loss
Club debentures BREEES - 2,397 = 2,397
Listed equity FHRERE
investments 74,377 - - 74,377
Total recurring REEATEAERE
fair value
measurements 74,377 2,397 = 76,774
ZET=FFR RMEEREESRAR 223



Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) Reportable segments
The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM") that are used to strategic
decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The
segments are managed separately because each
segment offers different products and services and
requires different strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group's
reportable segments:

Manufacturing —  Manufacture and sales of
segment PCBs

Treasury investment —  Investment and trading
segment in securities, fund

investments and related
activities and provision
of financial assistance

Financial service —  Advisory on securities,
segment asset management
and consultancy and
corporation solution
services

No operating segments have been aggregated in
arriving at the three reportable segments of the
Group.

Corporate income and expenses and corporate assets
and liabilities are not allocated to the operating
segments as they are not included in the measure of
the segments’ results and assets and liabilities that
are used by the CODM for assessment of segment
performance.

Inter-segment transactions, if any, are priced with

reference to prices charged to external parties for
similar order.
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 8. NHEERE &
(a) Reportable segments (continued) (a) FIsREDE E
2023
—EC=HE
Treasury Financial

Manufacturing investment service Total
83 MBRE & b AR st
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FTERT FTER FTHET FTER
Revenue from external customers — RENBEE 2 WA 263,120 (5,435) - 257,685
Reportable segment loss ARENEHE (83,666) (281,727) (5,191) (370,584)

Amounts included in the measure of 5t A #4848 5182548 .

segment profit or loss:
Interest income FEBA - 12,048 - 12,048
Finance costs MEEH (14,180) (45,795) - (59,975)
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ %¥ B E k&R EZITE

equipment (3.576) (1,220) - (4,796)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ fE A& EITE (3,143) (818) - (3,961)
Reversal of write-down/(write-down) EL i & {3 ZUIE MR B 2]/

of other payables (iR 3,739 (3,518) = 221
Share of results of associates EHE AT 2 B - (14,779) - (14,779)
Impairment loss on financial assets ~ &REEZ BERKE (1,419) (216,740) - (218,159)
Reportable segment assets AREDEEE 435,271 1,205,267 66,172 1,706,710

Amounts included in the measure of A FEEE;EZ 2 .
segment assets:

Interests in associates N A=YN=I P - 528,622 - 528,622
Additions to non-current assets* REFEREEE 6,234 - - 6,234
Reportable segment liabilities AREHEEE (489,515) (1,003,555) (44,266) (1,537,336)
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iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZS=F+-HA=+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 8. NHEERE &
(a) Reportable segments (continued) (a) FIREDE &
2022
B fF
Treasury Financial

Manufacturing investment service Total
838 HMBRE SRR st
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
ThER FTET FET FTER
Revenue from external customers — RENBEE 2 WA 368,834 (13,152) - 355,682
Reportable segment gain/(loss) AREDEWRE/ (51 33,141 (460,048) (27,510) (454,417)

Amounts included in the measure of 5t A #4848 5182548 .

segment profit or loss:
Interest income FIBBA - 28,213 - 28,213
Finance costs MEEA (12,485) (53,281) - (65,766)
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ % B E k&R EZITE

equipment (1,229) (1,141) - (2,370)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ fEAEEEITE (2,202) (2,364) - (4,566)
Reversal of write-down of inventories 775 i # ] = = - -
Share of results of associates EHE AT 2 2B - (30,527) - (30,527)
Reversal of impairment loss/ EMEERNERRE

(impairment loss) on financial assets (R {EA518) 470 (335,485) - (335,015)
Reportable segment assets AREDEEE 474,133 1,490,545 66,172 2,030,850
Amounts included in the measure of GtARBEEFEZ£EE .

segment assets:
Interests in associates REERB 2 - 551,809 - 551,809
Additions to non-current assets* REFRGEE 1,271 1,634 - 2,905
Reportable segment liabilities AREHEEE (465,110) (949,674) (44,897) (1,459,681)

# Include additions to property, plant and equipment ‘* BREANENE -BERRERER
and right-of-use assets B E
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mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 8. DHEWRE &
(a) Reportable segments (continued) (a) AHRESHE (&
Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, IREDHEER - BEEMBEYHK

assets and liabilities:

2023 2022
—E=F —E-_
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FAET FET
Profit or loss B
Reportable segment loss RGN ERE (370,584) (454,417)
Other unallocated staff cost HikDEEE T (4,529) (9,801)
Consolidated loss before income tax [RFF1EM > HAl4s S &8
expense (375,113) (464,218)
2023 2022
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FHET FET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AR EDIEEE 1,706,710 2,030,850
Unallocated bank balances and RNECIRIT AR R IFZRR
deposits 681 6,745
Consolidated total assets e BEEBE 1,707,391 2,037,595
2023 2022
—E-= B CF
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FHET FET
Liabilities =L
Reportable segment liabilities AIFREDEEE 1,537,336 1,459,681
Tax payable FEIRIE 274,643 275,943
Consolidated total liabilities e amEsEsE 1,811,979 1,735,624
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 8. DHEWE &
(b) Geographical information (b) HEEFE
The following table provides an analysis of the TREMAXEERBIEER ZIK
Group's revenue from external customers and non- AUKRBGEMT AN ZIERBEE
current assets other than financial instruments (MFEERNEEL) 2o

(“Specified non-current assets”).

Revenue from external Specified non-current
customers (Note) assets
RESMBERZBA (HfZ) REFRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
= “B-"g C"®B_= T

HKD000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TER TAT TER TET

Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (&) 10,316 24,160 280,389 299,702
PRC FREY 72,628 100,342 307,646 285,429
Singapore N3 11,165 13,717 = =
Malaysia E2R7EE 902 1,444 - =
Germany ZE 29,661 37,936 - =
Poland K 21,288 52,993 = =
Other Europe countries HABUNE X 53,825 49,618 = =
United States of America ENRERE 6,750 4,587 = =
Korea B[] 85 1,989 = -
Japan B 42,670 39,036 - -
Others H A 8,395 29,860 - =
247,369 331,522 307,646 285,429
Total 45T 257,685 355,682 588,035 585,131
NOZ’e.' /]/?5};— :
Revenue is attributed to countries on the basis of the WAL EZERREM 2 BEZKE D JER
customer’s location. Non-current asset is attributed to HEENREEMEM ZBZRE| Do

countries on the basis of the location of the assets.
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8. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 8.
(c) Information about major customers
Revenue from major customers who have individually
contributed to 10% or more of the total revenue of

the Group are disclosed as follows:

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

DHERS (&
() EREEZFRZEH
REXTEER (BEFERBEAZ

10% M L) AR T -

2023 2022
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FHET FAET
Customer A* BEA* 30,004 52,993
Customer B* = FB* N/A*A & Rt 39,036
& Included in the manufacturing segment. R SFARIGEHHE
# Revenue does not over 10% during the corresponding 3 1% 48 8 5 B2 2R WA T 48 11 10 % XL
year end o
9. REVENUE 9. WA
2023 2022
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers &FE &AW A
— Sales of goods —iHESm 263,120 368,834
Revenue from other sources H s R 2 WA
Fair value loss on trading purpose equity Rt 5% BRI Z %A FE A
investments at FVTPL, net BamzREAEEZ AFE
518 F %8
— Unrealised loss —REIHEE (17,983) (41,478)
Interest income FE WA
— Loan and note receivables —BWERREE 12,048 28,213
Management fee income BIEERA 500 113
Total revenue from other sources B H MR 2 WA 4858 (5.435) (13,152)
Total revenue WA 4B 28 257,685 355,682
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
FHH=FT—HILEFE

=

9. REVENUE (continued)

230

Eo@-=

— e,

9. A (&

Disaggregated revenue information W A B BE 4
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ S _—F+-_BA=+t—HL=EE
Treasury Financial
Manufacturing investment service Total
& B E ERARTE HoH
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
THET TERT TERT THET
Type of goods or services SmBRBEER
Sales of goods HEEM 263,120 - - 263,120
Total revenue from contracts with BEREHRALRLE
customers 263,120 - - 263,120
Timing of revenue recognition LLON ST
Goods transferred at a point in time REFBEBRNE M 263,120 - - 263,120
Total revenue from contracts with BERE#R AL
customers 263,120 - - 263,120
Geographical markets IR 5
PRC HE 72,628 - - 72,628
Hong Kong 58 15,751 - - 15,751
Singapore IR 11,165 - - 11,165
Malaysia BRAER 902 - - 902
Germany B 29,661 - - 29,661
Poland R 21,288 - - 21,288
Other Europe countries HABUNEIR 53,825 - - 53,825
United States of America ZFRERE 6,750 - - 6,750
Korea EE1E] 85 - - 85
Japan B 42,670 - - 42,670
Other countries/regions HtER /& 8,395 - - 8,395
Total revenue from contracts with BERAHRALLE
customers 263,120 - - 263,120
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9.

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_E_=F+_HA=+—

9. A (&)
WA B R (4

HIEFE

HE_Z__SF+_B=+—HIEE

Treasury Financial
Manufacturing investment service Total
88 MBEE ERMRE H)
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
THET THET FHET TET
Type of goods or services EmIRFER
Sales of goods HEEM 368,834 - = 368,834
Total revenue from contracts with BERAHUWALEE
customers 368,834 = = 368,834
Timing of revenue recognition WS A B 5 B
Goods transferred at a point in time REFBEBENE M 368,834 - - 368,834
Total revenue from contracts with BEREe#RALRzE
customers 368,834 - - 368,834
Geographical markets IR 15
PRC FE] 100,342 - - 100,342
Hong Kong &8 37,312 - = 37,312
Singapore N 13,717 - - 13,717
Malaysia EXRFAE 1,444 - - 1,444
Germany =R 37,936 - - 37,936
Poland R 52,993 - - 52,993
Other Europe countries HMEUNEI X 49,618 - - 49,618
United States of America ENEERE 4,587 - - 4,587
Korea EE1E) 1,989 - - 1,989
Japan =k 39,036 - - 39,036
Other countries/regions HtER /& 29,860 - - 29,860
Total revenue from contracts with BERGHNWABE
customers 368,834 - - 368,834

There was no inter-segment sales between segments and
therefore the amount on sales to external customers by
segment is as the same as total revenue from contracts
with customers by segment in both years.

RmEEER > EEGEETDERE
SRt D BB BN E A IERE
HETRARDBRIONERSHWA

#BEAARNR) o

T C-HEEFR MEZREERRAE
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10. OTHER INCOME 10. HMUgA

2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FAET FAT
Bank interest income RITHA] B WA 173 20
Government grants ISR #e8 B 11 1,520
Recharged tooling income SMBRENTEREEWRA 775 207

Fair value change on financial assets BAFEFABTZEME
at fair value through profit or loss EAFEESH 10 -
Others Hh 4,186 3,416
5,255 5,163

11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 1. HEfthi s R 518
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FAET FHT
Net exchange gain/(loss) BRuWm, (8518) F4E 19,931 (13,752)
Provision for litigation (Note (a)) sReAREtE (Mfat(a)) (54,357) =
Written back on other payables and B[O E M BT FUIB &

accruals FEst & 221 38,268
Waiver for payable to Mr. Liu Tingan B ENMBELEERIE - 16,661
(34,205) 41,177

Note: K&t

(@) During the year, a judgement (“Judgement”) related to (a)

certain litigations between Topsearch Printed Circuits
Macao Commercial Offshore Company Limited (“Topsearch
Macao”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
CIRCUITRONIX, LLC ("CTX"), issued by the circuit court
of 17th Judicial Circuit (the “Court”) in and for Broward
County, Florida of the United States of America (“US"), was
handed down.
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11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES (continued)

Topsearch Macao filed its breach of contract action at the
Court against CTX for failure to make payment pursuant
to invoices sent to CTX, while CTX filed a counterclaim
against Topsearch Macao for, amongst other things,
breach of contract. The Judgment was entered in favour
of Topsearch Macao in relation to its claim, and Topsearch
Macao will be entitled to receive 100% of the damages
sought against CTX. However, the Judgment was also
entered in favour of CTX in relation to a number of its
counterclaims. The net amount that Topsearch Macao
was adjudged to pay CTX in the Judgement is in the
sum of US$6,944,217.36 (equivalent to approximately
HK$54,357,000), which shall bear interest at the applicable
statutory rate. Pursuant to the Judgment, the Court
reserves jurisdiction to determine the entitlement to, and
amount of, reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs.

During the year, an appeal (“Appeal”) was filed by
Topsearch Macao with the district court of appeal (the
“Appeal Court”) of the state of Florida of the US against
the Judgement in relation to the claims made by Topsearch
Macao against CTX. The Appeal was subsequently
dismissed and an order was made by the Appeal Court in
January 2024, approving the dismissal of the Appeal.

11.

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

Hthha= K518 (&
EFRMMCTIXKRBERIFE X FCIXHE
EEHNMRMEERERENTR > M
CTXAIUEBNEEHBE S BPIRH KR
SR HRARBRFEAIE S RIS M
ZEHEREFMRKERER/SACIXREN100%
BEEAM HIATHECTXREZER
FREAFR SR o MARAF  ESRPIWE T
BT $%86,944,217.36% T (BEMNH
54,357,000 75) FCTX» I #2458 Y%
EFRGFERE - RIBFIR AR FREE
FEEE LR TAENRME KNS
BN Lo

RAFE > E =R EEEHEEZM
& EaiElr (TEFRERR) MARES
RPIACTXIR H R RFH B AR B E&RF
(TE&ry) o EERE®BHERE > EFER
STECME—A#He e #UERE L
& °
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. MEEH
2023 2022
HKD'000 HKD'000
F#ET FET
Interest on: FE
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 346 661
- Borrowings — & 51,327 57,608
— Loan from a director —RE—%EEZEX 8,302 7,497
59,975 65,766

13. INCOME TAX

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated

13. FREM

RizaEakEtME2ERTmRZAER

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive S HEERTE -
income represents:
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FAETT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BIER#RIE—FRE (b 2FT1SH
— tax for the year —RFERIE 1,173 1,918
Deferred tax (Note 26) RIEFRIE (Hf5226) - -
1,173 1,918

MEBFERMS > REFESHR MRS
EEREBESEME2,000,000%4 7T F
1 $28.25% MR & 45 > ™M2,000,0007#
TTA EREFI R 1216.5% R R o i?
MEFEE > FREMERMAFERNE
EERN G SEERSEELHE
SRRUEFIR16. 5% MK — MBI -

For Hong Kong profits tax, under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5% on estimated assessable profits arising from Hong
Kong during both years.
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13. INCOME TAX (continued)

According to the Macau Complementary Tax Law,
assessable profit up to MOP600,000 is exempt from
Complementary Tax, and assessable profit exceeding
MOP600,000 is taxed at a rate of 12% for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the statutory tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25% (2022: 25%).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to loss before income tax expense per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

13. FRiSH (&

RIFBFEFESEERI BE_ZE_=F

“E__HF+”"A=+—HLFE-F
#B8600,00058 P9 7T B9 FE SR 12 7% 1) 28 T2 44
M TRIR > MiBi8600,0008 P9 T AY FE 28
TR F BUIR1 2% B9 TR KGR o

RIEFHECEMERZE (TEEMRBR
) REEMEBRASHES  AEBS
BB AR ZEEMRER25% (T2
F:25%) 0

AEEFRBRIHAHFNGERE KA
thEEBmRANZAFSR LA EER
E AR

2023 2022
— 5= .

HKD’000 HKD'000

TFHET TAET

Loss before tax bR A0 Es 48 (375,113) (464,218)
Tax credit on loss at the rates applicable tolZ ABRA S A& B HR X

the jurisdictions concerned FFEZGIERIER % (35,026) (43,780)
Tax effect of income not taxable and BERMUA TR B0

expenses not deductible SHZRBRE 12,678 10,731

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ KREEBRIBEBIEZRF T E 23,521 34,967

Total income tax expense FTigin sz K48 %8 1,173 1,918
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging the

14. FEFE
AEEEEHEBLENBRUTIEZY

following:
2023 2022
—E=F —E-_
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FABT
Auditor’s remuneration Z S BB <&
Audit services Z R
— Current year —KFE 1,150 1,250
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEMRAK 239,464 323,421
Depreciation charge of property, plant ¥ ¥ -BEKRREZITE
and equipment (Note 20) &A (Wat20) 12,447 17,982
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets £ FHEZ E T EE A
(Note 21) (Hizt21) 3,961 4,566
Impairment loss on financial assets THMBEERERE 218,159 335,015
Employee costs (Note 15) BEMA (Hfs%15) 83,092 101,471
15. EMPLOYEE COSTS 15. EE K%
2023 2022
= .
HKD’000 HKD'000
FAET FHBT
Employee costs (including directors’ EBEMAE (BIEESNE
remuneration (Note 16)) comprise: (f¥sk16)) BIF :
— Wages and salaries —TEKHE 68,783 85,795
— Contributions to retirement benefits —RIK@EA] 5t EIHR
scheme 10,074 13,315
— Other staff benefits —HMBE TR 4,235 2,361
83,092 101,471
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

16. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 16. EEME
The emoluments of each director were as follows: BEEZEWOT

2023

e

—_ ==

Salaries, Contributions Equity-settled
allowance to retirement share-based

and other benefit Compensation
Fees benefits scheme benefits Total
UESEE
e 2N BHEF  URDAER
ik REAEF BEEEN 2&H amat
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FHET FTHET FHET FHET
Executive directors HiTES
Cheok Ho Fung (“Mr. Cheok”) =8l (TE5%4%]) - 5,428" 13 - 5,441
Xing Mengwei (Appointed on BB (RZZTZZ
21 July 2022) FtA-+—H
EZ) - 1,572 18 - 1,590
Hung Yeung Alvin (Appointed ~ #LIE (R-_E__&
on 21 August 2022 and NEZ+—HEZ
resigned on 26 September FER_B-=%F
2023) ABZ+/A8
FHE) - 515 - - 515
Li Yongjun (Redesignated to FXE(RZSZ=
an executive director on FZA+THBAE
17 February 2023) ARTES) - 2,086 14 - 2,100
- 9,601 45 - 9,646
Non-executive directors FRITER
Li Yongjun (Redesignated to FXE (RZ2Z=
an executive director on 17 FZRA+tHBE
February 2023) ARTES) 79 - - - 79
79 - - - 79
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHITEE
directors
Lau Fai Lawrence EES 220 - - - 220
Mak Kwok Kei ZEE 220 - - - 220
Xu Xinwei (Appointed on 21 BEREWZE_Z
March 2022) F£=FZ+—-H
ELT) 220 - - - 220
660 - - - 660
739 9,601 45 - 10,385
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

16. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

16. EEM=E (&

2022
-
Salaries, Contributions  Equity-settled
allowance to retirement share-based
and other benefit  Compensation
Fees benefits scheme benefits Total
D
b 2 BABH  URHAER
e R E A& F BEEEA P =il 18t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TET FTET TET FTET TET
Executive directors HITESR
Mr. Cheok sRE - 5,405" - - 5,405
Xing Mengwei (Appointed on ~ EEE (RZFE__
21 July 2022) FtBZ+—H
EZ) - 636 9 - 645
Hung Yeung Alvin (Appointed  fLiF (RZZE__#&
on 21 August 2022) NBZ+—H
EZ) - 894 - - 894
- 6,935 9 - 6,944
Non-executive directors FRTES
Li Yongjun (Redesignated to FXE (RZ2Z=
an executive director on 17 F_RA+tHAL
February 2023) RATES) 600 - - - 600
600 - - - 600
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHITES
directors
Ng Man Kung (Resigned on 22 23t (RZZ -
March 2022) E=B_+_H
BT 49 - - - 49
Lau Fai Lawrence %1% 220 - - = 220
Mak Kwok Kei FEE 220 - - - 220
Xu Xinwei (Appointed on 21 RER(PRZZZZ
March 2022) F=F-+—RE
%) 98 - - - 98
587 - - - 587
1,187 6,935 9 - 8,131

Included in the amount is rental and management
fee paid for director’s quarter to Keentop Investment
Limited, a company beneficially owned by Mr. Cheok,
amounted to HK$2,131,000 (2022: HK$2,131,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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16.

17.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
The executive directors’
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above

emoluments shown above

were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

No emolument was paid to the directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during both years. No directors waived any of
their emoluments for both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year or the prior year.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2022: one) are directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note
16 above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2022:
four) individuals are as follows:

16.

17.

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

EEMWE @&
EXFRTHATESEME N EEZS KA
MEEERBD RFAEBSEHIRME IR
EXPRTHIERITESMEHNEEI R
HEFARSDNEMBATDEFREMHZ
AR#5 e EXFRTRIVIBILIFHITESME
EVREEERABDESREZRE-

RmEFER MERNESEIME F
RMATERINMARTER R 2 ERE
SRR BRI E - M EESIMEFER
FHEMME-

REAXNEE BEARFDEFHITHR
BNENFERETAM L -

hBREHMAL
FEBTRREFMALHR =4 (CF
ToF ) AARATNES WL
MR EXM 162 RE - Hipma (=
BTG5 MR AT ZMEWT

2023 2022
T = —E-

HKD’'000 HKD'000

FHET FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥ 2L R EMEF 2,820 9,055
Contributions to retirement benefit RIKEF EHEIHFR

scheme 69 57

2,889 9,112

—ECCHFFR MEEREEBRRAE
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

17. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL (continued) 17. A% EE&HMA L &
The emoluments fell within the following band: =N FUTEHE :

Number of individuals

A#
2023 2022
—B== -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 5% 1,500,000 75 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 522,000,000 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001%8 75 £ 3,000,000/ 75 - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 75 % 4,000,000 75 = 1
No emolument was paid to these individuals as an RREFEN AEBTERAZZFEALS
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as NERME (ERMAREBRIMAERE
compensation for loss of office during both years. None of Ee 2 SRS EERmE - BiEm M A LR
the above individuals waived any of their emoluments for MEFEREETRME-
both years.
18. DIVIDENDS 18. K2
The directors do not recommend any dividend for the BEEFEEMNEAFERGEAKRE CF
current year (2022: Nil). “TFEm)o
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19. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

19. BRRER
AAREAANBESRERRBEEE

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the ThEUL T8t E -
following data:
2023 2022
- .
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FAET FET
Loss 518
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted st &S E A K& # EE 186
loss per share KBz B8 (376,286) (466,136)
2023 2022
=== -
Number of shares: iRin &8 :
Weighted average number of ordinary  stESREARGEERIZAZ
shares for the purpose of basic loss per &% & MNHE T H
share 2,648,000,000 2,443,068,493

No adjustment is made to the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

BE_TE_=-"FRZB_"_F+ZH
= +—HLEFENSRERBRL EH

o
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
=

155 R R N 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_—F+"_A=+—

HIEFE

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20. W% - BEKRRE

Furniture, Moulds, dies,
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor test fixtures
Buildings improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles and pins Total
BE B
HiRE HHEE
BF HENERE BERES R#fE AE RiEE g
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
THET THET THET THET THET TAT TAT
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%-F—H
Cost or valuation A fE(E 240,110 15,488 672,039 12,770 17,237 5,711 963,355
Accumulated depreciation R3HTE KRB EEE
and impairment losses - (3,709) (646,526) (12,070) (16,077) (4,934) (683,316)
Carrying amount REE 240,110 11,779 25,513 700 1,160 777 280,039
At 1 January 2023, A _E_=F—-A—-H>
carrying amount IREE 240,110 11,779 25,513 700 1,160 777 280,039
Additions wE - - - 48 - 51 99
Depreciation provided AEERERE
during the year (4,779) (354) (6,285) (112) (809) (108) (12,447)
Revaluation gain BfhlE 39,032 - - - - - 39,032
Exchange realignment ERAE (6,627) (314) (640) (17) (15) (21) (7,634)
At 31 December 2023, RZEZ=F+ZA
carrying amount =t—H kEE 267,736 11,111 18,588 619 336 699 299,089
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA
=7=F
Cost or valuation A fE(E 267,736 15,488 672,039 12,770 17,237 5,711 990,981
Accumulated depreciation E3HTE KA EHE
and impairment losses - (4,377) (653,451) (12,151) (16,901) (5,012) (691,892)
Carrying amount EEf 267,736 11,111 18,588 619 336 699 299,089
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

20. ME -BEKR=E (&

(continued)
Furniture, Moulds, dies,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor  test fixtures
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles and pins Total
REBR
R £E LS
BF HEMEEE BERES &G RE RiEE st
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TER TER TER THET TER TER THER
At 1 January 2022 RZEZZf—-F—H
Cost or valuation WA HE 261,676 15,488 671,978 12,684 17,237 5,629 984,692
Accumulated depreciation  REHTEREERE
and impairment losses - (2,270) (634,187) (11,127) (14,342) (4,712) (666,638)
Carrying amount REE 261,676 13,218 37,791 1,557 2,895 917 318,054
At 1 January 2022, RZEZ"F—F—H’
carrying amount FREE 261,676 13,218 37,791 1,557 2,895 917 318,054
Additions AE = = 61 86 - 82 229
Disposals HE - - - (303) - - (303)
Depreciation provided KEEMERE
during the year (5,209) (419) (9,969) (589) (1,633) (163) (17,982)
Revaluation gain G 2,438 - - - - - 2,438
Exchange realignment ERAE (18,795) (1,020) (2,370) (51) (102) (59) (22,397)
At 31 December 2022, R_E__F+_A
carrying amount = et = T 240,110 11,779 25,513 700 1,160 171 280,039
At 31 December 2022 R_E__F+_A
=E1=F
Cost or valuation RARGE 240,110 15,488 672,039 12,770 17,237 5,711 963,355
Accumulated depreciation  R3HTE KRB EHE
and impairment losses - (3,709) (646,526) (12,070) (16,077) (4,934) (683,316)
Carrying amount REE 240,110 11,779 25,513 700 1,160 777 280,039
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Note

— A
e

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fr R R Y 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

20.

244

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

The Group’s buildings are situated in the PRC. At 31
December 2023, the Group's buildings with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$267,736,000 (2022:
HK$240,110,000) were pledged to secure the bank loans
granted to the Group.

The Group’'s buildings were revalued at the end of
reporting period based on depreciated replacement cost
approach and with reference to the valuation reports
issued by Flagship Appraisal and Consulting Limited,
an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers.
The valuation reports used depreciated replacement cost
approach which is arrived at using the aggregate amount
of the new replacement cost of the buildings, from which
appropriate deductions may then be made to allow for the
age, condition, functional obsolescence and environmental
factor.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a revaluation
gain of approximately HK$39,032,000 (2022:
HK$2,438,000) on the Group's buildings has been
recognised in other comprehensive income and credited
(2022: credited) to property revaluation reserve.

The following table presents the fair values of the
Group's buildings measured at the end of reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three
level fair value hierarchy as identified in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value

20. % -BERRE (&

AEBZEBFHURFH R =
F+ZA=1+—HB ' Zx&EBREEYN
#267,736,0008 0 (Z&E - _F :
240,110,000 7T) 2 EFEFIEF  E5A
REFERIBITERZIER

REREMR ~EBZBFRITEEEN
ALK EBISERERGEME
EEENGEBAERARHANMGEER
SETER ZLERSHKATEEEN
% ERBFRNMEENAEEFEL
R igte ik EERE RIRIERARVE
EHRMEER -

BE_Z_—F+-A=+—HILEFE"
REBEBFREBEHUEA39,032,000
BT (T8 - 412,438,000 7T) ° B
Hith2EWREEI TR ESEHEER
FACEIZEIFGA)

TREVINBREHRRREBEEESE
WRNEBHHREERF 1358 AFE
STERBAZ =ZMAFESRIEHR
EBBFHNAFE-FIE DR FESNE
FMBELEREFBBAENIEHRE

measurement is classified and determined with reference REAEEMSEUT
to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique, as follows:
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FAET TET
Level 3 B =4 267,736 240,110
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value
balance of Level 3 recurring fair value measurement is

provided below:

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAF5 8RR MY =E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

20. % -BEKR=E (&)

BZMEBERFEFERFINRER

PR FEGERERNOT :

2023 2022
—E=HF S 2
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FHET FAT
Opening balance HARAER (BB M
(Level 3 recurring fair value) NEAH) 240,110 261,676
Depreciation provided for the year KEEFTIRITE (4,779) (5,209)
Revaluation gain ELrnlg 39,032 2,438
Exchange realignment PE R sE % (6,627) (18,795)
Closing balance HIRMEE (BTN
(Level 3 recurring fair value) NEAE) 267,736 240,110
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
The following table gives information about how the fair
value of the Group’s buildings in the PRC are determined,
as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurement is categorised, based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurement is observable.

As at 31 December 2023

20.

ME - -BERSE (&

TR EFAFTEBRZTRHEBFHAF
BEER % UKRREBEATEEMRER
WABNANRREENATEFEET
AFESHREDHNER -

RZE_=F+-A=+—H

Significant Relationship of
Fair value Valuation unobservable unobservable inputs
hierarchy technique input for fair value Range
AABRRBAEA
ATEER @EERE EXFABEBAE ATENRE g E
Level 3 Depreciated New replacement costs The increase in the new RMB3,235 per square
replacement cost per square metre are depreciated replacement metre
approach determined using costs per square metre
estimated current would result in an
cost of replacement increase in fair value
of the improvement
less allowance for
physical deterioration
and all relevant forms
of obsolescence and
optimisation.
E=4 WEEENAZ BYAARMEERSRA BITAAMATEREERET BFAKRARE3 23T

BRIM st EEEE N
ANBFRBREER—T]
HERAF VB R B K 1B 1E
BEREE-
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

20. E -BERRE (&

R-E-__&#+_-_R=+—H

Significant Relationship of
Fair value Valuation unobservable unobservable inputs
hierarchy technique input for fair value Range
AABRRBAEA
ATEER @EERE EXFABEBAE ATERRE gE
Level 3 Depreciated New replacement costs The increase in the new RMB3,155 per square
replacement cost per square metre are depreciated replacement metre
approach determined using costs per square metre
estimated current would result in an
cost of replacement increase in fair value
of the improvement
less allowance for
physical deterioration
and all relevant forms
of obsolescence and
optimisation.
E=4 WEEENAZE BYAARMEERSRA BITAANMATEREEREST BFAKRAKRE3 55T

BARIM Gt EREEERN
ANFERERER—)
HERAF LB R B R 1B 1E
BEREE-

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during

the year.

The fair value measurement is based on the above
properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ
from their actual use.

Had the Group's buildings been stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(if any), their carrying amount as at 31 December 2023
would have been approximately HK$177,917,000 (2022:
HK$187,728,000).

%8 /A T & D

REEGERD EZLEET-

SAERBLAMENEAKRRE
ET HHBREARIEER -

I
[ m

MAEBBFREESHRABRAINE
RBEEEE (ME) K AIEHRZZ
_ZE+B=Z+—BZHREER
A#9177,917,0008 T (ZE -
187,728,000 7T) ©
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZS=F+-HA=+—HItFE

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

21, FREEE

Disclosures of lease-related items: WEHAEERBER
2023 2022
—EC=F B2
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FAET TET
At 31 December: R+—B=+—H:
Right-of-use assets FRESE
Leasehold land HE T 2,785 2,984
Buildings 1gF 6,045 3,772
8,830 6,756
The maturity analysis, based on rEEHESRENRM
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s IRIEEREMENEIE DT
lease liabilities is as follows: mr
Less than 1 year 1 UA 3,129 3,423
1 to 5 years 1E548F 3,378 1,004
6,507 4,427
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (E BB EZITEER
Leasehold land HE T 119 125
Buildings 1gF 3,842 4,441
3,961 4,566
Lease interests HEHME 346 661
Expenses related to short-term leases BIGHMRE R A 346 -
Total cash outflow for leases HEZIRS R 48%E 4,833 9,377
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFERAEEE 6,135 2,676
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21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group leases various land use rights and land and
buildings. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed
periods of 2 to 49 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s right-of-use assets
in respect of leasehold land with carrying amount of
approximately HK$2,785,000 (2022:HK$2,984,000) were
pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the
Group.

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

21. HFREESE (&

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

o=

FEEEEZEIMERAEU KR I KR
BF -HEWREST S2E49FHEEH
[RoEEMRMIDIRERNEERER  LHE
BB PR R B A5 1+ o 7H &5 175 52 3 488 5t AN
EE3EsE > BIEEEER A BIFERIRR
%R o

N _E_=—F+_B=+—H &x&EE

BREE42,785,0008T (T - _F :
2,984,000/87m) 2 EMEE T M FA
HEEE TR (FAXEBEFMESTIR
TEMZER-

22. REHEATZIRE

2023 2022
—E”= =B

HKD’'000 HKD'000

FHET FET

Share of net assets LB EFE 280,116 298,208
Loans to associates* (Elmidid=—YN=TA- ¢ 306,940 313,541
587,056 611,749

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B RERBEHE (MTEE6())

(Note 6 (iii) (58,434) (59,940)
528,622 551,809

v As at 31 December 2023, except for a loan to an associate
amounting to approximately HK$50,812,000 (2022:
HK$55,907,000) which bears interest at a rate of 12%
per annum and is repayable on 31 December 2023. The
remaining amount is unsecured and interest-free with no
fixed repayment terms. The loans are classified as non-
current assets as settlement in next 12 months were not
expected.

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE

“ R_EBE_=F+_FA=+—8'%EF
—EkE A8 2 E7%50,812,000%8 7T
(ZZB -4 :55,907,000& 1) & F
MEDNBFAERBR_E_=F+_8
= t+—HEZN HrsBAERE
RERITEETEENH ANREHRER
AERKRKI12ME 8 NGB HEMR DL
BIERHEE -
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of the Group's associates during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below:

Place of incorporation

or establishment and

22. REERBZRE

——
/{5

BHE_ ST _—FR_ZE__F£+_-8
—+—HLEEE KERBESATNER

HHWMH :

Percentage of

Bt

Ownership interest/
Voting power/

Name operation Profit sharing Principal activities

= {10 B 3L 3% A% 3L K BEEED RERE

%18 = ik b bE DN FEEK

2023 2022
—EBE=fF EBE_F
RYNTHREER BMEEERAR PRC 45% 45% Money lending
("Shenzhen Shengda”) (Note (a))
FH R ER SHEESRAT FREY W&
(DRI BE3EL) (B75E(a)
Jade Summit Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 27.5% 27.5% Investment holding
(“Jade Summit”) (Note (b)) ("BVI")/PRC
RBEERBRAR (T4E)) (WiEn) EBRUHE ((HEBE REERK
LB /FH

Vastline Limited (Note (b)) BVI/PRC 27.5% 27.5% Investment holding

BEBIRLAR Ha20b) HBRZEHE/TH REZR

Asia Cosmos Limited (Note (b)) Hong Kong/PRC 27.5% 27.5% Investment holding

SEARARE WD) 58,/ HE REERK

BERDEMEREERAF PRC 27.5% 27.5% Property development

(Note (b))
mFEDEMEREBRAR HE ek
(B152b))

EMRBEBEMBR AT (Note (b)) PRC 27.5% 27.5% Wholesale, import and
export of construction
materials

ENREEMBRAR Wa2Db)) ] BEEMEHEVERD
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+HA=1+—HIFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22. REtE AT ZIRE (&

Particulars of the Group's associates during the year BE_Z_="FRZIZEZ_"_F+°H
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below: =T+—HIEFE AEEBREATNFE
(continued) YW (E
Percentage of
Bt
Place of incorporation Ownership interest/
or establishment and Voting power/
Name operation Profit sharing Principal activities
=E fif B 32 3K A 3L B BEEED RERS
2y E S FB D TEEH
2023 2022
“EZZE —T-"F
Renco Investments Service Limited BVI 34.0% 34.0% Provision of advising on
("Renco Investments”) (Note(c)) securities and asset
management services
Renco Investments Service Limited EEBRERES RS RER R M
(TRenco Investments 1) (#72£(c)) EEBERE
Renco Capital Partners Limited Hong Kong 34.0% 34.0% Dormant
(Note(c))
MEBXEBABRRE (<) BB BEES
Renco Investments Limited (Note(c)) Hong Kong 34.0% 34.0% Provision of advising on
securities and asset
management services
MBI BERRAS (H52() BA e SRR R AR M
BEETERK
Shenzhen Renco Private Equity PRC 34.0% 34.0% Assets and funds
Investment Fund Management management and
Limited (Note (c)) investment and
financial advisory
A BHULBRERERSEE FRE BEERESBEULK
BRRAE (M) KRB KRR
Hong Kong Bridge Investments Group ~ Cayman Islands N/A* 34.0% Dormant
Limited (Note (c))
BRELEEBBRRR () REEE rER HEXS
HKBridge (Cayman) GP1 Limited Cayman Islands N/A# 34.0% Dormant
(Note (c))
HKBridge (Cayman) GP1 Limited HEHE rER UmE
(Btzt(c)
HKBridge (Cayman) GP2 Limited Cayman Islands N/A* 34.0% Investment holding
(Note (c))
HKBridge (Cayman) GP2 Limited HEHE i@ REEK

(Htz#(c))

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22. REtE AT ZIRE (&

Particulars of the Group’s associates during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below:

HE_Z_="0K_FT__

=t+—HIEFE xEERERTNFRE

F+-A4

(continued) WM (E
Notes: Kzt -
(@) The summarised financial information of Shenzhen (a) AEEEFEEHMENTFRIINRENTHEE
Shengda, a material associate of the Group, is set out B ZEF T -
below:
2023 2022
g = -
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FET FET
As at 31 December ®W+=ZB=+—H
Current assets TMENEE 198,345 203,842
Non-current assets EREBEE - =
Current liabilities Vi N=K (250,552) (244,511)
Non-current liabilities ERBAER - =
Net liabilities BEFEE (52,207) (40,669)
Group's ownership interest NEBEZHEAEER 45% 45%
Group's share of net assets of the AEEEEHEAD ZEETRE
associate, excluding goodwill (raiEma) - =

Goodwill on the acquisition (less
cumulative impairment)

WIEEENEE (ARRE)

Carrying amount of the investment

KREREE -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22.
Particulars of the Group's associates during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below:
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

The summarised financial information of Shenzhen
Shengda, a material associate of the Group, is set out
below: (continued)

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

REEATRZIRE (&
BE_Z_=-"Ffk-_Z-_"_F+°A8
=+—BIEEE AEEHRE AT NS
BIIMT : (&

Mzt (&

(a) ZTEEEEMERFRINBENMBE
HEEZ&HIOT : (&

2023 2022
=== S
HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET
For the year ended 31 December BE+-_HA=+—HLEE

Other income HM A - =
Loss for the year FEEE (12,693) (13,429)
Other comprehensive loss Hihz2mEEaE 1,155 (139)
Total comprehensive loss S HEEBERE (11,538) (13,568)
Loan to an associate BF—BHE AT ZER 105,210 111,811
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W RIREE (54,398) (55,904)
50,812 55,907

The unrecognised share of loss of the associate amounted
to HK$5,192,000 for the year (2022: HK$6,106,000). The
cumulative unrecognised share of losses as at 31 December
2023 amounted to HK$23,493,000 (2022: HK$18,301,000).

FROAEIBDEMELATDZEES
5,192,000 7T (ZZ " : 6,106,000

B cRIBEI=F+"A=+—HZ
Rt kBB O 1hE1E8523,493,0008 T
ZZ "4 118,301,000 7T) °
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22. REtE AT ZIRE (&

Particulars of the Group's associates during the year BHE_ ST _—FR_ZE__F£+_-8
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below: —t+—HIEFE AERBES A AENFR
(continued) WM (E
Notes: (continued) Kt (4
(b)  The summarised financial information of Jade Summit and (b)y XTEBZEEHMEZAGHGERENEA
its subsidiaries, a material associate of the Group, is set out BN BEERBESHTIUWT
below:
2023 2022
g = -
HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET
At 31 December: B+Z=ZB=+—8:
Current assets TMENEE 881,477 1,116,004
Non-current assets EREBEE 2,912,483 2,939,833
Current liabilities mEaE (1,568,177) (1,543,746)
Non-current liabilities ERBAER (1,209,591) (1,427,698)
Net assets BEFE 1,016,192 1,084,393
Group's ownership interest NEBEZHEAEER 27.5% 27.5%
Group's share of net assets of the AEBELEHERATIEERE
associate and carrying amount of the  RIZEIREE
investment 279,452 298,208
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22.
Particulars of the Group's associates during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below:
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The summarised financial information of Jade Summit and
its subsidiaries, a material associate of the Group, is set out

below: (continued)

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAF5 8RR MY =E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

RBMERRZKE (&

HE_BE_="FFKF_EBE-__F£+-8
= t—HIEFE  AERME AT NS

27T

Hist (&

(b) HTEEZBEZHEAR

B ARENEA

BINMBERSEZHRIIMT © (B

2023 2022
=== 2"

HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET

For the year ended 31 December BE+-_HA=+—HLEE
Revenue A - -
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B8) /Er) (56,158) 10,964
Other comprehensive income Hihzmkam (12,043) (8,978)
Total comprehensive income 2EW LR (68,201) 1,986
Loan to an associate BF—BBHE AT ZER 201,730 201,730
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W RIRESE (4,036) (4,036)
197,694 197,694
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22. REtE AT ZIRE (&

Particulars of the Group's associates during the year BHE_ZE - -_FRZIZEZZF+ZA
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out below: —t+—HIEFE AERBES A AENFR
(continued) WM (E
Notes: (continued) Kt (4
(¢)  The summarised financial information of Renco Investments (0 #TEEZ2EEMEATMBMKREREN
and its subsidiaries, a material associate of the Group, is set BABNMBEERFESHIIWT !
out below:
2023 2022
g = =
HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET TET
As at 31 December ®W+=ZB=+—H
Current assets TMENEE 2,902 3,778
Non-current assets EREBEE - =
Current liabilities mEaE (949) (4,295)
Non-current liabilities ERBAER - (1,492)
Net assets/(liabilities) LEZE/ (AEFEH) 1,953 (2,009)
Group's ownership interest NEBEZHEEEER 34% 34%
Group's share of net assets of the AEBELEHERATIEERE
associate, excluding goodwill (raiEma) 664 =
2023 2022
== T4
HKD'000 HKD'000
FHAT THET
For the year 31 December HE+-B=1t—HLEE
Other income HMA 6,737 31
Profit/(loss) for the year FE&MN, (F518) 3,331 (1,355)
Other comprehensive loss HithemEE = =
Total comprehensive loss S EEGIBREE 3,331 (1,355)

2 During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
companies were struck off by the Registrar of
Companies, Cayman Islands.
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 23. REEEEZKE
2023 2022
— 5= S

HKD’000 HKD'000

FHT FAE7T

Share of net assets DB ERE - -
(a) Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures during the (@) BE_ZE _ =K T __F+_
year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set as B=+—HLEEFEEXEBSERE

below: HEBUWT -

Percentage of

B
Place of incorporation  Ownership interest/
or establishment and Voting power/
Name operation Profit sharing Principal activities
o i A¥ 32 3% 5% 32 K2 HHEED REE S
%8 I=E $auk FE 2 B FTEEH
2023 2022
Partners Special Opportunities Cayman Islands 66.7% 66.7% Debt investments
Fund I (the “Fund”) (Note (i)
Partners Special Opportunities FIZE 5 BHRE
Fund | (TE=&1) (B122())
Grand Highlight Investments  BVI 50.0% 50.0% Fund management
Limited (Note (ii))
Grand Highlight Investments HEBRXZEHE EcEBE
Limited (#722(ii))

Notes: byt -

(i)  On 4 September 2019, the Group has obtained joint () MRIE—AFEAANH &A&EEBE
control on the Fund through participation in the ER2EBRENESIMNEE
board of directors of the Fund. Each of the Group and SHHEEGE AEE RS —%
another independent shareholder (the “JV Partner”) BURR(TEEBH)REEZE
owns 50% voting rights in the board of the Fund. The EREREWHARS0%IRERE FXF
ownership interest disclosed above represent capital KENEEEERIERNER R K
contribution to the Fund by the Group. BEEHWHE-

(i)  The company was set up by the Group and the JV (il TAFIEAEBEKRGEBHMIL
Partner to jointly manage the Fund. UHEREEREE-
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 23.

(continued)

(a) Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set as
below: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)  Pursuant to a deed of undertaking, the issuer of the
bond subscribed by the Fund and its related party
have undertaken to guarantee the Group to receive a
rate of return of 18% per annum (the “Undertaking
Percentage”) on the Group’s subscription amount on
the Fund. The Undertaking Percentage was amended
to 12% per annum since July 2019. During the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group was
no longer entitled to investment income from this
undertaking.

(b)  Summarised financial information of the Fund, a

=)

(a)

(b)

SEEEZKRE (&

BE_E SR _EBE- &£+
B=Zt+—HIEEEXAXEESGELE
MBI @ (&)

Wizt (&

(i) WEAERE E2VB2RFE
TARERBALEAFERE
EERAERNESNABER
WEEBF18%MEHRE (TEFEH
o) cBZZ—AF LB LK
EEEDETREE12% 1HE
EECCERE 4+
B=t—HLEHFE  x&EBFHA
HEBEILEAERESRERA

FEEZEEGEREESHME

material joint venture of the Group, is set out below: BRI EHTAOT

2023 2022
HKD'000 HKD'000
F#ET FET

At 31 December: wW+=-HB=+—8":
Current assets (bond receivable) MEEE (FBIWES) - =
Non-current assets ERIEE - -
Current liabilities mEAaRE (955) (955)
Non-current liabilities ERFEE - =
Net liabilities I=KEp= 2] (955) (955)
Group's ownership interest AEBZHEEERER 66.7% 66.7%

Group’s share of net assets of the ZHAEBRERLESEEFERK

Fund and carrying amount of the R ZEIREE
investment
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23. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

(b)

(9

Summarised financial information of the Fund, a
material joint venture of the Group, is set out below:
(continued)

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

23. REEERZRE (B

b) T®EBZEBZGECEERSHNUE
BERBIZHIOT - (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023 2022
HE+-HA=1+—HLEE —E-=HF =

HKD’000 HKD'000

FHET FAET

Revenue WA = =

Loss for the year FEEIE = (31,948)

Other comprehensive loss Hth>mEiE - -

Total comprehensive loss P EEELEEE = (31,948)

The unrecognised share of loss of the joint
venture amounted to HK$Nil for the year (2022:
HK$21,299,000). The cumulative unrecognised share
of losses as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
HK$637,000 (2022: HK$637,000).

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's joint venture which is considered by the
directors as immaterial is presented below:

KEERBIABLEELESEES
BT (TEZF 121,299,000
) cMITEBEZ=F+ZA=+—H
B R R ERELEIE4637,000%8

7t (ZZ 24 © 637,00087T) °

(0 AHEERRBIAEEZAEES
EEEZHMBFEMREZ25WF ¢

2023 2022
—EB_= b 5
HKD’000 HKD’000
TAET THET

Share of the joint venture's loss for FE{E &= PEFREE

the year

Share of the joint venture’s total BLaEtEFREZENE
comprehensive income for 4R xE
the year

Carrying amount of the Group’s rEESSRERAEEEE

joint venture
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZS=F+-HA=+—HItFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2. BATFEH ARG ZEMEE

2023 2022
—EC=F B2
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FAET FET
Non-current JEREN
— Club debentures, at fair value —ZEEED BATE
8 2,407 2,397
Current ik}
— Listed equity investments, at fair value — EHRERE R AFE
(Note) 58 (Hat) 56,393 74,377
Note: HizE

The above equity investments were classified as held for trading
and were, upon initial recognition, classified by the Group as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“financial
assets FVTPL").

25. OTHER RECEIVABLES

LHBREREDEBF RS WD R
BHAERDEABATEFABRZZER
EE ((BRATEFABEZEHEE)) -

25. HthfEULTRIE

2023 2022

—s-= e

HKD’000 HKD'000

FHET FAET

Loan to a third party BYE=FZEXR - 2,374
Note:

The loan of RMB2,100,000 is interest bearing of 5% per
annum with a maturity period of 3 years. It will be matured
on 31 December 2024. Therefore, such loan is reclassified
under current asset as disclosed in Note 28.
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. IRIERIERE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities RAFERBEIFFERINEZIRELER
recognised and movements thereon during the current and EEBEREZHWT
prior years:
Revaluation
of property Total
MEER W5t
HKD'000 HKD'000
THET THET
At 1 January 2022 A _E-_"HF—HF—H 15,158 15,158
Debited to reserve during the year SEARFEERE 610 610
Exchange realignment BEE 52 5 28 (1,160) (1,160)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 AZE_"F+"HA=1+—H
RZBZ=F—HF—H 14,608 14,608
Debited to reserve during the year STARFERE 9,758 9,758
Exchange realignment [E AR (440) (440)
At 31 December 2023 R TEBEZF+"A=+—H 23,926 23,926

At the end of reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses arising from Hong Kong and the PRC of
approximately HK$486,787,000 (2022: HK$412,960,000)
and HK$120,323,000 (2022: HK$119,669,000) respectively
available for offsetting against future taxable profit
indefinitely and from the year in which the loss arose
respectively. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as they have arisen in the group
companies that have been loss-making for several years
and it is not considered probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. There is no
profit of the PRC subsidiaries available for distribution
subject to the withholding tax.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
have other material unrecognised deferred tax.

RIERFR > AEBDNELEBSTERT
B EREREEEGEFERBIE
EIN KRR ERM NN REBRIER B
D RI#486,787,000/8 0 (T~ —&F .
412,960,000 1) 52120,323,0008 75 (Z—
LT T4 1 119,669,000 7T) © AN IEIE
MEEEHZERSEBENERATE
£ BRIV APFKRAERE B AREES
BRI R AT W ERZEEE
MRIRERIBEE

BRBEEMRERE B2 N\EF—HF—
H ¥ b E B A S PR R EUE A B K BY
& S RUTRIR AR o o B B /38 2 B 3 SR 2R
TR IR BY PRI Ko A o

R_E_=Z=FKk_ZFE-__+_H
=t+—B > AEBTEEME N KERIE
HEFRIE o
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=—F+_H=1+—HIFE

27.

28.

262

INVENTORIES 27. &8
2023 2022
—E-=F =S
HKD'000 HKD'000
F#ET FET
Raw materials and consumables R R FE 25,508 29,396
Work in progress TR 10,115 16,695
Finished goods SLAY on 8,811 11,733
44,434 57,824
Less: Allowance for obsolete inventories & : [REZ S & (13,355) (13,781)
31,079 44,043
TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 28. B S EWNBRTRN ~ TA{T RRIE ~ HAth
OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS EUWFRRIEREME E
2023 2022
—EBE”= =B
HKD’'000 HKD'000
F#ET FET
Trade receivables (Note (a)) B S5 EWERI (MaE@a)) 150,275 178,660
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B RERESHE (MEtEa))
(Note (a)) (93,508) (92,108)
56,767 86,552
Prepayments, other receivables and other FE{J#IE ~ HfthfE 7B K
assets (Note (b)) Hh&E E (Ba# b))
- Prepayments — B RIE 5,499 13,399
- Deposits paid —BfEs 1,980 3,147
— Other receivables — H fthfE U 718 60,230 70,881
— Loan to a third party —BTFE=ZAZER 2,426 -
70,135 87,427
126,902 173,979
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28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continued)
Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables

The Group's trade receivables that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

28. B 5 EULARTR ~ FA{I R IE « HAth
BB HREREMEE (&)

HtaE -
(@) EFEKIKRMR

FEBUEBAERERNEEELUNE
WEHENEZBUERREIIWT

2023 2022
=FT==5F —E-—
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FET
Denominated in US$ M ETEHE 52,891 79,761

Customers of manufacturing segment are generally granted
with credit terms of 30 to 120 days while no credit period
will normally be granted to customers in treasury investment
and financial service segments. The ageing analysis of trade
receivables based on invoice date (net of allowance for
doubtful debts) at the end of reporting period is as follows:

REDENER —REF30E1208Z
EEH MYBREREMREDEN
ER—RUIEGCEEH NBEHMR R
BEZAHN29 2 B 5 BUERR G0
REREHE) ZREDNWT :

2023 2022

—E-= =
HKD'000 HKD'000
FT#ET TET
0 — 30 days 0&30H 18,678 27,070
31 - 60 days 31&260H 5,226 25,296
61 — 90 days 61E90H 16,720 18,181
Over 90 days 90H U 16,143 16,005
56,767 86,552
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HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a)  Trade receivables (continued)

28. B 5 FEUNARTR « FAITRRIA ~ H At
BWREREMEE (&)

Htst © (&

(a) BZRWRR (&

The ageing of trade receivables (net of allowance for BRI E 5 E R (0 RIREE)
doubtful debts) which are past due is as follows: ZERBOWWT :
2023 2022
—=F=-= ===

HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FHET
0 - 30 days past due #HI0E30H 7,400 15,790
31 - 90 days past due #HA31ZE90H 1,909 3,579
Over 90 days past due BHAO0H L & 2,710 290
12,019 19,659

The movement in impairment loss on trade receivables from

KEEERERSHNFTELE 5 BWIRM

contracts with customers during the year is as follows: BEREBZEHNT !

2023 2022

=== -
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FHET
At beginning of the year RER] 92,108 87,162
Impairment loss recognised ERERZBERE 1,419 4,994
Exchange realignment B 2 SR B (19) (48)
At end of the year REXR 93,508 92,108

(b)  Prepayments, other receivables and other assets (b)y FENFRE -EMERZTENREMEE

1S W {8 ¥R 5 B R oK 42 < e HL M FE UK
EHONEBMERERINEGEE

Deposits and other receivables are all denominated in
functional currencies of the relevant group entities at the
end of both reporting periods.

HitEWRIBETEOEAERRILZMHA
ENREBESIRINRIE MAEEHZ

Other receivables mainly include receivables from Cayman
Islands funds set up by the Group over which the Group has

no control. SHES W HEITHIRE o

The loan of RMB2,100,000 is interest bearing of 5% per ZEFA ARYE2,100,0007T  BEF =X
annum with a maturity period of 3 years. It will be matured 5%zt BE3FE - HFER M4
on 31 December 2024. +-B=+—HZIH-
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29. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

29. RIKER

2023 2022

—E”= —E-—
HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FET
Secured loans (Note (a)) BiREER (MsE@)) 1,710,891 1,723,959
Less: Allowances for doubtful debts B REIREE S (1,080,756) (938,256)
630,135 785,703

Notes:

(a)

The balance represents secured loans to independent third
party corporate borrowers which bear fixed interest rates
ranging from 3% to 36% (2022: 3% to 36%) per annum
with initial loan period ranging from 12 months to 24
months. These loans were secured by the following:

fund investments of a borrower;

55% equity interest in a borrower;

interests in certain properties of a borrower;

equity investments owned by the shareholder of a
borrower;

listed shares owned by the related companies of a
borrower;

listed shares of group companies of the borrower;

issued share capital of group companies of the
borrowers;

interest in rights to use of a number of sea areas
in the PRC owned by the group companies of the
borrowers; and

personal guarantees executed by the shareholders or
key management personnel of the borrowers.

(a) ZERIEHRTBILIE=HLATBARA
Z2HEIERER ZE 8RN EEMN Kt
B ERMENFIEEIE(CE_—
3EZE36E) FERBRNF121E8
E2MAR - ZEERUUTFI & BRI
- —ZEFRANEERE,
—  —RERABSS%REE

- —RERARETYENET

- —RERANRRAFERZRE
BE;

- —RERANBBAREAN L
mR

— [ERAEERBENLEHRD

— [ERAEBRRTNEETRE;

- ERAEERBRERETEZE
BB AR

- BRAREITIEZEBAEEYT
BIE AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

29. LOAN RECEIVABLES

29. RIRER (&

Notes: (continued)

(b)  Included in the loan receivables is a short-term interest-free
loan amounted to HK$20,000,000 which was lent to the
bond issuer as mentioned in Note 30. The securities of this
loan and the bond receivable in Note 30 are the same.

(c) The Group’s loan receivables that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

HiaE o (#)

(b) FRUIMIEE30FRA > EWRERBERES
BT ANBHZREIEEER20,000,000
B ZERZIBHAN F30Z EUE
FHAE[E °

(0 FERUEBHERBEENESELSINE
WEHENRWERRIIMT -

2023 2022
—=—= —E-—&
HKD’000 HKD’000
FAET FET
Denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") AR (TAE®)) 5HE 184,185 184,185
30. NOTE RECEIVABLES 30. FEIREE
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FET
Secured A g 230,165 230,165
Less: Allowances for doubtful debts L RERES A (230,165) (161,116)
= 69,049

266

As at 31 December 2019, the Group subscribed from four
third party issuers 5% — 10% fixed coupon redeemable
unlisted bonds. These bonds were secured by the issuer’s
interests in certain bonds issued by a company listed on
the Stock Exchange and personal guarantee executed by
the director of certain issuers.

In 2020, three out of the four bonds with carrying amount
in aggregate of HK$986,837,000 were settled through
several restructuring and debt assignment agreements. The
bond of HK$230,165,000 that remained held by the Group
at 31 December 2021 is a 5% fixed coupon redeemable
unlisted bond secured by the issuer's interests in certain
bonds issued by a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(the "'Listed Company”).
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A _E—HEFE+_RB=+—H ' &x&EEH
MEFE=HETARBERE10%EEZE
EXOEOI LHmES ZERSFHET
AR—BHBXFFEHm AR RT2ETE
SR RETETANEESEILNE
ANERIEAIEFR o

N2 _2F UHRESTIREES T
986,837,000 T2 =M ESFEEBET
SEHMREFEEREFE R —
F+_B=+—H XxEBMNFEEZ
230,165,000 TcESFAS%EEZEA
BEIE EHES > AT AR —BHRAT
EHRAE (ZEHmRAT) BT 2ETE
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mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

30. NOTE RECEIVABLES (continued) 30. BERER (&
As at 31 December 2023, the note receivables at amount A CE_—F+_B=+—H &KERE
of HK$230,165,000 was fully impaired by the Group after (WVEZEmRAKRERZZEZ=FtAF
considering (i) trading of the stock of the Listed Company e R(NVANEBR _E_=FH1B&HE
was suspended in July 2023; and (ii) the Group engaged MMz LLhm AR EHERE B 5 -
a lawyer and sent demand letters to the Listed Company E_=FNBAURKEEREKWE
in September 2023, which the Group has not received any IR RBENERRDIE AER E‘éﬁfj’%(
response from the Listed Company since September 2023. 230,165,000 7t Z FEWN EHR TR 2 8UR
Bo
31. BANK BALANCES AND DEPOSITS 31. IRITHEERRTFE
2023 2022
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FET T
Bank balances and cash IRITaEER NIRRT 23,877 46,943
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, bank balances carry NRZE =k _E__F£+_1
interest at prevailing deposit rates. =+—B> RITAGRHERBITERA KRG
/%\ @
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents at each reporting AERREREHHENRERIREEE
date are denominated in the following currencies: ML TG EHE -
2023 2022
—BZ=F =S 2
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FET TABT
Denominated in RMB MAR¥EHE 8,492 15,325
Denominated in US$ MZEITEHE 13,471 22,632
Denominated in HK$ B TEHE 1,880 8,966
Denominated in MOP DUBPIHE EHE 34 20
23,877 46,943
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32. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 32. BESE(TERFN - HMETRIE K

ACCRUALS FEst &

2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHT FHET
Trade payables B 2 AR 60,459 89,069

Other payables and accruals HhE I K Est & A
— Other payables (Note) —HAunpEA IR (M5 66,231 41,999
— Interests payables —EAFR 26,814 34,346
- Accruals —BstER 87,109 85,019
— Provision for litigation (Note 71) — R EREE (MfaE11) 54,225 -
234,379 161,364
294,838 250,433

RERSAH REEZAHZINZES
AR ZARE DTN ¢

An aging analysis of the trade payables as at each
reporting date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022

—_E-= =2
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FET
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 9,963 6,259
31 - 60 days 31E60H 11,089 11,333
61 — 90 days 61ZE90H 7,022 12,650
Over 90 days 90H L E 32,385 58,827
60,459 89,069
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frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

32. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 32. BESEMIRM - HthEMTIER

ACCRUALS (continued) FEst&ER (&
The Group's trade payables that are denominated in AEBNERMEBRBERIIEGR J&’I\ié
a currency other than the functional currencies of the B ENE ZEMERREINT

relevant group entities are set out below:

2023 2022
—E=HF =S
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FAT
Denominated in US$ MUETTEHE - 6,379
Denominated in Japanese Yen M HAEEHE 168 30
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are %%WEHEE?XT?r%EZ—QE"6OZ‘§120E|
normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days. The Group BB  AEERAMBREEEERR
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure HRFTA B ERFERN Tafﬁﬂﬁﬁlﬁq/ﬁi@ﬁ
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.
The Group's other payables and accruals are denominated R ER S B R NEE 2 HME R
in functional currencies of the relevant group entities at BREFERHUEHMEEERINES
the end of both reporting periods. stE-
Note: Bzt
As at 31 December 2023, certain payable of approximately A ZEZ=F+ZHA=+—H ENEk4%E
HK$16,668,000 (2022: HK$16,668,000) was due to Mr. Cheok, B & T RETFI84916,668,000/8 T (T
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. F 116,668,000/ 7T) A EKIF - REKRARE
KABE o
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33. BORROWINGS

33. f&™

270

2023 2022
HKD'000 HKD'000
F#ET FEBT

Secured bank loans repayable within one B —FRE BN A KT
year (Note (a)) RITER W EE @) 116,779 130,781
Other loans, unsecured (Note (b)) HheEmk o sgEm (Iatb)) 266,607 177,941
Other loans, secured (Note (c)) HMER > BIK\ Hatc) 812,082 770,628
1,195,468 1,079,350
Current portion BN EAER 2 1,195,468 901,409
Non-current portion JERDERER 7> - 177,941
1,195,468 1,079,350

Notes:

(a)

The bank loans are secured by certain buildings and right-
of-use assets in respect of leasehold land held by the
Group, corporate guarantee of the Company and personal
guarantee of Mr. Cheok, a director of the Company.
As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of approximately
HK$116,779,000 (2022: HK$130,781,000) carried fixed
interest rate ranged from 3.65% to 6.07% (2022: 3.70% to
5.55%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, including in unsecured other
loans obtained from Jade Summit, an associate amounted to
approximately HK$166,415,000 (2022: HK$177,941,000).
The loan from the associate is non-interest bearing,
unsecured and repayable in 2024.

On 21 December 2023, the Company entered into a deed
of assignment with the director, Mr. Cheok, and a company
which incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“Assignee”).
Mr. Cheok has agreed to assign and transfer the unsecured
loan of approximately HK$100,192,000 (“Indebtedness”)
to the Assignee. The Indebtedness is unsecured, interest-
bearing at the rate of 7% per annum and repayment on
demand. The Assignee is an independent third party to the
Group.
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Hfat -

(a)

ZERTERUETEFT R AEEMRF
BEHETMEREREEE - ARBEZ®
(ERREARBDEETS R EZEAE
RIEEB| R _BE_=F+_-_B=+—
H>$%49116,779,0008 T (&2 - —
£ 130,781,000 75) BIRTTERZN
F3.65EE607E (CE__F :3.70E
ZE555F) ZEEFF XSGR

R-IE_=F+"_RB=1+—H 88
MRBEEREBRAE (—HEEERQR) B
BHEEFEEMER4166,415,00058 7T
(Z2B -4 : 177,941,000 7T) o3k B
ZHMENRND ZERALE ERIRY
BRIE_FEER-

A B =F+"A=+—H &AF
HEES ARG R— BN EBELEES
ML AsE (MZEAL) ST —1(0EE
g o B EREAR49100,192,0008 7T
HEIEFER ((ZED)) HEREET
TEN ZEHABERE BEMNET%
HEOHEREBE-SRAATERAN
BIE=T°



33. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  Secured other loans borrowed from an independent third
party lender bears interest at a rate of 3% to 8% per
annum (2022: 3% to 8% per annum) and HK$812,082,000
are repayable within the next twelve months (2022:
HK$770,628,000 of which are repayable within the next
twelve months). The balance is secured by:

= Corporate guarantee of the Company;

- Equity interests in certain subsidiaries of the
Company;

- The Group's interest in an associate;

- Trade and loan receivables with carrying amount
of approximately HK$215,328,000 (2022:
HK$215,328,000); and

- Financial assets at FVTPL with carrying amount
of approximately HK$18,269,000 (2022:
HK$40,564,000).

The borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

33. fB@™K (&
Kzt (4

(©)

BEIE=FTERABAZEIRRE
MERREFNKIEESE (T —
FEANRIEESE) stE  MERLY
812,082,0008 T/EE R+ @B K
BiE (T2 TTH | HH1770,628,000/%8
TTEREAR+ZEE RER) c &R
M EIEEIRT

— ARBZEEER,

— RAERTDETHERB ZkE

— AEER-—BBREARZED

—  BRMEMEX215,328,0008 7T (Z=
T4 215,328,000 TT) 2B 5
EURRTREWRER ; &

—  ERE{EXN18,269,000% T (=
— T4 140,564,000/ 7T) 2EA
TEAABGZEMEE-

i

FEBUEBERBRNEGELUSNE

\

the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out A ENEZEIMT
below:
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FH7T
Denominated in US$ METTstE 53,708 53,214
Denominated in RMB NAREE 166,415 177,941
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZS=F+-HA=+—HItFE

34. LOAN FROM A DIRECTOR 3. RE—BEFZEWN
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
TFET TAET
Unsecured loan from a director: KE—REEFZ
BIEWEMR .
— interest bearing at 7% per annum and —IZEFIR7E B RAER
repayable on demand (Note (a)) EREE (W5E@)) 16,957 111,137
Note: et -
(@) The loan was advanced by Mr. Cheok, an executive director (a) ERHAARRBHITESSHLER(T

of the Company.

The loan from Mr. Cheok that is denominated in currencies KESRENERPUBHERERD
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group FEEMMNERTENERSSIWMT !

entities are set out below:

2023 2022

HKD'000 HKD'000

FET FET

Denominated in RMB UAE¥sHE 2,043 1,977
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35. LEASE LIABILITIES 35. lHE&E
Present value of lease
Lease payments payments
HEMGIR HEMHRNIRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= “E-"& ZEBECZ= “EF
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TER FET FET FHET
Within one year —&R 3,129 3,423 2,890 3,193
In the second to fifth years, SH_ZEFHE
inclusive (BEEEME) 3,378 1,004 3,257 960
6,507 4,427
Less: Future finance charges 8 : RERBEML (360) (274)
Present value of lease liabilities FHE&BENIRE 6,147 4,153 6,147 4,153
Less: Amount due for settlementi : 7*121& B A Zll Hi 45
within 12 months (shown WIIE G Resas
under current liabilities) IETF) (2,890) (3,193)
Amount due for settlement  PR12EB B HHEERN
after 12 months eI 3,257 960
At 31 December 2023, the average effective borrowing A _E_=F+_HB=+—H ' FHER
rate was 6% (2022:6%). Interest rates are fixed at the B EACE (CTE - _F 1 6E) oFIX
contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value BREHNBHEE WMEAEREEA

interest rate risk. EEFIZE R R o
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36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. fgas
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.1 each
SKREE
0.187T2Z
EEREE
‘000 HK$'000
(FR&) FAT
Authorised: EE -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 ’:\:;EZZE—E—EI
and 2023 T ECCERE=
+—-_HB=+—H 5,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
At 1 January 2022 RN _E__&#—H—H 2,208,000 220,800
Issue of shares on placement (Note) REEREZETRG () 440,000 44,000
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 R-Z__4F
and 31 December 2023 +—A=+—8-
“E=F—HA—HkK
==
=B ==F 2,648,000 264,800
Note: izt
On 26 May 2022, the Company and Aristo Securities Limited RIEZZERBZ+H > AAEHAEF
entered into a placing agreement in respect of the placement RS BERABIIEEHE  UEKR.1E
of 440,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each to independent THEEBBIIREELRE440,000,0008%
investors at a price of HK$0.1 per share. The placement was BRONATHEBR RENRZZZZF
completed on 20 June 2022 and the cost of issue shares was BZ+HTM&RETRMKA42,701,0004%
approximately of HK$2,701,000. TG ©
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37. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

37. &
Group (a) FT&EHE
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group REEBNFEEEEFFRHNGER
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes mEBE R
in equity.
Company (b) F=RF
Details of movements in the Company’s reserves are KRBEINHEEEEFBEUT -
as follows:
Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
B 15 (8 REtBE fst
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TAT TET TAT
At 1 January 2022 WZE2__F#—H—H 2,559,569 (2,027,430) 532,139
Issue of shares on placement REERZETRY (2,701) = (2,701)
Loss for the year FEEE - (496,588) (496,588)
At 31 December 2022 and RZB__&+-A=+—H
1 January 2023 R_E_=F£—H—H 2,556,868 (2,524,018) 32,850
Loss for the year FEEE - (410,730) (410,730)
At 31 December 2023 RIE_=F+"H=+—H 2,556,868 (2,934,748) (377,880)
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37. RESERVES (continued)

(c) The following describes the nature and
purpose of each reserve within owners’
equity:

276

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Share premium
It included the premium arising from the
subscription of new ordinary shares in the past.

Contributed surplus

It represents the difference between the nominal
value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired as a result of the group reorganisation
in prior years, over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore.

Property revaluation reserve

It represents gains/losses arising on the
revaluation of property. The balance on this
reserve is wholly non-distributable.

Translation reserve

It represents gains/losses arising on retranslating
the net assets of foreign operations into
presentation currency.

Statutory reserve

It was appropriated each year on the basis
of 10% of the profit after taxation of
certain subsidiaries established in the PRC
as determined by their boards of directors
in accordance with the respective Articles of
Association of these subsidiaries. This reserve
should only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into capital and expansion of
production and operation.

(vi) Accumulated losses

It represents cumulated net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.
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(iii)

(iv)
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(vi)
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38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments of the Group in respect of property
and equipment and capital contribution outstanding at

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

38. BERKIE

RERS BH > ZEEARR KRR AR
MBERERANSAREBNYERKRBUR

PAN
=

each reporting date not provided for in these consolidated AEMEAREREWT !
financial statements are as follows:
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHET FAT
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB REE
— Contracted, but not provided for —BEIANEREE 37 33

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

39. A LRZ
In addition to the related party balances and (a)
transactions set out in other notes to the consolidated
financial statements, during the year, the Group

entered into the following transactions with related

PR

e BREREMM RS
B ALTERRZZI FEEA
FMALTRAEERETUTRS

parties:
Related party Nature of transaction 2023 2022
RA B At REHE ZEZ=HF =it
HKD’000 HKD'000
FAET TETT
Keentop Investment Limited Lease and management fee
("Keentop”) (Note (i) payments 2,131 2,131
BERERRAR (TEE)) HEREEBEMNR
(FfF EX(i))
ZEIC=HFFR MEZEREERRARE 277
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— e,

E+_A=+—HIEE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

278

Note:

(i)

(continued)

The amounts paid to Keentop, which is beneficially
owned by Mr. Cheok, a director of the Company,
and his spouse, related to a property leased as
their residence. Pursuant to the tenancy agreement
entered into on 29 May 2020, the monthly rental and
management fees were HK$165,000 and HK$18,000
respectively for three years from 1 June 2020 to
31 May 2023 (the “old tenancy agreement”). The
tenancy agreement was renewed on 29 July 2023
for three years from 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2026
under the same terms and conditions.

This related party transaction in relation to the
old tenancy agreement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

Details of lease liability related to this lease is set out
as follows:

39. FBtANLT3 G (&

(a)

(&

Fe 5%

(i)

NERMAEFAEBEZWES
NFPFERRABDEETERERERR
ERBAECEEZRE-REZ
E_EFRA -+ NHBHETiLzZM
N ZEZEFAA—HEEZZE
T=HERA=+—H=ZEFEEZ
BHEKRERED R %165,0008 7T
B218,00058 7T (MEEFAAY) - FALE
A2 =—FtB -+ A BH%EMR
FERREGEEE=FE A _ &
“T=FENB—HEEZZIZF
tB=+—H-

IR BRI ERNNRERALRS
R EHRABRFERERS -

HZHEERZEEERFFH
HIEnF

2023 2022

—— -
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHERT FHET

Classified under: DR

Current portion TMENES 1,795 808
Non-current portion JERENEB D 3,017 =
4,812 808
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=HF+"F=1+—HItFE

39. AT 5 (&

(continued) (a) (#)
Note: 5%
() (continued) i &
Future lease payments are due as follows: REMEEMHZEHEOT :
2023 2022
—EC=E TETCF
Minimum Minimum
lease Present lease Present
payments Interest value  payments Interest value
REREMH FE HE RERELR FE RE
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Within 1 year 18R 1,980 185 1,795 825 17 808
1to 5 years 1254 3,135 118 3,017 = = =
5,115 303 4,812 825 17 808

Members of key management personnel during
the year comprised only those executive directors
whose remuneration is set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b)

—ECCEFR MEEREBAERAE

RAEAFEZTE2EEASEIENT
ES HMEHNREMBHRERN

5160
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

40. i E A E]
e FE(S B AR RIAA EIRT - 28
T 3 458 B RSB A o

40. SUBSIDIARIES
The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

MEABSFBNT :

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Percentage of
equity attributable to

Name and operation Paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
MBI
BT SR E Rt R BHRES FRERMGRERSL FERH
2023 2022
—E=f CE_CF
Directly Owned
EiER
Topsearch Industries (BVI) Limited  BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
US$13,085,640
EEELEHE/EE  E@RI13,085640%T REZR
Brilliant Plus Investments Limited ~ BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100 Investment holding
HEEYHE/5F LERIER REER
Gold City Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100 Investment holding
HEEYHE/5F LERIER REER
Delightful Time Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100 Investment holding
HEEYHE/5F LERIER REER
Indirectly Owned
ks
Topsearch International (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
Limited HK$17,000,000
Deferred non-voting*
HK$20,000,000
ELER (R ARAR &% /217,000,000 7T REER
ERTRELR*
20,000,000 75
Topsearch Printed Circuits (HK) Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
Limited 1,706,319,277
ESRBRER (FF) BB BEkR REER
BRAF 1,706,319,277
Topsearch Printed Circuits Macao  Macau Ordinary shares Macau 100 100  Sale of printed circuit boards
Commercial Offshore Company Pataca100,000
Limited
EEGRRRMEEBEERE  RM &78/z100,000/0F5 85 & ENRI AR ER AR
BRAF
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40. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

40. B AT (&

Percentage of
equity attributable to

Name and operation Paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
MBI,
k2L MR E R BRRER FATEMERET ST FERY
2023 2022
“E-=f CE_CE
EEREHER (BT BRAF® PRC Registered capital 100 100 Manufacture of printed circuit
US$109,000,000 boards
i HEfEA L EENRIGHER
109,000,000% 75
Topsearch Technologies Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
Investment (Holdings) Limited HK$46,784,002
B BBk REZR
46,784,002 7T
REBB L EEEEARE PRC Registered capital 100 100 Provision of information system
BRAFS HK$ 1,000,000 management services and
investment advisory services
i HEfEA REEAZRERRBEREER
1,000,000/ 75 IR
Hero Zone Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100 Investment holding
HEEZHEE/ B8 EERIET REZR
Hong Kong Bridge Investments  BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100  Equity and debt investments
Limited
HEEZHEE/ B8 EERIET REREHRE
Perfect Stage Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100 Investment holding
HEEZHEE/ B8 EERIET REZR
Just Right Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100  Consultancy and corporate
solution services
HEEZHEE/ B8 EERIET BARCERRSERE
Brave Unit Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100  Consultancy and corporate
solution services
HEEZHEE/ B8 EERIET BARCERRS BRI
Sonic Dragon International BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100  Consultancy and corporate

Limited
HBERUBE /B

BEERIZT

“ECCHFFR MEEREBRRRAE

solution services

AAREERRLRRE
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—F+-HA=1+—HIFE

40. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 40. ftBATE (&
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration equity attributable to
Name and operation Paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
MBI,
EaLE R E Rt BRRER FAREMEREE S TEER
2023 2022

—E_=F B &

Classic Blaze Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100  Consultancy and corporate
solution services
REEUEHE/BE  BERIER AR EERRS RRE
Blissland Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100  Consultancy and corporate
solution services
REEUEHE/BE  BERIER AR EERRL RRE
Thriving Season Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary share US$1 100 100  Equity investment
REEUEHE/BE  BERIER RiEkE
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

frE M BRRNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

40. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 40. MJE’AT (&

The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends, EREIERMERERRE
no rights to attend or vote at general meetings and no Hj Fﬂxﬁﬁ BN LRER (I@
rights to receive any surplus assets in a return of capital FEMBEEARFTFEAGHIKE
upon winding-up unless a sum of HK$500,000,000,000,000 500,000,000,000,00078 7T) 7475 4 BF IR
has been distributed to each of the holders of the ordinary NZEEREANEMREREE-
shares.

e Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the @ RIEFEEREELAIIEBEERE.
PRC law.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities as RZE_=FR_E__+_4

at 31 December 2023 and 2022 or at any time during the —t+—HEREFEEEAEE > SR E

year. REB(TEMEFERES -

The directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the EERRINEERRBMBENBRBRIE

subsidiaries of the Company will be of excessive length RIE@R T ﬁ’lﬁtiﬂt%ﬁﬂﬂﬁig

and therefore the above list contains the particulars of HEAREEREENEENNBLABFE

subsidiaries which principally affect the results or assets of

the Group.

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. HAEE
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no R_E_=Z=FRR_E__F+_A4
significant contingent liabilities. —t+—B AERTEEANAEE
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR E M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"_H=1+—HIFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. AT IAFEARRR
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position RBRSHARBRAARRATDHABERRIERZE
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as BT
follows:
2023 2022
T = -
HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE 6,895 6,895
Investments in subsidiaries REB AT ZRE 871,038 871,038
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN EE] 437,958 872,369
Interest in an associate R—EBE A G 2w 12,551 12,551
Financial assets at FVTPL BATE AR
THEE - 2,188
1,328,442 1,765,041
Current assets RENEE
Other current assets HEtRBEE 125,393 125,411
Loan receivables W E = 518,250 478,306
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFESAERm L
THMEE 9,599 15,059
Bank balances and cash BT RRIRE 239 5,536
653,481 624,312
Current liabilities mHEaE
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBERESE R 23,900 21,600
Lease liabilities HEAaE 2,343 2,343
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN EE] 1,830,936 1,830,936
Loans payable BT E™M 9,100 8,100
1,866,279 1,862,979
Net current liabilities mENBEFEE (1,212,798) (1,238,667)
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Information about the statement of financial position
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as

follows: (continued)

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR e

5t

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_—F+H=1+—HIFE

42. ZRBRBRAR (&

RBREMAREBERDUBRRERZE

BT (&

2023 2022
—EC=F B2

HKD’'000 HKD'000

FAET FET

Total assets less current liabilities BMEERTHER 115,644 526,374
Non-current liabilities EREEE

Lease liabilities HEas 4,783 4,783

Loans payable T AR 223,941 223,941

228,724 228,724

NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (B8EH) EEFE (113,080) 297,650
Capital and reserves g s B (i e

Share capital f& 7 264,800 264,800

Reserves 15 (377,880) 32,850

TOTAL EQUITY R (113,080) 297,650
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE

R T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

=

= — = —

E_B=_F+"_HA=+—HIEFE

43. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 8 December 2022, the Group and two
Independent Third Parties entered into an equity
transfer agreement, pursuant to which the Group
disposed of its 66% equity interest in Renco
Investments Service Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Disposal Group”) for a cash consideration of

43. 4

,.n..

AnT

RHRERERMFE
HEMBAT
TE-_&E&#+-"ANB FXEHEH
BAf 4 I 5E = 58] AL g e

ZEWE B AEEURENR
81,768,000t HE H¥ Renco
Investments Service Limited sz L[ 2
AE (THEEE) 66%MKRHE &

HK$1,768,000, resulting in a loss on disposal of HBHERTEL1,311,0008 7T ©

approximately HK$1,311,000.

“—Hﬁjﬂé HEEERASEAERZ

Subsequent to the completion, the Disposal Group

became associates of the Group. HEAE
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: HEHHRENFEEWT :
HKD'000
FAT
Prepayment, deposit, and other receivables FEMRIE - & R HMEWRIE 2,048
Cash and bank balances RE RIBITHEER 1,698
Amount due to subsidiaries FEI I B A B 2 7B (1,492)
Tax payable FEIRIE (1)
Other payables Hfih fE I =018 (3,868)
Accrued expenses fEst & A 116
Net assets disposed of BEHEBEEFE (1,499)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve  FRBRIMNIEEE @2 1515 4,578
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR ZEE (1,311)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BREBE-UREEN 1,768
Satisfied by: MUFFHFHEE

Cash RE 1,768

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: BHEELEZREMAERE !
Cash consideration received BWIREERE 1,768
Bank and cash balances disposed of BHERTRIESE R (1,698)
70

286 Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2023



Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_T_—F+_FA=1+—HIFE
43. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 43. FERERERME (&
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b)
financing activities

MEZHEEZAEHIR

Lease Loan from a Loan from Interest
liabilities ~ Borrowings related party a director payable
XE PYE]
—&EABAL —4EE
HEAR &M 28# Z28% FERFE
HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FTHET TET FTER AT
At 1 January 2023 RIBZ=F
—B—H 4,153 1,079,350 - 111,137 34,346
Changes from cash flows: R&HELH !
New borrowings B EM - 221,579 - 14,944 -
Repayment of borrowings BERBT - (232,528) = (500) =
Repayment of interests BEFE (346) - - - (51,327)
Lease payments HEMR (4,141) - - - -
Total changes from financing  RERSREEH)
cash flows B (4,487) (10,949) - 14,444 (51,327)
Other change: Hith&E) :
New leases wHE 6,135 - - - -
Interest expenses FIEEZ 346 - - 8,302 50,981
Reclassification from loan BRE—REEZER
from a director to borrowings EHHEEEFK
and other payables HiEQE - 100,192 - (116,860) =
6,481 100,192 - (108,558) 50,981
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 26,875 - (66) (7,186)
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=%F
+-A=+—H 6,147 1,195,468 - 16,957 26,814
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Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— A
e

Fr R R Y 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

=

= — = —

E_B=_F+"_HA=+—HIEFE

43. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 43. iIFEHRERERMEFE 2
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEFEBELXZEBEHKR @)
financing activities (continued)
Lease Loan from a Loan from Interest
liabilities Borrowings  related party a director payable
®B xBE
— 4Rk A L —%ER
HEaR RN ZE& ZE# ERHE
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
THET TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2022 S
—H—H 10,193 997,685 2,950 103,710 40,765
Changes from cash flows: RE&HELH
New borrowings HMIgER - 367,764 - - -
Repayment of borrowings BERBT - (331,611) (2,950) = =
Repayment of interests TEC%U (661) - - - (57,608)
Lease payments BERR (8,716) = = = =
Total changes from financing ~ RIBEREREEE)
cash flows 1z (9,377) 36,153 (2,950) - (57,608)
Other change: Hithg s,
New leases WHEE 2,676 = = = =
Interest expenses FERX 661 - - 7,497 56,947
Reclassification from other BEMENREEN
payables to borrowings NEEER - 56,261 = = =
3,337 56,261 - 7,497 56,947
Exchange adjustments ERAE - (10,749) - (70) (5,758)
At 31 December 2022 RIBEZ-F
+-B=+—-H 4,153 1,079,350 - 111,137 34,346
44. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 44. L EESMBHRR

288

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 10 April

2024.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
I F R E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_-—F+_A=t+—HILEE

A summary of the published results and of the assets and AEBRBEZAFMBRFERHBESHELR
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as BRI HRERZETBEBUREERER
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set #FZE&EHF U T o

out below.
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F C"E--fF CBI-fF CEEF —EBE-HE
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
THET FTET FTET TET FTET
Revenue A 257,685 355,682 535,431 277,575 208,941
Loss before income tax BRETEEIEE (375,113) (464,218) (390,415)  (1,036,986) (602,600)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fifsit () /1% (1,173) (1,918) (61,175) 7,012 (56,086)
Loss for the year AEEFE (376,286) (466,136) (451,590)  (1,029,974) (658,686)
Loss attributable to: MR AN LREGEE
Owners of the Company ARTEE A (376,286) (466,136) (451,590)  (1,029,974) (658,686)
Non-controlling interests E|2lid g - - - = (67)
(376,286) (466,136) (451,590)  (1,029,974) (658,753)
Assets and liabilities BERER
Total assets BERRE 1,707,391 2,037,595 2,669,103 2,950,325 4,496,887
Total liabilities BREHE (1,811,979)  (1,735,624)  (1,915,188)  (1,761,134)  (2,318,105)
Total net (liabilities)/assets (BEzE /

BEFEEE (104,588) 301,971 753,915 1,189,191 2,178,782
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIZ - HEREBHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Renco Holdings Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group” or “we"”) has substantially grown its businesses
spanning from Printed Circuit Board (“PCBs”) manufacturing
to financial services. Aiming to become Asia’s leading asset
manager and maintain our competitive edge in the PCBs
industry, we are committed to integrating sustainability
principles into our strategic planning and daily operation
through transparent measures, given delivering enduring value
to our major stakeholders — shareholders, employees, customers,
and the wider society. Therefore, we attach great importance
to employee care, business integrity, customer satisfaction,
environmental conservation and community engagement with
explicit missions and objectives.

Having a deep ambition to construct long-term trusted ties
with our stakeholders in the community, the Group is pleased
to publish the environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
report (the
initiatives.

"Report”) summarising its ESG performance and

Scope of the Report

The Report examines the Group’s ESG management approaches,
environmental and social performance and material topics for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (“2023" or the “"Reporting
Period”), with the scope of our business in the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
(the "HKSAR") and the manufacturing plant in Qujiang, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), which is the only
manufacturing plant in the PCBs manufacturing business. The
reporting scope of this Report is consistent with the reporting
scope of the Report for the year ended 31 December 2022
(“2022"). This Report covers subsidiaries and operations
that contribute to the Group’s principal activities and have a
significant influence on the Group’s ESG performance.
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Reporting Standard

The Report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide under Appendix C2
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SR
BREERBEBMAXSZMERATZS L
TRAWBRCQTZRE - HEREBRERES
mHE-RECE

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Report follows all the

principles as stipulated in Appendix C2:

RIgy HERERKRSE

SEMERC2PRE 2 Fr A 2R !

g

')
o

Materiality
EEMN

The Group has determined the
content of the Report based on
the results of the stakeholder
engagement and materiality
assessment and has covered the
key ESG issues of concern to
stakeholders.

FEBEREFNESRER
EEMFEMEERSHRE
I B E FF 10 & R R E EESG
FHe

Contact & Feedback

The Group believes a strong trusted relationship with our
community is critical for our business sustainability. We treasure
your opinions on the Report and our sustainability performance.
If you have any comments or suggestions, please feel free to

contact us via info@renco.com.hk.

Quantitative

21t

The environmental and social
KPIs have been disclosed

in the Report. To provide

the stakeholder with a
comprehensive understanding of
the Group’s ESG performance,
the criteria, methodology and
references used to calculate the
KPIs are set out in the Report.
RIERTEKPIERIRE RS-
T LEMEHAEERESGE
RERD T REMMLTAR
STEKPINZER FiE RS2 ZE
RIR

Consistency

— B

The Group uses consistent
reporting and calculation
methods as far as judiciously
practicable and details
significant changes in

data or methods in the
corresponding chapters to
achieve comparability of ESG
performance.
REBREFETITHARET
ER—ENRSERAERE
I i AR FE & B 5 it BB K 5 0%
HE KEE)  LUERESGRIR
B9 ] BB o

BRARE

AEBFEEMERRZEEMAREERET
FRESAREA -RMEE
ERFEEREXRAZKRERR W BTEME
IE B EZR AL BHEinfo@renco.com.hk e

BN HRERAEE

SECSE5H MREREEERAT o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE tZAEARS

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group believes that well-established ESG principles and
practices will increase investment values and provide long-term
returns to stakeholders, therefore the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) attaches great importance to that.

Board Statement

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's ESG-related
matters, including the performance, strategies, and compliance
to relevant laws and regulations. The Board monitors the
accomplishment of ESG-related actions and reviews the content
and quality of the Report of the Group annually.

For better management of ESG risks, the Board oversees the
risk evaluation process of ESG-related issues and respective
risk mitigation plans. Different departments are involved in the
ESG risk management process in order to improve the Group
ESG strategy. Besides, the Board is accountable for monitoring
the quality of ESG-related training for staff to ensure their
knowledge and practices are in alignment with the Group's ESG
development.

To precisely manage key ESG issues, the Group employed an
independent consulting firm to conduct materiality assessment
on ESG issues. Stakeholder surveys have been carried out
to collect opinions from internal and external stakeholders,
including Directors, which allowed the Board to provide opinions
on the materiality of ESG issues, thus identify and prioritise
the material issues of the Group. The Board is well informed
and is responsible for reviewing and validating the result of the
materiality assessment. In the meantime, the Board will keep
reviewing the stakeholder engagement channels and exercise
to ensure the Group ESG strategies meet the expectations of
stakeholders.
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To make sure the management of ESG issues is on the right
track, the Board has set goals and targets on the Group ESG
performance according to the identified material issues and
implemented relevant policies to improve the performance.
Besides, the Board oversees the coordination between
departments, and reviews the ESG performance as well as
progress made against the goals and targets set regularly
through Board meetings.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group understands the best way to manage its business is
having a strong collaboration with its stakeholders thus values
their interests and views, and above all, their participation.

To identify stakeholders’ insights and concerns in relevance to
business operation, the Group has been maintaining regular
communication with the major stakeholders through various
channels, which are illustrated in the table below:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RES tEREAKRS

A THRERESGEEZERBERTEN EFER
BATHEB ZERETE] LASEBESGEMAY
BERER TEFAERBERULEEN I
S EFEEERIPIZENBRAB R LR
BEFETREHRILZEBBRBRETESGEIL
K ETEUS RV E & o

&2 A
FEEROEBEEBZRERERSRHERF
MEEFREEBESERG AL AEBERFT
MEZMERBR  URKEZSH-

HAFNENEREFEECRBREL
FEB-—EHEEBTRATMZEERELATE
RERFEHER

Types of Expectation and
Stakeholder Group requirements Communication channels
R &HRER FEHARE K BEERE
Shareholders o Returns o Announcements
& [B] ¥k N
o Compliant operation o Shareholders conferences
BREE RERE
o Raise company value o Email, telephone communication and
RAREMEE company website
e Transparency in information and BIE B EBRABBL
effective communication o Dedicated reports
BN BERERBMBES EHEER
Employees o Protection of rights o Employee mailbox
== e e cE (=B
o Occupational health o Employee communication meetings
BiEER EEBBEGS
o Remunerations and benefits o House journal and intranet
MR P &6 T 47 B2 (7] Bk 48

o Career development
e S
° Humanity cares

NSRRI

o Training and workshop
Bl ffst g
o Employee activity

REEE
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Types of
Stakeholder Group
& RER

Expectation and
requirements

AR E K

Communication channels
BEERE

Business partners

EHBH

Operate with integrity

MIEKE

Equal rivalry

TEHRF

Performance of contracts
B1TE#8

Mutual benefit and win-win result
EERNERGIELER

Reviews and appraisal meetings
BERILEE

Business communication

2 75 8 8

Exchange and discussions
bt et

Engagement and cooperation

ABATE

Government and
regulators

BT R B B8

Complies with national policies, laws e

and regulations
ERCEERRBER AR ER
Support local economic growth
IR 7 ETIE R

Drive local employment
WmEIM G R

Pay taxes in full and on time
12 B e BRANAR

Ensure production safety

BRE2LEE

Regular information reporting
EHAER B

Regular meetings with regulators
EHREEREERE
Dedicated reports

HEER

Examinations and inspections
BERESE

Community and
the public
HERAR

Improve community environment
HEMEIRIE

Participation in charity
BHENTEFE

Transparency in information

BillZEH

Company website
NGIE
Announcements
N
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Materiality Assessment EE 4T

In order to identify the ESG issues that are material to the ZAHBIANEREERESGHERE » UFESGE R
Group in formulating appropriate ESG strategies on ESG TEHEEMESGRENREBETREHH  AEEE
management and determining the direction of the Report, the ZLEIUBEMBBE LLBAEETEEMT Heo
Group has commissioned an independent consultant to conduct ZAEBEEBFBERIIBITNHEEBRESE > LD HIIE
a materiality assessment in form of online survey. Both our BHBEFKESERFTNEESNEBRERE
internal and external stakeholders were invited to fill in the ZEMHEHBINESGHBETTD EEMT
questionnaire and score the identified ESG issues in accordance fERIEEBLERUT .

with their relevance and importance to the business operation

and the stakeholders themselves respectively. The main stages of

the materiality assessment are as follows:

Stage 1 £ B — o o o]

o Identify and map a list of ESG topics
o B MARBEESGERETR

o Identify key stakeholder group
e WAEEFRMHEMER

Stage 2 £ B — o o 01

o Conduct stakeholder engagement exercise
e ETFHEBEZHEH

Stage 3 ¥R = o °]

o Prioritise the most material ESG topics by materiality assessment
e FHBBEEBEUMNMIMEEBESGEREZ BT

o Review the result of materiality assessment for disclosure and ESG
performance improvement in future

o RESGHREBRIRERESGRREMZIEA M EZETEER
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Bigs HEREARSE

Based on the materiality of each of the ESG issues expressed by
the stakeholders, the ESG issues are prioritised and shown in the
materiality matrix below.

High &

Environmental
A

R

Materiality Matrix

RIBFR D EHRESGER

ERAFTMMEEM Tl

Significance to Stakeholders 15 {3 & W EE S

low 1&

EEMER
12,18,26
14,22 @
16,27 @ @
[ 21)
(11} o @ 5 @ ¢
(10} 2 O
O s
000
® 0
Significance to the Group's Business & Operation ¥ Z<8E @ 275 K & iEN EE 14

Employment and
Labour Practices

BERSETER

Operating Practices
HiEE

High &

1 Environmental Compliance
5

RIES

2 Air Pollutant Management
ERSREE

3 Wastewater Management
EKEIE

4 Noise Management
REEE

5 Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BERBEPK

6  Waste Management
EE¥E R

7  Energy Consumption
BEJR N FE

8  Use of Water Resources
KERER

9  Use of Raw Materials and
Packaging Materials

R e B S 16 AR
Ecological Protection
EREfRE

11 Responding to Climate

Change
RIBEEMEH

296

Employment Compliance
SRR
Employees’ Remuneration and
Benefits

& 8 # il a R

Diversity and Equal
Opportunity

bR FEEKE
Occupational Health and
Safety

BEEREZS

Training and Education
ElEHE

Prevention of Child Labour and
Forced Labour

51k & T K35 T
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18
19
20
21

22
23
24
25
26

Operational Compliance
EREE
Supply Chain Management
e S
Product Quality and Safety
EmEEREZR
Responsible Sales and
Marketing
SEEHEREH
Customer Service Management
BERRBEE
Intellectual Property Protection
H o E R IE
Research and Development
o as
Confidentiality and Privacy
RE AR
Anti-corruption

B85

27 Enga
He2

ENEBRNERF ZESGHEE

%ng the Community



Looking forward, the Group will continue to review and
formulate corresponding ESG policies and targets, as well as
streamline the ESG reporting disclosure in order to pursue
continuous improvement in our ESG performance in the future.

RESPECTING OUR EMPLOYEES

Attracting and retaining talents is the key to the sustainable
development of our business and so the Group has always
put employment conditions and standards as the first priority.
We endeavour to construct a quality workplace which values
communication, innovation, execution, and diversity. Besides,
we respect and treat our people with dignity in accordance
with relevant local laws and international industrial standards,
including the Employment Ordinance of HKSAR, the Labour Law
and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, and the Electronic
Industry Citizenship Coalition (“EICC") Code of Conduct.

Employment Objectives {&1{& B 1Z

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RES tEREAKRS

BRERK AEEREBERS RHEHEEZ
ESGE R BRRUKERHESGHR S MEE » U
RIRFFENBESGERL

EE8T

BRI RFBAT AAREEEBIFESERE
BB AL AEE—ERBREG KR
AEEMIFE- RARNNBELESTFS
F EHRERBEE B AITHRZTIE
LEE4h > FAPI AR 1R 48 R 3t 75 0 B e B PR AT ZE AR A
(BESEREGO -FPESEEZREHE
BARBTFITEARK B (Electronic Industry
Citizenship Coalition) (TEICC ) T A #8)) &
HEETo

o Provide a diversified and discrimination-free workplace

REZTIEREBERZ TIRIGHT

o Ensure employee occupational health and safety

REEERERRRZE2EA

EEHEINREANERE

Enhance employee training and personal development

o Comply fully with relevant laws and regulations

EEETHEBEMER

Employment Practices

The Group always ensures our responsible employment
practices are at a level above regulatory requirement through
the implementation of well-established employment-related
policies and procedures, including Staff Handbook, Human
Resources Management System and Labour and Ethics
Management Procedure. These policies specify our standards
concerning employee compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, vacations, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
The Human Resources Department is responsible for monitoring
the enforcement of the above policies and organising training
to ensure correct interpretation of the policies by every existing
and new staff.

EfE =R

FEE-EZEBRERTENREEBRABABRRK
BFEBEEILFM -TALBEBREEFEIR
FIREREERR)) BEESTEERES
RERSBEERERKT - ZFBRITBA
HREMEREE BEKRS  TH KK
TEHE L - RIEBURHEMBERN 2 %
Ale A\HWERBEEEE LRBRZRIT I
EEEII U ERERIREA T ABE TIERE
FREBEIR -
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We believe competitive remuneration packages are crucial to
motivate and retain our talents. The Group conducts reviews
and benchmarking on the staff remuneration against the peers
regularly to ensure its competitiveness in the market. Monthly
monetary bonus and discretionary bonus are granted to eligible
employees, depending on their performance. Annual salary
structure review and appraisal are also conducted to review
employees’ performance. Apart from the attractive base wages,
all employees are entitled to comprehensive insurance coverage
(e.g. Five social insurance schemes and one housing fund
in PRC, and medical and life insurance in HKSAR), overtime
compensation and different allowances etc. We also offer
adequate family leave benefits, including marriage, maternity
and birthday leaves, and stipulate appropriate working hours
to ensure employees could achieve work-life balance. Besides,
we organise annual medical check-ups, sports competition,
and provide a wide range of recreational facilities such as gym
and basketball court for our employees to proactively enhance
employees’ health.

At the Group, fair and anti-discrimination are our workplace
values. We insist on solely scrutinising candidates’ competency,
experience, and personal performance with strict prohibition
against discrimination in any form in relation to recruitment,
remuneration, promotion and transfer, dismissal or retirement
process. There is zero tolerance on any kind of discriminatory
behaviour, harassment or victimization at the Group, on the
basis of age, gender, religion, race, decent or place of birth,
physical disability, and sexual orientation. The Group is also
committed to providing equal opportunities for all employees
in all aspects of their work, from recruitment, training to
performance evaluation. A whistleblowing system is in place
with a dedicated team to investigate any unfair treatment and
take prompt actions.
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In terms of labour rights, we advocate the freedom of work
and human rights. To prevent the employment of child labour,
new employees are required to provide copies of identification
documents for age verification. All staff must be employed on
a voluntary basis by entering employee contract, and they are
able to terminate their employment with requested notice or
pay in lieu of notice to prevent forced labour. Once child or
forced labour practices are discovered, the Group would stop
their work immediately, keep record, and notify their guardians.
We would arrange health check and provide them with
financial, educational, or other kinds of assistance if necessary.
In addition, the Group supports freedom of association and
collective bargaining.

Besides, the Group seeks to promote a cohesive and harmonious
labour and management relationship with the belief that mutual
trust is the pre-requisite of employees’ loyalty. We communicate
with our staff regularly through staff meeting, collecting
opinions from the suggestion box and conducting employee
satisfaction survey bi-annually to identify their needs and
concerns. Their views and recommendations are highly valued
for advancing our working conditions.

Whenever an employee offers to resign or being laid off, the
human resources department would interview the relevant staff
to understand the reason of quitting and to improve the Group’s
human resources policies.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material breach of applicable laws and regulations concerning
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, other benefits and welfare and the use of
child labour and forced labour.
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Healthy and Safe Workplace

Perceiving a safe and healthy workplace is the cornerstone
of our business operation, we possess a scrupulous standard
beyond full compliance with the Production Safety Law of the
PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases and the Work Safety Law of the PRC. The
Group’s plant has obtained the ISO 45001:2015 certification,
which systemically identifies, manages and mitigates safety
risks in the production cycle. In order to minimise occupational
injury and illness at root, we are also engaged in raising
staff awareness on safe operation through regular trainings,
especially for the new hires to ensure regulatory compliance.

BERZZHN ISR

KPR ZRBENTIRBEFAEREEEY
B WEMBHE2EETHREZEEEE
FEBERAAERPETIELREZ B
2R o AREE 2 BB BERISO 45001:20155%3
EoERMIEME BEEMKEEEEERZ
ZeRAR ABRBEALBERD ITERER
EMTEBEHREIBEBIESET CCERM
ABET 2Z2REEH  UWERET LR

2023 Goals and Achievements —E "= HEK&K

e  Zero significant casualties
BEABTSEH

o Zero fire and leakage incident
UK RBRREIN

° 100% safety training coverage
Z2IENBEERI100%

To nurture a safe and healthy workplace, the Group has
formulated safety operating procedures, in-house rules and
emergency preparedness plans, detailing the safety precautions
for various production processes and requested employees to
strictly abide by them. Safety training is arranged according to
the nature of the posts, such as electric work, welding, chemical
handling and working in confined area so that employees’
competency is certified before starting work. In addition,
hazardous chemical drills are held regularly to ensure employees
are familiarized with evacuation routes, skills of evacuation in
emergency situations, general knowledge on safe assembly and
proper application of relevant equipment to handle chemical
leakage. Apart from imprinting safety awareness into staff's
mind, we protect them physically by providing all necessary
personal protection equipment for corresponding workers.
During the Reporting Period, we also organised training
covering fire safety, occupational safety and hygiene, and
hazardous chemicals to raise employees’ awareness of the
potential factors affecting health and safety during work.
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No work-related fatalities occurred between 2021 and 2023.
During the Reporting Period, there were 4 work injuries,
resulting in 199 lost days.

Development and Training

Professional competency and development of our employees
serve a pivotal role in our substantial business growth. The
Group pays great attention to cultivating a learning-centric
corporate culture and offering diversified training sessions.
We have established the Training Management Procedure to
improve employees’ knowledge and skills through induction,
internal and external trainings. To better meet employees’ needs
and expectation, annual training plan is set up by identifying
training needs based on employees’ education level, experience,
and skill requirements.

To ]
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basic knowledge about our e Professional competency
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Keeping abreast of technological advancement and enhancing
operational and job diversification, we offered a variety of
internal and external coaching programs, covering institutional
knowledge, management system, internal policies and
procedures, product knowledge, operational skills, and safety
procedures for our workers during the Reporting Period. For
the asset management and financial-related services, the
Group always encourages its staff to learn continuously and
acquire related professional qualifications through reimbursing
professional membership expenses to eligible staff. In order to
increase the employees’ environmental awareness, the Group
provided our staff with training on environmental management
system (“"EMS"), environmental risks identification and control
of the manufacturing plant, waste and hazardous chemicals
management, as well as emergency handling.

BUSINESS INTEGRITY

Anti-corruption

As an ethical corporate, the Group upholds the highest level
of business integrity and shows zero tolerance of corruption,
bribery, extortion and fraud by the establishment of rigorous
code of conduct. The Group strictly abides by all relevant laws
and regulations, including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap.201) of HKSAR, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
PRC, and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC and the
Tendering and Bidding Law of the PRC.
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Our employees are strictly prohibited from offering or accepting
any forms of advantages such as gifts, entertainment, rewards
and commission, in exchange for jobs, sales, work location or
assignment. We have Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery policy
and the code of conduct stipulated in the staff handbook, and
require all employees to read the relevant contents and sign
the declaration. Besides, employees are required to sign the
Employee Integrity Agreement to ensure honesty and integrity
at work, and are expected to declare every actual or potential
conflict of interest by written declaration. Infringement of
the Group’s policy is subject to dismissal or other disciplinary
actions. Internal audits are conducted regularly to ensure
compliance with policies. The Group has set up a whistleblowing
system, in which the identities of whistleblowers and reporting
information are kept strictly confidential. The independent
investigation mechanism helps solve all suspected cases on
bribery, extortion, fraud, money-laundering and competitive
behaviour. We will report the cases to relevant authorities, such
as the Independent Commission Against Corruption for further
handling when necessary.

In order to enhance employees’ awareness on anti-
corruption, the Group has provided a one-hour training on
integrity agreement to 1 employee. 7 members of our senior
management and the Board were also briefed about the latest
updates on the Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery policy during a
meeting of the Board in the Reporting Period.

The Group confirmed that there were no breaches of relevant
laws and regulations, and no concluded legal cases regarding
corruption practices were brought against the Group or our
employees during the Reporting Period.
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SATISFYING OUR CUSTOMERS

Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of PCBs manufacturing, various metals and
raw materials such as laminates, solder masks, gold salts,
aluminium and copper foil are involved in the manufacturing
process. It is of utmost importance to select suppliers that
provide reliable and quality services and supply.

We have developed and implemented a supplier QMS, including
the Procurement Policy and Procedure.
are implemented to govern the selection and evaluations of
suppliers and to monitor their continuous performance on
product quality and service as well as social and environmental
performance. All the potential new suppliers are required to
pass our stringent evaluation before entering into cooperation.
In the event of engaging new suppliers,
compliance status of relevant laws and regulation and evaluate
the development and quality system of the suppliers. During
the Reporting Period, the Group implemented its procedures to
evaluate suppliers’ qualifications on all its 12 suppliers.

Internal measures

we check the

To identify environmental risks, relevant qualifications and
accreditations of the suppliers, such as test reports under the
Restriction of Hazardous Substances (“ROHS”) and safety
testing reports, are taken into account. To ensure suppliers’
environmental quality, on-site product assessments are
conducted by our designated committee, which is comprised
of the representatives from the Group’s procurement and
quality assurance department and engineers in PCBs business
segment. We pay extra attention to hazardous materials in the
supplies that the use and management of prohibited hazardous
materials by the supplies are part of the assessment criteria in
our new supplier evaluation and on-site assessments. Moreover,
we hand out Environmental Management Audit Questionnaire
to suppliers to assess their EMS. Only after suppliers fulfil our
requirements and pass the evaluation procedures can they be
included in our “Qualified Vendor List”. In addition, they are
required to sign a declaration and pledge to against the use
of materials subject to environmental control before signing
cooperating agreements.
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To identify social risks, a vetting process is conducted in respect
of the business licenses, accreditations and qualifications
of suppliers, including various ISO accreditations, to ensure
suppliers’ competency, experience and their compliance with
our quality requirements. For our raw materials and automotive
product suppliers, accreditations related to quality management
such as ISO 9001 and IATF 16949 are required. Assistance and
necessary training are offered to new suppliers in building
their QMS towards the mentioned accreditations. While for
laminate suppliers, report of Production Part Approval Process is
requested for the laminates to reduce unexpected failure due to
defects in design and manufacturing.

For existing suppliers, regular performance reviews are
conducted to assess their product quality, service performance,
material safety, process monitoring and environmental
performance. Their place of origin is also taken into account
to prevent unethical purchase. Suppliers who fail to meet the
standards should implement corrective actions promptly, or we
will cease the engagement if they cannot pass our evaluation
consecutively. Besides, all our suppliers should follow the
requirements under the EICC code of conduct in their operation
to ensure the compliance of the products and services with the
principle of sustainable development and avoid compromising
the quality and safety of the Group's products.
Reporting Period, all the suppliers of the Group were governed
by the aforesaid supplier management procedures.

During the
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Services/Product Excellence

Manufacture of PCBs with supreme quality is our utmost
dedication. We place strong emphasis on securing product
superiority in every single stage, from engaging suppliers and
clients, business operation, after-sales services, to driving
customer satisfaction. We strictly abide by the relevant
national laws and regulations regarding product quality,
safety management and customer privacy, including the
Product Quality Law of the PRC and the Law of the PRC on
the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Consumers. We
have established a QMS which is certified with international
standards of I1SO 9001, IATF 16949 and ISO 13485. These
standards prescribe our requirements on enhancement of
customers’ experience, defect prevention, product innovation
and continual improvement of our QMS.

In terms of product quality and safety, the Group has formulated
and implemented a series of quality assurance management
standards and procedures, including Product Monitoring and
Measurement Control Procedure, Non-conforming Product
Control Procedure, Corrective and Preventive Measures
Control Procedure, Product Safety Control Procedure. Apart
from regular inspection of the effectiveness of the QMS, we
regularly conduct quality check on incoming supplies and raw
materials, and also conduct compliance check of every product
prior to final packaging and delivery to ensure the fulfilment
beyond both the standards of the products specifications
and customers’ requirements. Besides, we have obtained
the Underwriter Laboratories certification for raw materials
such as laminates and solder masks, and our products are
certified by the China Quality Certifications Centre so that
our product quality is guaranteed and are safe to use. Top
talents and advanced equipment are employed for our product
reliability. More details can be found in the following website:
http://www.topsearch.com.hk/en/Reliability.htm.
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While putting effort into product innovation, the Group places
great importance on the protection of intellectual property
rights and strictly monitors the use of patents and technologies
to prevent infringement of intellectual property rights. The
requirement and restrictions on the registration, maintenance,
and protection of intellectual property are listed in the
agreement with employees and suppliers and the Group will
pursue legal actions and seek compensation for damages to
intellectual property from those who violate the agreement.

With the dedication to become Asia’s leading professional
asset manager which bridges the PRC and overseas markets,
we always stay thirsty and innovative to provide professional
services that exceeds market standards. The Group endeavours
to keep inventing and revamping our capital management
plans and financial products to fulfil our clients’ ever-changing
demands timely, including enhancing our service standard
and expanding its coverage. Our professional team, which is
comprised of a group of experts in fund management, private
equity and discretionary asset management, offers tailored
solutions and advisory for proper and sustainable investment
and asset management. We have Personal Account Trading
Rules in place to govern activities related to investment trading.

Besides, the Group keeps abreast of the latest information of
the regulatory authorities and related financial institutions for
our investment and asset management strategies so that our
services are complied with relevant local laws and regulations
and potentially generate optimum financial return.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of
relevant laws and regulations pertaining to health and safety,
advertising, and labelling matters relating to products and
services provided.
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Product Innovation

The Group also puts strong focus on product innovation so
as to offer the state-of-the-art products and services. The
Group continues to invest in its research and development
to pursue technical excellence and deliver next generation
solutions for meeting our customers’ future demands and
enhance cost-efficiency. The Group has shown continuous
support for innovative development by collaborating with
several universities to carry out research on innovation.
One of our launched projects was jointly collaborated with
two of the top universities in the region — The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and Tsinghua University, for improving
its technical competencies and bringing forth innovative
ideas. More details can be found in the following website:
http://www.topsearch.com.hk/en/Research_Development.htm.
The Group will continue to explore opportunities in
collaborating with various academic institutions.

Customer Satisfaction

The Group believes customer satisfaction paves the way
to its business growth thus values their opinions most. We
have Customer Service Procedure in place to maintain an
efficient communication with our customers. Customers’
feedback is annually collected and analysed by means of
customer satisfaction survey on product return rate, customers’
complaints, and delivery lead-time. The Group will identify
the area of improvement and formulate corresponding action
plans in accordance with the survey result. Our continuous
improvement on product and service quality is therefore highly
driven by our customers’ feedback. The effectiveness of the
implemented measures is also regularly accessed by the quality
assurance department. In addition, we have published thorough
procedures on handling customer complaints. Prompt actions
will be taken to investigate the cases and respond to clients.
We will carry out remedial action plans where necessary and
the root cause will be analysed to prevent similar cases from
reoccurrence to build up customer’s confidence and keep up
reputation. In addition, when the Group is aware of any issues
relating to the Group’s product, the Group will check its data
logs to trace the defective products. Where necessary, the
defective products will be recalled. During the Reporting Period,
the Group had no products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons. During the Reporting Period, the
Group received 24 major customer complaints, which have been
addressed successfully.
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Confidentiality and Privacy

The Group safeguards confidentiality throughout the operations
in all our business operation. We have formulated the Corporate
Management Manual and Information and Data Confidentiality
Regulation to guide our departments and staff at all levels to
deal with confidential and sensitive information (e.g. employee
personal data, corporate information, inside information,
trade secrets, customer’s product designs and technologies,
intellectual properties etc.). The Group is committed to building
mutual trust with our customers at all times. Understanding how
indispensable privacy means to our clients, we always identify
it as an issue of critical concern. All our staff are required to
follow general provision of confidential information protection
stipulated in the Staff Handbook. Employees are prohibited from
copying, transferring and disclosing the restricted information
without prior consent from the management or customers. In
addition, all employees and suppliers are demanded to sign
the non-disclosure agreement before entering into contracts.
Violation of the Group’s policy is subject to dismissal or other
disciplinary actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any
material non-compliance of applicable laws and regulations
relating to privacy matters, including Securities and Futures
Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

The Group values and advocates sustainable development
and recognises our obligation in establishing an effective EMS
for environmental protection, especially in the manufacturing
segment. We seek every opportunity to improve the efficiency
of our operation by reducing the consumption of energy and
raw materials and have formulated a comprehensive set of
environmental policies and supporting procedures covering
greenhouse gas emissions and resource usage.
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The Group complies with all relevant environmental laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the PRC, Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC, Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes, Emergency
Response Law of the PRC, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311) of HKSAR and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap 354) of
HKSAR. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material violations regarding relevant environmental laws
and regulations.

For the manufacturing business, the Group has established EMS
which is certified by 1SO14001:2015 to identify, manage and
mitigate the environmental risks of the manufacturing process.
We have also set up the Environmental Committee to supervise
and prompt the continuous improvement of the system. The
committee monitors the progress of environmental objectives
and targets reviews environmental risks, and evaluates the EMS
regularly is also responsible for identifying national and local
government emission standards and formulating the Group's
environmental protection strategy accordingly. During the
Reporting Period, the Group demonstrated its commitment to its
environmental conservation objectives by encouraging resource-
conscious practices among employees and adhering to its
EMS and all relevant laws and regulations in its manufacturing
operations.
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Environmental Conservation Objectives &% B 1Z
o Optimise resources and energy efficiency

BIEE IR TRAE
o Reduce greenhouse gas emission
AR E R

o Reuse and recycle all valuable materials and reduce wastage

ERERAKREWFRE EEM IR RE

e Procure green raw materials

R B R R

o Comply fully with relevant emissions laws and regulations

EEETHEEFBUEREER
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Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The major air pollutant emission of the Group is from the
manufacturing of PCBs, which generates air pollutants such as
volatile organic compounds, ammonia and acidic/alkaline mist.
To manage air pollutant emissions from the manufacturing
of PCBs, gas purification towers, such as wet scrubbers and
acidic/alkaline degassing chambers are installed to absorb the
organic particulates and neutralise the mist. To standardise the
operation and inspection of the purification towers, the Group
has established the Air Emission Control Operational Procedure,
detailing the frequency for monitoring and instruction for
maintenance. During the Reporting Period, a third-party
institution assessed the concentration of air pollutants for the
manufacturing of PCBs and no violation of the emission limits
was detected.

Also, a small amount of air pollutants is generated from
vehicle usage for the Group's daily operation. To reduce the
air pollutants from vehicles, the Group regularly maintains and
inspects the vehicles to ensure the fleets are properly tuned and
avoid idling vehicles.

The Group generates greenhouse gas directly from the
combustion of fuels in vehicles and during cooking in the
canteen, and indirectly from electricity consumption, water
consumption and paper waste discarded at landfills. To reduce
greenhouse gas emissions, the Group has adopted a number
of measures to reduce resources consumption and wastage as
mentioned in the section “Resources Management”.
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Wastewater Discharge

The major wastewater discharge of the Group is from the
manufacturing process of PCBs, which consists of a high
concentration of metal ions, acids/alkaline and organic
substances. The wastewater is treated by our in-house
wastewater treatment facilities with processes such as pH
adjustment, coagulation and acid hydrolysis before reuse or
discharge. The Group has established the Wastewater Treatment
Operational Procedure to regulate the operation and inspection
of the wastewater treatment facilities. During the Reporting
Period, the Group assigned a third-party institution to conduct
routine tests on effluent to ensure the fulfilment of national
regulatory standards, including the Discharge Standard of Water
Pollutants for Electroplating (DB44/1597-2015).

Waste Management

The Group generates both hazardous waste and non-hazardous
waste from its operation. The manufacturing business generates
several types of hazardous wastes such as copper-containing
sludge and acidic/alkaline waste. Non-hazardous waste of the
Group includes waste paper, metal, plastic, wood products and
daily office garbage.

Recognising the potential repercussion these wastes could
have on the environment as well as our worker safety without
proper handling, the Group has established the Guidelines for
Waste Handling to effectively process the hazardous and non-
hazardous waste generated from the manufacturing business
as classified by the Directory of National Hazardous Wastes of
the PRC. Hazardous waste is classified by its properties, stored
in proper containers with appropriate labels and is transferred
to and handled by qualified waste collection companies. For the
manufacturing business, non-hazardous waste is collected by
recyclable or non-recyclable categories and is then recycled or
collected by local waste treatment companies.

To effectively reduce waste produced by the Group, we have
built a sludge dehumidification facility for the manufacturing
business, which was designed to reduce the water concentration
of the sludge from 80% to 30%. As a result, the amount of
waste could be greatly reduced.
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Noise Management

The Group understands the noise we generate during the
manufacturing process may pose disturbance to nearby
residents, we have implemented sufficient noise control
measures for noise and vibration arising from the operation of
the plant. All the facilities and equipment having high noise
levels are surrounded by sound-absorbing materials and are
installed with enclosures or erected barriers so as to abide by
the applicable national laws and provincial regulations such
as the Emission Standard for Industrial Enterprise Noise at
Boundary (GB 12348-2008). During the Reporting Period, the
Group hired third-party professional companies to conduct
regular inspections to maintain the effectiveness of the
measures. Besides, in order to effectively manage the noise
produced from the plant operation, the Group has conducted
weekly monitoring work to record the noise level of the
manufacturing plant.

Resources Management

Being one of the leading manufacturers of PCBs, the Group
keeps exploring opportunities to save resources during business
operation. Energy, water, paper and packaging materials are the
main types of resources consumed by the Group, among which
electricity constitutes the biggest part of energy consumption,
in addition to a small amount of fuel used for vehicles. The
Group follows the 3R principles (i.e. reduce, reuse and recycle)
and monitors the use of electricity, water, paper and packaging
materials, thus effectively control the use of resources.
Procurement is made based on the stock and future demand
analysis to avoid over-ordering and unnecessary resource
consumption. The Group reuses resources, including treated
wastewater, and recycles non-hazardous waste to maximise
resource efficiency. In an effort to reduce the use of water, the
Group has installed an automatic screen washing machine to
avoid manual washing process, which greatly reduced water
usage in the screen washing process. During the Reporting
Period, there was no issue with sourcing water fit for the
purpose of the operation of the Group.
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To raise awareness of its employees on environmental protection
and promotes the 3R principles, the Group posts signs in
conspicuous and relevant locations to remind its employees to
save resources. We have also listed in the Employee Handbook
measures for energy and paper saving and established a Green

B/TRSEINRFEEMLEERIRA &
EEEERMNEBUERME ™ WREST
MNER ZATEEIFMAIHBERS
MIET TR EEFRELBMAEIES
AEEWT

Office Guideline for the manufacturing business as follows:

314

%

N4
Electricity Water Paper
BN K i

Procure equipment that

is energy saving or with
greater energy efficiency
REBE RS A A B EERIY
mZ &

Set all the electrical
appliances to energy saving
mode and switch off when
they are not in use

FrE B R E AR &
AN EANE

Maintain the office
temperature at 23-25°C
MAEREMERRE23E
258

Carry out regular inspection
and faucet leakage tests
ERHKERETHR R 2
Al

Keep the faucets off when
they are not in use
IKBESRTE AR R A R R BT
2 B
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Promote e-platform for
internal information
circulation
ETHAREERZEF
4

Encourage the use of
recycled paper and double
sided printing
HEMERABER R EmITE
Place recycle box to collect
waste paper
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group stays proactive in managing emerging environmental
risks and advancing our performance in pursuit of long-term
and sustainable operation. We fulfil our sustainable commitment
by prudent selection of manufacturing materials for our
manufacturing business. We follow the ROHS to restrict the use
of hazardous materials, such as lead, mercury, and cadmium for
our production cycle. Also, through adopting various surface
finishing techniques, such as Organic Solderability Preservative,
Electroless Nickel Immersion Gold and Immersion Silver, our
products are lead-free and halogen-free, which produces
minimum impacts to the environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group utilised the facility we
constructed to collect and reuse the copper and nickel metal
from wastewater generated from the manufacturing of PCBs.

The Group also lays emphasis on handling environmental
emergencies by setting the Environmental Emergency Response
Plan for the manufacturing business. The Group has identified
man-made and natural sources of workplace environmental
hazard and developed the emergency response plans
respectively, covering the excessive discharge of wastewater
from wastewater treatment facilities, accidental emissions of
exhaust gases, spillage and leachate of sludge, fire disaster and
the leakage of hazardous chemicals, liquids and heavy metals.
To ensure our workers are familiar with the precautionary
measures, emergency response and reporting channels
stipulated in the plan, we provided training and organised
emergency drills during the Reporting Period.
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Climate Change

Climate change has attracted widespread international attention
and the risks associated may have negative impacts on the
Group's businesses. We have thereby identified different
climate-related physical risks such as the increase in extreme
weather events and changes in precipitation patterns which
could pose threats to the Group's environmental and even
financial performance due to a decrease in productivity. Climate
change may also pose transition risks to the Group such as shifts
in consumer preferences. Besides, the Group’s operational cost
may increase because of the increased environmental reporting
obligation and the strengthened specifications for existing
products and services.

The Group will keep reviewing local policies and regulatory
updates to identify potential climate-related risks and has
developed an environmental risk inventory based on the
possibility and impact of the identified risks. We regularly
identify, assess, and monitor climate-related risks, and has
integrated climate-related risk management into our business
operation. Safety warning systems and special working
arrangements are put in place to ensure the safety of employees
and on-site workers during extreme weather conditions or
events.

ENGAGING THE COMMUNITY

The Group attaches great importance to the interaction with
the wider community in fulfilling corporate social responsibility.
Therefore, the Group has established the Corporate Social
Responsibility Policy to encourage its employees to engage in
community services and voluntary activities. To fulfil the Group’s
corporate social responsibility, it focuses on areas including
volunteerism, education and elderly care. In addition, we
believe only if we treasure natural materials wholeheartedly
can we educate our community to protect the environment.
We understand environmental protection is of everyone
responsibility thus we will seize the chances to organise more
meaningful events relating to the environment for the public in
the future.
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

Social Performance
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As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2023
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Employee Turnover Rate (%)

B8 MK LE R (%)

By Age Group'

FEEE R B 5
Below 30 72 40
30 AT
30 to 50 30 19
3058 E505%
Over 50 15 11
5058 A £

By Gender!'

eI E b
Female 26 18
pegics
Male 32 17
B

By Geographical Region'

itEE 5
HKSAR 95 8
EERE
PRC 29 18
o e

Average Hours of Training per Employees? and
Percentage (%) of Employees Trained? 8.91 (100) 8.89 (100)

BRREETMRIN TR RZIIRE R 5 LE(%)

By Gender*®
AL BB B s

Female 8.97 (100) 8.94 (100)
2z
Male 8.86 (100) 8.84 (100)
B

By Employment Category* >
BESENE Hs

Senior 8.16 (100) 8.18 (100)
= 4R
Middle 8.89 (100) 8.81 (100)
4R
Junior 8.99 (100) 8.98 (100)
)4
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As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2023
R-ZE_Z RZEZ=F
+—_B=+—H +ZB=+—H
Distribution of Suppliers
it FE 7 3 6
Number of Key Suppliers 7 12
FEMEEHA
By Geographical Region
¥t & & 5
Guangdong 3 3
=5
Jiangsu - 2
JLER
Jiangxi 1 2
PN
Anhui 1 1
2
Chongging 1 1
=
Hunan - 1
A E
Shandong 1 1
1=
Zhejiang - 1
yiipan
Notes: BaE -
1. The calculation method of the employee turnover rate by RERNEDEERIAENHESE . (FRE

category: (the number of departures in the category in the year =
the total number of employees in the category at the end of the
year) X 100%.

2. The calculation method of average hours of training per
employee: the total training hours = the total number of
employees at the end of the year.

3. The calculation method of the percentage of employees trained
in the year: (the total number of employees trained in the year —+
the total number of employees at the end of the year) X 100%.

BERNNBERAB-FRERENNREER

#) X100%

BETHRRINFHEHRFHNGETE IR

R - FRESBH-

FRZIREEBNLENAELE  (EREI
EEMBH-FRESLH) X100% -

—ECC-HEER MEZEREERRAE
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4.  The calculation method of the average hours of training 4. SFRXEFHBEONEESTHAZTIFHEBFHY
per employees by category in the year: the training hours HFELE  EANEHENEENZINFE-F
of employees in the category in the year + the number of KERENNEE AR
employees in the category at the end of the year.

5.  The calculation method of the percentage of employees trained 5. FWIRENI DN ZIRBREBDLEWNAERS
by category in the year: (the number of employees trained in the L (EREBEBENNZINEEA#M-FERE
category in the year = the number of employees in the category FALERINES A8 X 100% ©
at the end of the year) X 100%.

Environmental Performance RIBE&M

Unit 2022 2023
Efl T —T”=
Emission
BER 4
Water pollutants from manufacturing of PCBs
BY 35 EN I 438 2% MR BY 7K 55 24
Chemical oxygen demand Tonne 45.12 24.73
E2FaE ire
Ammonia nitrogen Tonne 3.62 2.09
A Mg
Total nitrogen Tonne 10.46 5.52
ARBE ire
Air pollutants from manufacturing of PCBs
RS EN I 4R B AR BY 22 SRS 240
Nitrogen oxides Tonne 3.23 2.68
Ea=R1wY| WA
Sulphuric acid mist Tonne 7.31 5.05
i irE
Ammonia Tonne 11.03 8.82
= it
VOCs Tonne 0.19 0.18
BEMEERY irE
Particulate matter Tonne 3.99 3.03
EERRY) lr]
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Unit 2022 2023
B £ —FZ=
Air pollutants from vehicle usage'
ERSEEENZERSRY
Nitrogen oxides Kg 270.79 71.07
agty /NN
Sulphur oxides Kg 0.67 0.37
&b N
Particulate matter Kg 21.44 3.44
FEKLY) /NI
Waste
BE4)
Non-hazardous Waste?
mEREY?
Total Tonne 503.21 417.13
“ast L
Waste Paper Tonne 134.15 2.13
BEAR L
Waste metals Tonne 286.70 249.00
BETE L
Waste plastic Tonne 38.26 54.00
EELE R} &
Waste wood products Tonne 44.21 112.0
BEARR M L
Intensity? Tonne per
1000ft? PU 0.12 0.14
7 s mg,
1,000 5 R
FEBAL
—E=HEFR MEEREEFRARE 321
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Unit 2022 2023
E i T ZEZ=F
Hazardous Waste
BEEY
Total Tonne 4,346.86 3,276.56
45t i
Copper-containing sludge Tonne 1,097.30 839.72
CEENENE WA
Acidic waste* Tonne 1,615.32 1,047.19
& 14 BE Y g
Alkaline waste® Tonne 948.82 794.48
5t BEY)° it
PCBs waste Tonne 393.18 343.60
ED ) 43 B8 1 BE 4 ir
Tin-containing wastewater Tonne 118.16 96.43
= EE K ir
Others® Tonne 174.08 155.14
Hhe it
Intensity? Tonne per
1000ft? PU 1.08 1.08
BE Ly
1,000 5 R
FEBL
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Unit 2022 2023
B i T ZEZ=F
Resources Consumption
BIFHE
Total Energy Use MWh 50,619.43 45,750.02
RERERBE JKELBF
Direct Energy Use’
EEGERERE
Mobile Combustion MWh 414.70 247.16
R I5E JK R
Stationary Combustion MWh 40.88 -
[E] 7E WA ¥ JKELBF
Indirect Energy Use
BzERERAE
Electricity MWh 50,163.85 45,502.86
E KB
Intensity
ZE
Manufacturing Business? MWh per
1000ft? PU 12.49 15.13
BSER b 91:5 4
1,000 75 R
FEEA
HKSAR Businesses MWh per
full-time
employee 10.78 0.84
BEERRER KRB
THES
—ECC-FFR MBEREEBRARE 323
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Unit 2022 2023
Efl —T-Z —TZ=F

Water Consumption?®
FEkE®
Total m?3 1,245,216.00 1,115,205.00
st K
Intensity? m3 per

1000ft? PU 308.06 368.78
mE3 MHKS

1,000 5 R

FEBA
Packaging Materials
aRYE
Total Tonne 237.68 217.27
4t U
Intensity? Tonne per

1000ft? PU 0.06 0.07
mE3 g,

1,000 5 R
FEEM
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Unit 2022 2023
B T —EZ=H
Greenhouse Gas Emissions®
= mEEHERe
Total Tonne of
carbon dioxide
equivalent
("tCO2e") 27,436.87 26,931.59
Ha st Mg — S EIREE
(Tma Z &b hix
EE))
Direct Emissions (Scope 1)'° tCO2e 511.49 484.88
BN (EEN) 0 M| biRES
Indirect Emissions (Scope 2) tC0O2e 26,445.14 25,951.38
BN (BE2) e biRkES
Other Indirect Emissions (Scope 3)'? tCO2e 480.23 495 .33
H R Egem (&BE3) 2 M —EEREE
Intensity
BE
Manufacturing Business? tCO2e per
1000ft2 PU 6.78 8.90
BUE R Mg — E LAk
=N
1,000 5 R
HKSAR Businesses tCO2e per
full-time
employee 3.98 1.44
BEBFEER Mg — E LAk
B2 2HES
ZECCZHFFHR MEERSEEBRAE 325
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L=

HERERARS

Notes:

326

The emission factors used are from Appendix 2
Guidance on Environmental KPIs"

“Reporting
issued by the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited ("Appendix 2").

The Group also generates a very small amount of general office
waste during operation which is considered insignificant and is
managed by the property management company, hence no data is
available.

1000ft? PU is the production unit which implies 1,000 square feet
of product produced.

Acidic waste includes acidic copper-containing waste liquor and
acidic waste etchant.

Alkaline waste includes alkaline waste etchant.
Others include the other hazardous waste generated from

the production of PCBs,
fluid, waste mineral oil,

including waste laboratory analytical
developer solution, nickel-containing
wastewater, gold-containing wastewater, screenwash water,
ink cans, organic cleaning waste, empty can of gold salt, ion
exchange resin, film and photosensitive film, filter wool, activated

carbon, silver plating solution and empty bins.

The conversion factors from volumetric units of unleaded petrol
and diesel oil consumption to energy units are in reference to CDP
Technical note: Conversion of fuel data to MWh.

The volume of water use covers the manufacturing business only.
There is no separate water bill for the office in HKSAR as it is
included in the property management fee.

The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is based on
Appendix 2 and the Guidelines to Account for and Report
on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong
published by EPD and EMSD. The Group inventory includes carbon
dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. For ease of reading and
understanding, the greenhouse gas emissions data is presented in
tCOze.

Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2023

Hiat -

FIERNENRFREEEHEAMBR
NEEMPM R IRIBREEMISZERE
5y (THgR=)

FEENEETEEBVDE—RMLEEY
WRAFEALAYEETEATEE ALt
EOISHIE-

1,000 F 5 REEBMBEET,000F 75 RE
mZEEB-
MY Bk

M B R R B M BE R A A o

R EE YD BLIE B 1 B R XU o

HtMBELEENRGBIRELENEME TE
Y1 BEBEREDNER BEEYH B R
FIREK TR AR HBEBHE
BAR - SRR BB FEMARR

FERE N BIEARS R MR EIRR K

IR R RBEEENRBE RS
=S ”“ME’JT@%I?E”%CDP%’*%E’J (EEM
FHER IR D IR R BRI IMTRA) o

AKEEREREXG EBRENFERLE
BIKBE NECOEENEEEER-

BERBHANLBEWRE - RIEREHKE
TIRESHHN(EBEEY @ -FToH
BR) WBERBHERRBBNZENKRSS
SN E - AEENEESE Stk Bk
FEER - AZNEERER BEREIK
UM —atREE 25



Scope 1 covers the emissions from stationary combustion sources,
mobile combustion sources and fugitive emissions from the use of
refrigerants. The emission factors used are from Appendix 2 and
the IPCC AR6 WGI Report.

Scope 2 covers the emissions from purchased electricity from
power companies. The calculation is based on the “Notice on
Carrying out Work in Reporting and Management of Greenhouse
Gas Emissions of Enterprises in the Power Generation Industry
from 2023 to 2025" issued by the Ministry of Ecological
Environment of the PRC and the Sustainability Report 2022
published by HK Electric Investments and HK Electric Investments
Limited.

Scope 3 covers the emissions from water consumption and paper
waste disposal and is calculated based on Appendix 2.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE- B REBARS

10. BERER B EEMIER  BERIE R HE
R 5 PR AR RV 3R B BERR o BT (£ B HE A F
TR B MY $E — RIPCC AR6 WGIERE ©

1. HEZEREREMBANRADBEENNBIRK-
BRAFT B KIR B R E R IR IR B0 2 M Ay (RS
MYF2023 —2025F B BITE X RERBH
BREEEFMIFNEN) RBEBNERE
RBBENERERRABEMINC2022F 7
BEREE)-

12, HEBHERBFEKREREENTHR L5
RIEM SR 5t

SECSE5H MREREEERAT 327
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INDEX TABLE OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF B3I FRESGER &= 4551 A B K5I &R(1)
THE STOCK EXCHANGE ()

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Sections

o8 1) 14 % B8 B oK S

Governance Structure ESG GOVERNANCE

EIRRIE ESGEA

Reporting Principles ABOUT THIS REPORT — Reporting Standard

BE ¥R R Al RN ARE - RERE

Reporting Boundary ABOUT THIS REPORT - Scope of the Report

b R 26 [ RN ARE —REHE
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INDEX TABLE OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

THE STOCK EXCHANGE (II)

Employment and
Labour Practices

EBREREIER

Description
3t

RIE- HEREAR

Bt ZFRESGER H 5 IR BR5I =)

Section/Statement

8RRt

==4
[

A.Environmental
AIRIE
Aspect A1: Emissions

EmEA1 . HERY

General Disclosure

— R ER

KPI AT.1
R B AR RS 1RA1

KPI A1.2
R SR AR AR 1RAN .2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

ERBERERERBIN mAkRLHHNEES BERESE
BEYNEESH

() BR ; &

(b) BTFHETAEEAFENER AR RRS

BBk o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

HR AR LR R AR R HE R B o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per

unit of production volume, per facility).

B EE) ReREE @E2) BERBEINE CUEE) &

ER) ZE WMUSEEEN SERKHE) -

PROTECTING THE
ENVIRONMENT
RIS RE

PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY -
Environmental
Performance

B E —IRIRAN
PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY -
Environmental
Performance

BUE - IRIGER

“ECCHFEFR MEEREERRAE
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R tgREARS

Employment and

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement

BlERS TER 3t S8, PR

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where PERFORMANCE

A SR & IE1RA1 3 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per ~ SUMMARY —
facility). Environmental
FREX B EEEYRE UE8) K WER) BE WMUEE Performance
2B -BEXRMH) o B E - IRIFEN

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where PERFORMANCE

RH SR & IS 1RA1.4 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per ~ SUMMARY —
facility). Environmental
FMEAEREEEYARE UBHE) k WER) ZE MWUSE Performance

KPI'A1.5
RS AE RS 1RA1.5

KPI'A1.6
RS AE S 1RA1.6

BB -BEXRME) o

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HAMPTETI I NBINE B R A ETE L BRI T B -
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HLRIEEERESEREYNG % RMEIFAE] LR BR
K #EDE L BRI IREA 2 5] o
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Labour Practices

EBRERSIER

Description

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIgy HERERKRSE

Section/Statement

EH R

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : ERER
General Disclosure
— RN EE

KPI A2.1
B SR AE RIS 1RA2. 1

KPI A2.2
B AE IS 1RA2.2

KPI A2.3
PRI AE IS 1RA2.3

KPI A2.4
IR AE RIS 1RA2.4

KPI A2.5
PR ER AR M IE1RA2.5

SRk PR B BB M LY

—EI=ETR

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BERERER (BEETR K EMRMED) BIEER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in’000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
RENEDNEE RO E
BFEEE) RBE NMUSESEEN -SEXREH) ©
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

MEAEREE WUSEEEN - BERMH) °

“RECH) ABFEE (MUT

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
HFAs] LN REA NS B R kA EDE LB RMERIN T

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken

to achieve them.

a3 SR EE A AOR LRI BRI R LUK PRET LR A K= B

B #ZERE L BRI P BR ©

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)

and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

(LAMESt8) K (MNER) SEEEAL

PROTECTING THE
ENVIRONMENT

— Resources
Management
RIgRE-EREE
PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY -
Environmental
Performance

B E —IRIRER
PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY -
Environmental
Performance
BUE —IRIFEN
PROTECTING THE
ENVIRONMENT
IRIBIR#E

PROTECTING THE
ENVIRONMENT
RIGIRE

PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY -
Environmental
Performance

B E - IRIBEXN
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R tgREARS

Employment and

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement
R % TER g 8-
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEA3 : RIERXAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the PERFORMANCE

—fRINER

KPI A3.1
R SR 4R A5 1RA3.1

environment and natural resources.

RRETARIRERRABEREMERNTZENEER -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

WM ER EHHIRERRAARERNEARZERBERNEIRA R
TEMNITH

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EHEA4 . RIEE1E
General Disclosure
— IR EE

KPI A4.1
BB AR IS 1RALN

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

AR EH AR AIEEHETAEELENERRGARSE

HAER

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

BB KRAIEEHETAELERENEARGHERASTE &
FEH1TH
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SUMMARY - The
Environment and
Natural Resources
BUMEBE-RERK
RER
PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY - The
Environment and
Natural Resources
BUMEBE-RERK
RER

PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY - Climate
Change

B E - RIERE1E

PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY - Climate
Change

EHIHE - AR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RES tEREAKRS

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement
BRRYITER it =6

B. Social

BAE

Employment and Labour Practices

BfRR%EIER

Aspect B1: Employment

BEB1 : EE
General Disclosure

—BRE

KPI B1.1
B S AR R HE1RB 1 1

KPI B1.2
B AR R IE1EB1.2

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES -

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a Employment Practices
significant impact on the issuer EEET—REEEHR

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BTN RE - BRERSH TERE - BRBA TEKE -2

Toib s RIS R EMEFEREF R

() B3R ; &
(b) BTFHBETABEK
=

2. 85

|

AR RA R R R AR A

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-  PERFORMANCE
or part-time), age group and geographical region. SUMMARY - Social
MR EEELE (2B ER) - FiA Kt &8 589  Performance

o
4%

BUME-—HLEREN

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical PERFORMANCE

region.

SUMMARY - Social

MR FRAER R EE DI EERKEEE Performance

BUME-—EEN

SECSE5H MREREEERAT 333
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Employment and
Labour Practices

EBRERSIER

Description
LA

Section/Statement

B8Rt

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EmEB2 : #FREAZZR

General Disclosure
—RRE

KPI B2.1
R R AR A5 1RB2.1

KPI B2.2
e 2 4R A5 1R B2 .2

KPI B2.3
B BRI ANI5 18823

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.
ERRRELZ2ITHFRER REREHEHBEMBEN !
(@ R &

(b) BTFHETABEAZENEREZRRRA
&Ko

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the reporting year.

BE=F (OREEREE) SFRAITHIABKRLEE-

Lost days due to work injury.

RIBERTIFRS-

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HILFTER AN BB 2R (R FR A 22 2 HE T > WU BRI IT R B 22
e
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73

RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES — Healthy
and Safe Workplace
EE8T—REKRT
2T RS

RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES - Healthy
and Safe Workplace
SEET—REEZ
2 TIESZFT
RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES — Healthy
and Safe Workplace
EE8T—REKT
2 TIESFr
RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES — Healthy
and Safe Workplace
BEST-RERE
2N TIESGAT
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EBRERSIER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Description
LB

RIgy HERERKRSE

Section/Statement

EH R

Aspect B3: Development and Training

JBmEB3 : ¥R Kl
General Disclosure
— RN EE

KPI B3.1

B SR AR XI5 1%B3.1

KPI B3.2
B S AR R 15 1%B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRRAEEEIT TIFBE M H K AEEER - it F &
& o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
M REERRN WESHREEE PREIER Bo0%IE
ISR

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

BUNREERENE D BREETHZINTIFH-

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

JEMEB4 . 5T #8|
General Disclosure
—RIHE

KPI B4.1
B SR S XI5 1RB4. 1

KPI B4.2
R SR AR X 15 1RB4.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRABy L E T 55 H55 ThY !

(@ BR; &

(b) BTFHETABEATENEREE KRR

&Ko

Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.

MR R B A BB R E T Rl T o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

B EEIFRERBEREHRA BB R KA L B o

“ECCHFEFR MEEREERRAE

RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES -
Development and
Training

EEE8T -#REKIE
Ell

PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY - Social
Performance
BUE - 8EN
PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY - Social
Performance
BN E - 8RN

RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES -
Employment Practices

SEET-EREER

RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES -
Employment Practices
EEET—RRESR
RESPECTING OUR
EMPLOYEES -
Employment Practices

SEET-REESR
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Employment and

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement
BIHRS T ER A =t

Operating Practices

ZEEG

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS : HAEHE IR

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the SATISFYING OUR
— R EE supply chain. CUSTOMERS - Supply
BIRHERNIRIE Rt R REUER Chain Management
CERmE—MERE
BIg
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. PERFORMANCE
R R 4B A I512B5.1 i@ 8 o HERmBME - SUMMARY - Social
Performance
BRME-—HEEN
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  SATISFYING OUR
2 3 48 15 12 B5.2 of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and CUSTOMERS - Supply
how they are implemented and monitored. Chain Management
Hl A R B HEENES > mENITHERBEMIRN TR 3 CERmE—MERE
B URAEEMITRERG % [=§=d
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental SATISFYING OUR
i 3 48 " H5 12 B5.3 and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are CUSTOMERS - Supply
implemented and monitored. Chain Management
HRARRAHERESERANBEREERERNEN UKk <ERmE—HER
HEARITRERR A =g
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally SATISFYING OUR
38 45 S5 12B5.4 preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and ~ CUSTOMERS - Supply
how they are implemented and monitored. Chain Management
MR EREREERNEESHARRERKBRBFNESG  LUKE <SR WE—HER
RARITRERG % &1
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RES tEREAKRS

Employment and

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement
BRRYITER it =6

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EmEB6 : EmE1E

General Disclosure Information on: SATISFYING OUR

— R R (a) the policies; and CUSTOMERS -
(b) compliance with relevant laws and Services/Product
regulations that have a significant impact on Excellence; SATISFYING

the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and OUR CUSTOMERS -
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and  Product Innovation;

methods of redress. SATISFYING OUR

ERFMREERNRBNEREZES - ES - BRKAMEEE  CUSTOMERS -

U EN - Customer Satisfaction;

(@) BUR ; & SATISFYING OUR

(b) BTFHBETABEAXENEBEZEREAD CUSTOMERS —

& K o Confidentiality and
Privacy

RERPME-SHAR
% BEER; SER
mE-EmARH, F
FRE—ERmRE;
LERME—REBR

ThiE
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls ~ SATISFYING OUR
A B 48 A5 15B6. 1 for safety and health reasons. CUSTOMERS -
EEYAECEXEREHTRLTEHERERMARIWMNESD  Services/Product
EEo Excellence
CERBE S8R
7%/ BEED
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and SATISFYING OUR
B B8 45 151286 .2 how they are dealt with. CUSTOMERS -
BERARERKRRBHNEFREEUKREHE G % Customer Satisfaction
CERBE-ERMm
BE
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R tgREARS

Employment and

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement
B RS TER g =6 it
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting SATISFYING OUR

RS AE W5 1%B6.3

KPI B6.4
BB AR 1513864

KPI B6.5
e 9 4R AN 5 1%B6.5

intellectual property rights.
B R R RIERNHE B RANIED o

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HEERTEBRREKRERLWRER-

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

HAUE BEEERRERMLRER  UBERITRERTT A
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CUSTOMERS -
Services/Product
Excellence
LERAWME - SR
%/ BEED
SATISFYING OUR
CUSTOMERS -
Customer Satisfaction
CERWE—EFRMm
BE

SATISFYING OUR
CUSTOMERS -
Confidentiality and
Privacy
LERAWE—REBEK
FABE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RES tEREAKRS

Employment and

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement
BRRYITER A =6 it

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BHEB7 : R&ES
General Disclosure Information on: BUSINESS INTEGRITY —
—mRIE (a) the policies; and Anti-corruption
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a EXERE-K&5
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BERABILERARE ~ BIFR  HREF AR R EEAY ¢

(@) B3 5 &
(b) BTFHZBETABEATENEREE KR
& K o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices BUSINESS INTEGRITY —
8 38 4B A5 1EB7 .1 brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting Anti-corruption
period and the outcomes of the cases. HEBE-RES
RERBAHETAIEESRETLEEENE SHAEZH
B KFERER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing BUSINESS INTEGRITY -
RS AE MIE1ERT.2 procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. Anti-corruption
ML S IE R R W T U EARITRER G & BEEE-RES
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and BUSINESS INTEGRITY —
B 8 4B W15 1%EB7.3 staff. Anti-corruption
HimEE B TRENRESE BEEE-RES

SECSE5H MREREESRAT 0 339



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE tZAEARS

Employment and

Labour Practices Description Section/Statement
BRRY IR A =6 it

Community
&
Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEmB8 : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs ENGAGING THE
— R EE of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its  COMMUNITY
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests. HtE2HE

BRLUHES R T REERELERENRRALHEHE
£ B B I3 HOBUE o

KPI BS.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental ENGAGING THE
B 38 45 W5 1EB8 1 concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). COMMUNITY
EISHEE UHEE - BEFE - FIER R - Xt -2 #He2H
A) e
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.  ENGAGING THE
RA 4B M IE1%B8.2 AEIHBEMBHABER NRRER) o COMMUNITY
He2m
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RENCO HOLDINGS

Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong
BBEIEERITHE R O1EE2707TE

Tel BiE : (852) 2710 2323 E-mail BZ : info@renco.com.hk
Fax & : (852) 2323 8137 Website #4331t : www.renco.com.hk
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